## UNIVERSITY OF ROME TOR VERGATA Department of Mathematics

DOCTORAL THESIS XXX

## MEAN FIELD GAMES WITH STATE CONSTRAINTS

Author: ROSSANA CAPUANI

Supervisors: PIERMARCO CANNARSA

PIERRE CARDALIAGUET

Coordinator: ANDREA BRAIDES



A Giuseppe, Anna e Gabriella

# **CONTENTS**

A	ABSTRACT						
INTRODUCTION							
1	PR	ELIMINARIES	1				
	1.1	NOTATION	. 1				
	1.2	<b>Results from Measure Theory</b>	2				
	1.3	SEMICONCAVE FUNCTION AND GENERALIZED GRADIENTS	4				
		1.3.1 DIRECTIONAL DERIVATES	7				
		1.3.2 Limiting subgradients of $d_{\Omega}$	11				
2	NECESSARY CONDITIONS AND SENSITIVITY RELATIONS						
	2.1	APPROXIMATION OF CONSTRAINED TRAJECTORIES	15				
	2.2	Assumptions and some remarks	18				
	2.3	NECESSARY CONDITIONS AND SMOOTHNESS OF MINIMIZERS	23				
		2.3.1 Proof of Theorem 2.3.0.1 for $U = \mathbb{R}^n$	24				
		2.3.2 Proof of Theorem 2.3.0.1 for general $U$	34				
	2.4	Regularity for constrained minimization problems $\ldots \ldots$	36				
	2.5	Sensitivity relations and semiconcavity estimate $\ldots \ldots$	41				
		2.5.1 Proof of Theorem 2.5.0.1	42				
3	<b>EXISTENCE AND UNIQUENESS FOR MEAN FIELD GAMES WITH</b>						
	STATE CONSTRAINTS						
	3.1	CONSTRAINED MFG EQUILIBRIA	54				
		3.1.1 Assumptions	54				
		3.1.2 EXISTENCE OF CONSTRAINED MFG EQUILIBRIA	55				
		3.1.3 Proof of Theorem 3.1.2.4	60				

	3.2 MILD SOLUTION OF THE CONSTRAINED MFG PROBLEM	62		
4	<b>REGULARITY OF MILD SOLUTIONS</b> 4.1 ASSUMPTIONS	<b>69</b> 69		
	4.2 THE EXISTENCE RESULT	71 74		
5	MEAN FIELD GAMES SYSTEM			
	5.1 HAMILTON-JACOBY-BELLMAN EQUATION	77		
	5.2 The continuity equation	86		
B	IBLIOGRAPHY	92		

### ABSTRACT

The aim of this Thesis is to study deterministic mean field games for agents who operate in a bounded domain. In this case, the existence and uniqueness of Nash equilibria cannot be deduced as for unrestricted state space because, for a large set of initial conditions, the uniqueness of the solution to the associated minimization problem is no longer guaranteed. We attack the problem by interpreting equilibria as measures in a space of arcs. In such a relaxed environment the existence of constrained MFG equilibrium follows by set-valued fixed point arguments. Then, we give a uniqueness result for such equilibria under a classical monotonicity assumption.

At this point, it is natural to define a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem as a pair  $(u, m) \in C([0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}) \times C([0, T]; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ , where m is given by  $m(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$  for some constrained MFG equilibrium  $\eta$  and

$$u(t,x) = \inf_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma \\ \gamma(t) = x}} \left\{ \int_t^T \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m(s)) \right] ds + G(\gamma(T), m(T)) \right\}$$

Under suitable assumptions on the data, we have analyzed the regularity and sensitivity of the mild solutions. Finally, using the regularity of mild solutions and the structure of our problem, we show that (u, m) satisfies the MFG system in suitable point-wise sense.

### INTRODUCTION

Mean field games (MFG) theory has been introduced simultaneously by Lasry and Lions ([51], [52], [53]) and by Huang, Malhamé and Caines ([47], [48]) in order to study large population differential games. The main idea of such a theory is to borrow from statistical physics the general principle of a mean-field approach to describe equilibria in a system of many interacting particles. Interestingly, the concept was previously developed in economic literature—in discrete time and often in a stationary regime—under the terminology of "heterogenous agent models" [4, 16, 49, 50].

In game theory, for a system with a finite number of players, the natural notion of equilibrium is the one introduced by John Nash [54]. So, the notion of mean-field equilibrium suggested by Lasry-Lions is justified as being the limit, as  $N \to \infty$ , of the Nash equilibria for N-player games, under the assumption that players are symmetric and rational.

Since the seminal works of Lasry and Lions and of Caines, Huang and Malhamé, the subject has known a very fast growth. We refer to the notes [1, 26], the survey papers [17, 44] and the books [9, 31, 45] for a general presentation.

In deterministic settings, the equilibrium found in the mean field limit turns out to be a solution of the forward-backward system of PDEs

$$(MFG) \begin{cases} -\partial_t u + H(x, Du) = F(x, m) & \text{in } [0, T] \times \Omega, \\ \partial_t m - div(mD_p H(x, Du)) = 0 & \text{in } [0, T] \times \Omega, \\ m(0) = m_0 \quad u(x, T) = G(x, m(T)) \end{cases}$$
(I.1)

which couples a Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equation (for the value function u of the generic player) with a continuity equation (for the density m of players). Here  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  represents the domain in the state space in which agents are supposed to operate.

The well-posedness of system (I.1) was developed for special geometries of the domain  $\Omega$ , namely when  $\Omega$  equals the flat torus  $\mathbb{T}^n = \mathbb{R}^n / \mathbb{Z}^n$ , or the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (see, e.g., [26], [28], [52], [53]).

The goal of the present Thesis is to study the well-posedness of the MFG problem subject to state constraints, that is, when players are confined into a compact domain  $\overline{\Omega} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ . MFG with state constraint appear very naturally in the applications. For instance, the heterogeneous agent models always involve state constraints. In fact these constraints play even a central role in the analysis since they mainly explain the heterogeneity in the economy: see for instance Huggett's model of income and wealth distribution as discussed in [2, 3]. It is also very natural to introduce state constraints in pedestrians MFG models, although this has just been discussed so far in an informal way. Here again the constraints are important to explain the behavior of the crowd and it is largely believed that they should help to regulate the traffic: see for instance [29, 36] on related issues. Let us also note that other type of constraints can be considered for the MFG systems: for instance the density constraints were first discussed in [59] and then analyzed in [57]. Although an important issue in terms of application, MFG with state constraints have attracted little attention up to now. To the best of our knowledge, the only reference is the analysis of Huggett's model in [3].

In the absence of state constraints, the solution of (I.1) on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{T}^n$  is obtained by a fixed point argument which uses in an essential way the fact that viscosity solutions of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation

$$-\partial_t u + H(x, Du) = F(x, m)$$
 in  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{T}^n$ 

are smooth on a sufficiently large set to allow the continuity equation

$$\partial_t m - div(mD_p H(x, Du)) = 0$$
 in  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{T}^r$ 

to be solvable. Specifically, it is known that u is of class  $C_{loc}^{1,1}$  outside a closed singular set of zero Lebesgue measure and that m remains absolutely continuous with a bounded density. In this way, the coefficient  $D_pH(x, Du)$  in the continuity equation turns out to be locally Lipschitz continuous on a "sufficiently large" open set, ensuring uniqueness for the continuity equation. The presence of the state constraints destroys this structure in two different ways. First, the measure can stop being absolutely continuous after a while and may develop a singular part. This phenomenon is known in Huggett's model, where the singular part of the measure appears at the boundary of the constraints ([3]). In Huggett's model, the singular part is trapped at the boundary, but this to only a particular case and one expects in general the singular part to propagate into the interior of the constraint. This makes the interpretation of the continuity equation difficult. Second, the "almost smooth" structure of the value function described above is lost in the presence of state constraints. Indeed, the value function cannot be semiconcave in general, see [27, Example 1.1]. Because of these two phenomena, proving the existence of solutions to (1.1) requires a complete change of paradigm.

In this direction, the first step is a better understanding of optimal control problems with state constraints. There is a huge literature on the subject; we refer to the survey paper [40] for a general presentation and recent results. Two approaches can be considered. The first one consists in deriving optimality conditions for the optimal trajectories of the constrained problem (maximum principle): it yields regularity properties of the optimal trajectories. The second approach focuses on the value function and its characterization in terms of Hamilton-Jacobi equation, which will allow us ultimately to derive the MFG system for problems with state constraints. We now discuss both approaches successively.

The maximum principle under state constraints was first established by Dubovitskii and Milyutin [37] (see also the monograph [61] for different forms of maximum principle under state constraints). It may happen that the maximum principle is degenerate and does not yield much information (abnormal maximum

principle). As explained in [10, 14, 38, 39] in various contexts, the so-called "inward pointing condition" generally ensures the normality of the maximum principle under state constraints. In our setting (calculus of variation problem, without constraints on the velocity), this will never be an issue. The maximum principle under state constraints generally involves an adjoint state which is the sum of a  $W^{1,1}$  map and a map with bounded variations. This later mapping may be very irregular and have infinitely many jumps [58], which implies the discontinuity of the optimal control. However, under suitable assumptions (requiring in particular some regularity of the data and the fact that the dynamics is affine with respect to the control), it has been shown that the optimal control and the adjoint state are continuous, and even Lipschitz continuous: see the seminal work of Hager [46] (in the convex setting) and the subsequent contributions of Malanowski [56] and Galbraith and Vinter [43] (in much more general frameworks). Generalization to less smooth frameworks can also be found in [38, 11].

In a seminal paper, Soner [60] characterized the value function of optimal control problems with state constraints as the unique solution of a suitable Hamilton-Jacobi equations (constrained viscosity solutions). When the domain is backward invariant, it is also proved in [42] that the value function can also be characterized in terms of viscosity solutions involving with only equalities. As explained [19] for problems in the whole space, there is a strong relation between the value function and the maximum principle: the key idea is that the adjoint variable in the maximum principle satisfies some relations involving the superdifferential of the value function. This "sensitivity analysis" is also known for problems with state constraints: [15, 13, 12, 32, 41].

#### PRESENTATION OF THE MAIN RESULTS

First of all, we need some preliminary results that we use during this Thesis. To this aim, in CHAPTER 1 we introduce the notation and recall some know result on the Measure Theory. Moreover, in SECTION 1.3, we introduce the concept of superdifferential and subdifferential on a closed domain and we give some of their properties. We also focus our attention on the definition of directional derivatives in a boundary point (SUBSECTION 1.3.1).

In CHAPTER 2, we give useful results for the constrained minimization problem that we will use in the following chapters. More precisely, let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $\mathcal{C}^2$  boundary. Let  $\Gamma$  be the metric subspace of  $AC(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by

$$\Gamma = \left\{ \gamma \in AC(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n) : \ \gamma(t) \in \overline{\Omega}, \ \forall t \in [0,T] \right\}$$

For any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ , we set

$$\Gamma[x] = \{ \gamma \in \Gamma : \gamma(0) = x \}.$$

In SECTION 2.1, we show that any constrained trajectory  $\gamma \in \Gamma[x]$  can be approximated in suitable way (PROPOSITION 2.1.0.2). Let  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be an open set such that  $\overline{\Omega} \subset U$ . Given  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ , we consider the

constrained minimization problem

$$\inf_{\gamma \in \Gamma[x]} J[\gamma], \quad \text{where} \quad J[\gamma] = \Big\{ \int_0^T f(t, \gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) \, dt + g(\gamma(T)) \Big\}, \tag{I.2}$$

where  $f: [0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $g: U \to \mathbb{R}$ . Let  $\mathcal{X}[x]$  be the set of solutions of (2.2.0.1). We denote by  $H: [0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  the Hamiltonian

$$H(t,x,p) = \sup_{v \in \mathbb{R}^n} \Big\{ - \langle p, v \rangle - f(t,x,v) \Big\}, \qquad \forall (t,x,p) \in [0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$$

Under suitable assumptions on  $\Omega$ , f and g (SECTION 2.2), we obtain the following necessary conditions for our problem.

**THEOREM 0.0.0.1.** For any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and any  $\gamma^* \in \mathcal{X}[x]$  the following holds true.

- (i)  $\gamma^*$  is of class  $C^{1,1}([0,T];\overline{\Omega})$ .
- (ii) There exist:
  - (a) a Lipschitz continuous arc  $p: [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ ,
  - (b) a bounded measurable function  $\Lambda: [0,T] \to [0,\infty)$ ,
  - (c) a constant  $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$0 \le \nu \le \max\left\{1, 2\mu \sup_{x \in U} \left| D_p H(T, x, Dg(x)) \right|\right\},\$$

which satisfy the adjoint system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\gamma}^{\star}(t) = -D_p H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)) & \text{for all } t \in [0, T], \\ \dot{p}(t) = D_x H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)) - \Lambda(t) D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)) & \text{for a.e. } t \in [0, T], \end{cases}$$
(I.3)

and the transversality condition

$$p(T) = Dg(\gamma^{\star}(T)) + \nu Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(T))\mathbf{1}_{\partial\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(T)).$$

Moreover,

(iii) the following estimate holds

$$||\dot{\gamma}^{\star}||_{\infty} \le L^{\star}, \quad \forall \gamma^{\star} \in \mathcal{X}[x], \tag{I.4}$$

where  $L^{\star} = L^{\star}(\mu, M', M, \kappa, T, ||Dg||_{\infty}, ||g||_{\infty});$ 

(iv) for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $\Lambda(t)$  is given by

$$\Lambda(t) = \frac{1}{\theta(t)} \left[ -\left\langle D^2 b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)) D_p H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)), D_p H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)) \right\rangle \right]$$

$$\begin{split} -\left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pt}^{2}H\big(t,\gamma^{\star}(t),p(t)\big)\right\rangle - \\ \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{px}^{2}H\big(t,\gamma^{\star}(t),p(t)\big)D_{p}H\big(t,\gamma^{\star}(t),p(t)\big)\right\rangle \\ + \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pp}^{2}H\big(t,\gamma^{\star}(t),p(t)\big)D_{x}H\big(t,\gamma^{\star}(t),p(t)\big)\right\rangle \Big]\mathbf{1}_{\partial\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), \end{split}$$
where  $\theta(t) := \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pp}^{2}H(t,\gamma^{\star}(t),p(t))Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t))\rangle.$ 

Note that **THEOREM 0.0.0.1** also holds if we consider trajectories starting at  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  at time  $t \in [0, T]$ . It suffices to replace  $J[\gamma]$  with  $J_t[\gamma]$  (with obvious notation) and then, accordingly, the set  $\mathcal{X}_t[x]$ . Let us recall that the existence of relatively smooth optimal trajectories is not new and goes back to Hager [46]. Beside a new technique of proof, the improvement with respect to the previous literature on the subject (in particular [43]) is the explicit representation of the derivative of the adjoint p. This representation will allow us later to obtain explicit Lipschitz bounds for  $\dot{\gamma}$ , which is necessary to show the existence of a Lipschitz continuous mild solution to the MFG problem with state constraints.

In SECTION 2.5, under suitable assumptions on f and using THEOREM 0.0.0.1 we deduce the sensitivity relations for the value function associated to (I.2).

**THEOREM 0.0.2.** For any  $\varepsilon \ge 0$  there exists a constant  $c_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$  such that for any  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \overline{\Omega}$ and for any  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$ , denoting by  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T, \mathbb{R}^n)$  a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ , one has that

 $u(t+\sigma, x+h) - u(t,x) \le \sigma H(t,x,p(t)) + \langle p(t),h \rangle + c_{\varepsilon}(|h|+|\sigma|)^{\frac{3}{2}} \quad \forall (t,x) \in [0,T-\epsilon] \times \overline{\Omega},$ 

for all  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  small enough such that  $x + h \in \overline{\Omega}$ , and for all  $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $0 \le t + \sigma \le T - \varepsilon$ .

A direct consequence of THEOREM 0.0.0.2 is the local semiconcavity of the value function associated to (I.2) in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$  (COROLLARY 2.5.0.3). Let us point out that this semiconcavity is unexpected, since it was known so far that the value function is *not* semiconcave with linear modulus in general [27].

In CHAPTER 3, we are ready to start to analyze MFG problem with state constraints. Following the Lagrangian formulation of the unconstrained MFG problem proposed in [8], we define a "relaxed" notion of equilibria and solutions. Such a formulation consists of replacing probability measures on  $\overline{\Omega}$  with measures on arcs in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . More precisely, on the metric space  $\Gamma$  with the uniform metric, for any  $t \in [0, T]$  we consider the evaluation map  $e_t : \Gamma \to \overline{\Omega}$  defined by

$$e_t(\gamma) = \gamma(t) \qquad (\gamma \in \Gamma).$$

Given any probability measure  $m_0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , we denote by  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  the set of all Borel probability measures  $\eta$  on  $\Gamma$  such that  $e_0 \sharp \eta = m_0$  and we consider, for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ , the functional

$$J_{\eta}[\gamma] = \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) + F(\gamma(t), e_t \sharp \eta) \right] dt + G(\gamma(T), e_T \sharp \eta) \qquad (\gamma \in \Gamma).$$
(I.5)

Then, we call a measure  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  a *constrained MFG equilibrium* for  $m_0$  if  $\eta$  is supported on the set of all curves  $\overline{\gamma} \in \Gamma$  such that

$$J_{\eta}[\overline{\gamma}] \le J_{\eta}[\gamma] \ \forall \gamma \in \Gamma, \ \gamma(0) = \overline{\gamma}(0).$$

In THEOREM 3.1.2.4, we prove the existence of constrained MFG equilibria for  $m_0$  by applying the Kakutani fixed point theorem [55]. At this point, in SECTION 3.2, we give the definition of *mild solutions* of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  as a pair  $(u, m) \in C([0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}) \times C([0, T]; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ , where m is given by  $m(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$  for some constrained MFG equilibrium  $\eta$  for  $m_0$  and

$$u(t,x) = \inf_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma\\\gamma(t) = x}} \Big\{ \int_t^T \Big[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m(s)) \Big] \, ds + G(\gamma(T), m(T)) \Big\}.$$

In this way, the existence of mild solutions of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  (COROLLARY 3.2.0.2) becomes an easy corollary of the existence of equilibria for  $m_0$  (THEOREM 3.1.2.4), whereas the uniqueness issue for such a problem remains a more challenging question. As observed by Lasry and Lions, in absence of state constraints uniqueness can be addressed by imposing suitable monotonicity assumptions on the data. We show that the same general strategy can be adopted even for constrained problems (THE-OREM 3.2.0.4). However, we have to interpret the Lasry-Lions method differently because, as recalled above, solutions are highly nonsmooth in our case.

In CHAPTER 4, we apply our necessary conditions given in CHAPTER 2 to deduce the existence of more regular equilibria than those constructed in CHAPTER 3, assuming the data F and G to be Lipschitz continuous. More precisely, applying THEOREM 0.0.0.1, we show that the minimizers of  $J_{\eta}$  belong to  $C^{1,1}([0,T],\overline{\Omega})$  and

$$||\dot{\gamma}||_{\infty} \le L_0, \quad \forall \gamma \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x], \tag{I.6}$$

where  $L_0 = L_0(\mu, M', M, \kappa, T, ||DG||_{\infty}, ||g||_{\infty})$  depends only on the data. At this point, denoted by  $\Gamma_{L_0}$  the set of all  $\gamma$  of  $\Gamma$  such that (I.6) holds, we define by  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  the set of  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  such that  $m(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$  is Lipschitz continuous. Arguing as in SUBSECTION 3.1.2 we show that there exists at least one constrained MFG equilibrium  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  (THEOREM 4.2.0.5). The main consequence of THEOREM 4.2.0.5 is the existence of Lipschitz mild solutions under the assumptions in SECTION 4.1.

**THEOREM 0.0.0.3.** There exists at least one mild solution (u, m) of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover,

- (i) *u* is Lipschitz continuous in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ ;
- (ii)  $m \in \text{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$  and  $\text{Lip}(m) = L_0$ , where  $L_0$  is the constant in (I.6).

Owing to state constraints, it is not possible to have local semiconcavity with linear modulus in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ . Remarkably, applying THEOREM 0.0.0.2, we deduce a local semiconcavity with modulus  $\omega(r) = Cr^{\frac{1}{2}}$  for u in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

In CHAPTER 5, we prove that mild solutions satisfy MFG system in suitable point-wise sense. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . By the regularity of u, proved in CHAPTER 4, we deduce that u is a constrained viscosity solutions of

$$-\partial_t u(t,x) + H(x, Du(t,x)) = F(x, m(t)) \quad \text{in } (0,T) \times \Omega, \tag{I.7}$$

that is

$$- p_1 + H(x, p_2) \le F(x, m(t)) \quad \forall (t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega, \ \forall (p_1, p_2) \in D^+ u(t, x)$$
  
 
$$- p_1 + H(x, p_2) \ge F(x, m(t)) \quad \forall (t, x) \in (0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}, \ \forall (p_1, p_2) \in D^- u(t, x).$$

Thanks to the structure of mild solutions we can prove more. For simplicity, we set

$$Q_m = \{(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega : x \in supp(m(t))\}, \quad \partial Q_m = \{(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \partial \Omega : x \in supp(m(t))\}.$$

where supp(m(t)) is the support of the measure m(t). It is easly to prove that for any  $(t, x) \in Q_m u$  is differentiable at (t, x) (PROPOSITION 5.1.0.6). While, for any  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$  we give the following full description of  $D^+u(t, x)$ .

**PROPOSITION 0.0.0.4.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ . The following holds true.

(a) The partial derivative of u with respect to t, denoted by  $\partial_t u(t, x)$ , does exist and

$$D^+u(t,x) = \{\partial_t u(t,x)\} \times D^+_x u(t,x).$$

(b) All  $p \in D_x^+ u(t, x)$  have the same tangential component, which will be denoted by  $p^{\tau}(t, x)$ , that is,

$$\left\{p^{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : p \in D_{x}^{+}u(t,x)\right\} = \left\{p^{\tau}(t,x)\right\}.$$
(I.8)

(c) For all  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $|\theta| = 1$  and  $\langle \theta, \nu(x) \rangle = 0$  one has that

$$\partial_{\theta}^{+}u(t,x) = \langle p^{\tau}(t,x), \theta \rangle.$$
(I.9)

Moreover,

$$\partial_{-\nu}^{+} u(t,x) = -\lambda_{+}(t,x) := -\max\{\lambda_{p}(t,x) : p \in D_{x}^{+} u(t,x)\},$$
(I.10)

where

$$\lambda_p(t,x) = \max\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : p^\tau + \lambda\nu(x) \in D_x^+ u(t,x)\}, \ \forall p \in D_x^+ u(t,x).$$
(I.11)

(d) 
$$D_x^+u(t,x) = \{p \in \mathbb{R}^n : p = p^\tau(t,x) + \lambda\nu(x), \ \lambda \in (-\infty,\lambda_+(t,x)]\}$$

By the regularity of u and **PROPOSITION 0.0.0.4** we deduce the following result.

**THEOREM 0.0.0.5.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . The following holds true.

(i) Let  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega$ . Then, one has that

$$\lim_{\substack{(s,y) \in (0,T) \times \Omega\\(s,y) \to (t,x)}} D^+ u(s,y) \subset D^+ u(t,x).$$
(I.12)

In particular, for all  $(t, x) \in Q_m$  we have that

$$\lim_{\substack{(s,y) \in (0,T) \times \Omega \\ (s,y) \to (t,x)}} D^+ u(s,y) = \left\{ \left( \partial_t u(t,x), D_x u(t,x) \right) \right\}.$$
 (I.13)

(ii) Let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ . Then,

$$\lim_{\substack{(s,y) \in Q_m \\ (s,y) \to (t,x)}} D^+ u(s,y) = \left\{ \left( \partial_t u(t,x), \ p^\tau(t,x) + \lambda_+(t,x)\nu(x) \right) \right\},$$
(I.14)

where  $p^{\tau}(t, x)$  and  $\lambda_{+}(t, x)$  are given in (I.8) and (I.10), respectively.

Therefore, any mild solutions (u, m) of constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  solve a mean field games system. More precisely, the following holds true.

(a) u is a constrained viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t u + H(x, Du) = F(x, m(t)) & \text{in } (0, T) \times \overline{\Omega} \\ u(x, T) = G(x, m(T)) & \text{in } \overline{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, u is solution in point-wise sense of

$$-\partial_t u + H(x, Du) = F(x, m(t)) \quad \text{in } Q_m,$$

and

$$-\partial_t u + H^\tau(x, p^\tau(t, x)) = F(x, m(t)) \quad \text{in } \partial Q_m$$

where

$$H^{\tau}(x,p) = \sup_{\substack{v \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \langle v, \nu(x) \rangle = 0}} \{-\langle p, v \rangle - L(x,v)\}.$$

(b) There exists  $V : [0,T] \times \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^n$  Borel measurable vector field such that m is a solution in the sense of distributions of the continuity equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t m + div(V m) = 0, & \text{ in } (0, T) \times \overline{\Omega} \\ m(0, x) = m_0(x) & \text{ in } \overline{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, V is continuous on  $Q_m$  and

$$V(t,x) = \begin{cases} -D_p H(x, Du(t,x)) & \text{if } (t,x) \in Q_m, \\ -D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda_+(t,x)\nu(x)) & \text{if } (t,x) \in \partial Q_m. \end{cases}$$
(I.15)

CHAPTER 3 are contained in an work joint with Piermarco Cannarsa [20], while CHAPTER 2, CHAPTER 4 and CHAPTER 5 are contained in two works joint with Piermarco Cannarsa and Pierre Cardaliaguet [21] and [22].

## CHAPTER 1

## PRELIMINARIES

<b>1.1 NOTATION</b>	1		
1.2 Results from Measure Theory	2		
1.3 SEMICONCAVE FUNCTION AND GENERALIZED GRADIENTS			
1.3.1 DIRECTIONAL DERIVATES	7		
1.3.2 Limiting subgradients of $d_\Omega$	11		

#### 1.1 NOTATION

We denote by  $|\cdot|, \langle \cdot \rangle$ , respectively, the Euclidean norm and scalar product in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We denote by  $B_R$  the ball of radius R > 0 and center 0. Let  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be a matrix. We denote by  $||\cdot||$  the norm of A defined as follows

$$||A|| = \max_{||x||=1} ||Ax|| \quad (x \in \mathbb{R}^n).$$

For any subset  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\overline{S}$  stands for its closure,  $\partial S$  for its boundary and  $S^c = \mathbb{R}^n \setminus S$  for the complement of S. We denote by  $\mathbf{1}_S : \mathbb{R}^n \to \{0, 1\}$  the characteristic function of S, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{1}_S(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \in S, \\ 0 & x \in S^c. \end{cases}$$

We write  $\operatorname{Lip}(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  for the space of all Lischitz continuous  $\mathbb{R}^n$ -valued functions on [0, T]. We write  $AC(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  for the space of all absolutely continuous  $\mathbb{R}^n$ -valued functions on [0, T], equipped with the uniform norm  $||\gamma||_{\infty} = \sup_{[0,T]} |\gamma(t)|$ . We observe that  $AC(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  is not a Banach space. For any measurable function  $f : [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ , we set

$$||f||_2 = \left(\int_0^T |f|^2 dt\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Let U be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . C(U) is the space of all continuous functions on U and  $C_b(U)$  is the space of all bounded continuous functions on U.  $C^k(U)$  is the space of all functions  $\phi : U \to \mathbb{R}$ that are k-times continuously differentiable. Let  $\phi \in C^1(U)$ . The gradient vector of  $\phi$  is denoted by  $D\phi = (D_{x_1}\phi, \cdots, D_{x_n}\phi)$ , where  $D_{x_i}\phi = \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_i}$ . Let  $\phi \in C^k(U)$  and let  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$  be a multiindex. We define  $D^{\alpha}\phi = D_{x_1}^{\alpha_1} \cdots D_{x_n}^{\alpha_n}\phi$ .  $C_b^k(U)$  is the space of all function  $\phi \in C^k(U)$  and such that

$$\|\phi\|_{k,\infty} := \sup_{\substack{x \in U \\ |\alpha| \le k}} |D^{\alpha}\phi(x)| < \infty$$

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary.  $C^{1,1}(\overline{\Omega})$  is the space of all the functions  $C^1$  in a neighborhood U of  $\Omega$  and with locally Lipschitz continuous first order derivates.

The distance function from  $\overline{\Omega}$  is the function  $d_{\Omega} : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, +\infty[$  defined by

$$d_{\Omega}(x) := \inf_{y \in \overline{\Omega}} |x - y| \quad (x \in \mathbb{R}^n).$$

We define the oriented boundary distance from  $\partial \Omega$  by

$$b_{\Omega}(x) = d_{\Omega}(x) - d_{\Omega^c}(x) \quad (x \in \mathbb{R}^n).$$

$$(1.1.0.1)$$

We recall that, since the boundary of  $\Omega$  is of class  $C^2$ , there exists  $\rho_0 > 0$  such that

$$b_{\Omega}(\cdot) \in C_b^2 \text{ on } \partial\Omega + B_{\rho_0} = \left\{ y \in B(x, \rho_0) : x \in \partial\Omega \right\}.$$
 (1.1.0.2)

Throughout the thesis, we suppose that  $\rho_0$  is fixed so that (1.1.0.2) holds.

#### **1.2 RESULTS FROM MEASURE THEORY**

In this section we introduce, without proof, some basic tools needed in the thesis (see, e.g., [6]). Let X be a separable metric space.  $C_b(X)$  is the space of all bounded continuous functions on X. We denote by  $\mathcal{B}(X)$  the family of the Borel subset of X and by  $\mathcal{P}(X)$  the family of all Borel probability measures on X. The support of  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(X)$ ,  $supp(\eta)$ , is the closed set defined by

$$supp(\eta) := \left\{ x \in X : \eta(V) > 0 \text{ for each neighborhood V of } x \right\}.$$
(1.2.0.1)

We say that a sequence  $(\eta_i) \subset \mathcal{P}(X)$  is narrowly convergent to  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(X)$  if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_X f(x) \, d\eta_i(x) = \int_X f(x) \, d\eta(x) \quad \forall f \in C_b^0(X),$$

where  $C_b^0(X)$  is the set of all bounded continuous functions on X.

We recall an interesting link between narrow convergence of probability measures and Kuratowski convergence of their supports. **PROPOSITION 1.2.0.1.** If  $(\eta_i) \subset \mathcal{P}(X)$  is a sequence narrowly converging to  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(X)$  then  $supp(\eta) \subset K - \liminf_{n \to \infty} supp(\eta_i)$ , i.e.

$$\forall x \in supp(\eta) \exists x_i \in supp(\eta_i) : \lim_{n \to \infty} x_i = x.$$

The following theorem is a useful characterization of relatively compact sets with respect to narrow topology.

**THEOREM 1.2.0.2.** (Prokhorov's Theorem ) If a set  $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathcal{P}(X)$  is tight, i.e.

$$\forall \epsilon > 0 \exists K_{\epsilon} \text{ compact in } X \text{ such that } \widehat{\eta}(K_{\epsilon}) \geq 1 - \epsilon \ \forall \widehat{\eta} \in \mathcal{K},$$

then  $\mathcal{K}$  is relatively compact in  $\mathcal{P}(X)$  with respect to narrow topology. Conversely, if X is a separable complete metric space then every relatively compact subset of  $\mathcal{P}(X)$  is tight.

Let X be a separable metric space. We recall that X is a Radon space if every Borel probability measure  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(X)$  satisfies

 $\forall B \in \mathcal{B}(X), \forall \epsilon > 0, \exists K_{\epsilon} \text{ compact with } K_{\epsilon} \Subset B \text{ such that } \eta(B \setminus K_{\epsilon}) \leq \epsilon.$ 

Let us denote by d the distance on X and, for  $p \in [1, +\infty)$ , by  $\mathcal{P}_p(X)$  the set of probability measures m on X such that

$$\int_X d^p(x_0, x) \, dm(x) < +\infty, \quad \forall x_0 \in X.$$

The Monge-Kantorowich distance on  $\mathcal{P}_p(X)$  is given by

$$d_p(m,m') = \inf_{\eta \in \Pi(m,m')} \left[ \int_{X^2} d(x,y)^p \, d\eta(x,y) \right]^{1/p},\tag{1.2.0.2}$$

where  $\Pi(m, m')$  is the set of Borel probability measures on  $X \times X$  such that  $\eta(A \times \mathbb{R}^n) = m(A)$  and  $\eta(\mathbb{R}^n \times A) = m'(A)$  for any Borel set  $A \subset X$ . In the particular case when p = 1, the distance  $d_p$  takes the name of Kantorovich-Rubinstein distance and the following formula holds

$$d_1(m,m') = \sup\Big\{\int_X f(x)\,dm(x) - \int_X f(x)\,dm'(x) \mid f: X \to \mathbb{R} \text{ is 1-Lipschitz}\Big\},\qquad(1.2.0.3)$$

for all  $m, m' \in \mathcal{P}_1(X)$ .

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. We write  $\operatorname{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$  for the space of all maps  $m : [0, T] \to \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  that are Lipschitz continuous with respect to  $d_1$ , i.e.,

$$d_1(m(t), m(s)) \le C|t - s|, \quad \forall t, s \in [0, T],$$
(1.2.0.4)

for some constant  $C \ge 0$ . We denote by  $\operatorname{Lip}(m)$  the smallest constant that verifies (1.2.0.4). In the next result, we recall the relationship between the weak-\* convergence of measures and convergence with respect to  $d_p$ . **PROPOSITION 1.2.0.3.** If a sequence of measures  $\{\eta_i\}_{n\geq 1} \subset \mathcal{P}_p(X)$  converges to  $\eta$  for  $d_p$ , then  $\{\eta_i\}_{n\geq 1}$  weakly converges to  $\eta$ . "Conversely", if  $\eta_i$  is concentrated on a fixed compact subset of X for all  $n \geq 1$  and  $\{\eta_i\}_{n\geq 1}$  weakly converges to  $\eta$ , then the  $\{\eta_i\}_{n\geq 1}$  converges to  $\eta$  in  $d_p$ .

Given separable metric spaces  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  and a Borel map  $f : X_1 \to X_2$ , we recall that the push-forward of a measure  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(X_1)$  through f is defined by

$$f \sharp \eta(B) := \eta(f^{-1}(B)) \quad \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(X_2).$$
 (1.2.0.5)

The push-forward is characterized by the fact that

$$\int_{X_1} g(f(x)) \, d\eta(x) = \int_{X_2} g(y) \, df \, \sharp \eta(y) \tag{1.2.0.6}$$

for every Borel function  $g: X_2 \to \mathbb{R}$ .

We conclude this preliminary session by recalling the disintegration theorem.

**THEOREM 1.2.0.4.** Let X, Y be Radon separable metric spaces,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(X)$ , let  $\pi : X \to Y$  be a Borel map and let  $\eta = \pi \sharp \mu \in \mathcal{P}(Y)$ . Then there exists an  $\eta$ -a.e. uniquely determined Borel measurable family<sup>1</sup> of probabilities  $\{\mu_y\}_{y \in Y} \subset \mathcal{P}(X)$  such that

$$\mu_y(X \setminus \pi^{-1}(y)) = 0 \text{ for } \eta \text{-a.e. } y \in Y$$
 (1.2.0.7)

and

$$\int_{X} f(x) d\mu(x) = \int_{Y} \left( \int_{\pi^{-1}(y)} f(x) d\mu_{y}(x) \right) d\eta(y)$$
(1.2.0.8)

for every Borel map  $f: X \to [0, +\infty]$ .

## 1.3 SEMICONCAVE FUNCTION AND GENERALIZED GRADIENTS

**DEFINITION 1.3.0.1.** We say that  $\omega : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  is a modulus if it is a nondecreasing upper semicontinuous function such that  $\lim_{r \to 0^+} \omega(r) = 0$ .

**DEFINITION 1.3.0.2.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let  $\omega : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  be a modulus. We say that a function  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$  is semiconcave with modulus  $\omega$  if

$$\lambda u(x) + (1-\lambda)u(y) - u(\lambda x + (1-\lambda)y) \le \lambda(1-\lambda)|x-y|\omega(|x-y|)$$
(1.3.0.1)

for any pair  $x, y \in \overline{\Omega}$ , such that the segment [x, y] is contained in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and for any  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ . We call  $\omega$  a modulus of semiconcavity for u in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We say that  $\{\mu_y\}_{y\in Y}$  is a Borel family (of probability measures) if  $y \in Y \mapsto \eta_y(B) \in \mathbb{R}$  is Borel for any Borel set  $B \subset X$ .

A function u is called semiconvex in  $\overline{\Omega}$  if -u is semiconcave.

When the right-side of (1.3.0.1) is replaced by a term of form  $C|x - y|^2$  we say that u is semiconcave with linear modulus.

For any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ , the sets

$$D^{-}u(x) = \left\{ p \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \liminf_{\substack{y \to x \\ y \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(y) - u(x) - \langle p, y - x \rangle}{|y - x|} \ge 0 \right\}$$
(1.3.0.2)

$$D^{+}u(x) = \left\{ p \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \limsup_{\substack{y \to x \\ y \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(y) - u(x) - \langle p, y - x \rangle}{|y - x|} \le 0 \right\}$$
(1.3.0.3)

are called, respectively, the (Fréchet) subdifferential and superdifferential of u at x.

We note that if  $x \in \Omega$  then,  $D^+u(x)$ ,  $D^-u(x)$  are both nonempty if and only if u is differentiable in x. In this case we have that

$$D^+u(x) = D^-u(x) = \{Du(x)\}.$$

**PROPOSITION 1.3.0.3.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let u be a real-valued function defined on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. If  $p \in D^+u(x), \lambda \leq 0$  then,  $p + \lambda \nu(x)$  belongs to  $D^+u(x)$  for all  $\lambda \leq 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. Let  $p \in D^+u(x)$ . Let us take  $\lambda \leq 0$  and  $y \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Since  $p \in D^+u(x)$  and  $\lambda \leq 0$ , one has that

$$u(y) - u(x) - \langle p + \lambda \nu(x), y - x \rangle = u(y) - u(x) - \langle p, y - x \rangle - \lambda \langle \nu(x), y - x \rangle \le o(|y - x|).$$

Hence,  $p + \lambda \nu(x)$  belongs to  $D^+u(x)$ .

 $D^+u(x)$ ,  $D^-u(x)$  can be described in terms of test functions as shown in the next lemma.

**PROPOSITION 1.3.0.4.** Let  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Then the following properties are equivalent:

- (a)  $p \in D^+u(x)$  (resp.  $p \in D^-u(x)$ );
- (b)  $p = D\phi(x)$  for some function  $\phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  touching u from above (resp. below);
- (c)  $p = D\phi(x)$  for some function  $\phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $f \phi$  attains a local maximum (resp. minimum) at x.

In the proof of **PROPOSITION 1.3.0.4** it is possible to follow the same method of [24, Proposition 3.1.7]. Before giving the proof, let us prove a technical lemma.

**LEMMA 1.3.0.5.** Let  $\omega : (0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$  be an upper semicontinuous function such that  $\lim_{r\to 0} \omega(r) = 0$ . Then there exists a continuous nondecreasing function  $\omega_1 : [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$  such that

PRELIMINARIES

- (i)  $\omega_1(r) \to 0$  as  $r \to 0$ ,
- (ii)  $\omega(r) \leq \omega_1(r)$  for any  $r \geq 0$ ,

(iii) the function  $\xi(r) := r\omega_1(r)$  is in  $C^1([0, +\infty))$  and satisfies  $\dot{\xi}(0) = 0$ .

Proof. Let us first set

$$\overline{\omega}(r) = \max_{\rho \in (0,r]} \omega(\rho).$$

Then  $\overline{\omega}$  is nondecreasing, not smaller than  $\omega$  and tends to 0 as  $r \to 0$ . Next we define for r > 0

$$\omega_0(r) = \frac{1}{r} \int_r^{2r} \overline{\omega}(\rho) \, d\rho, \quad \omega_1(r) = \frac{1}{r} \int_r^{2r} \omega_0(\rho) \, d\rho,$$

and so we set  $\omega_1(0) = 0$ . We first observe that, since  $\overline{\omega}$  is nondecreasing, the same holds for  $\omega_0$  and  $\omega_1$ . Then we have that  $\omega(r) \leq \omega(r_0) \leq \overline{\omega}(2r)$ , and so  $\omega_0(r) \to 0$  as  $r \to 0$ . Arguing in the same way with  $\omega_1$  we deduce that properties (i) and (ii) hold. To prove (iii), let us set  $\xi(r) = r\omega_1(r)$ . Then  $\xi \in C^1((0 + \infty))$  with derivate  $\dot{\xi}(r) = 2\omega_0(2r) - \omega_0(r)$ . Thus  $\dot{\xi}(r) \to 0$  as  $r \to 0$  and so  $\xi$  in  $C^1$  in the closed half-line  $[0, +\infty)$ .

*Proof of* **PROPOSITION 1.3.0.4**. The implications  $(b) \implies (c)$  and  $(c) \implies (a)$  are obvious; so it is enough to prove that (a) implies (b). Given  $p \in D^+u(x)$ , let us define, for r > 0,

$$\omega(r) = \max_{\substack{y \in \overline{\Omega} \\ y : |y-x| \le r}} \left[ \frac{u(y) - u(x) - \langle p, y - x \rangle}{|y-x|} \right]_+,$$
(1.3.0.4)

where  $[\cdot]_+$  denotes the positive part. The function  $\omega$  is continuous and tends to 0 as  $r \to 0$ , by the definition of  $D^+u$ . Let  $\omega_1$  be the function given by the previous lemma. Then, setting

$$\phi(y) = u(x) + \langle p, y - x \rangle + |y - x|\omega_1(|y - x|),$$

we have that  $\phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and touches u from above at x.

**PROPOSITION 1.3.0.6.** Let  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a semiconcave with modulus  $\omega$  and let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Then, a vector  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$  belongs to  $D^+u(x)$  if and only if

$$u(y) - u(x) - \langle p, y - x \rangle \le |y - x|\omega(|y - x|)$$
(1.3.0.5)

for any point  $y \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that  $[y, x] \subset \overline{\Omega}$ .

*Proof.* If  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$  satisfies (1.3.0.5), then, by the definition of superdifferential,  $p \in D^+u(x)$ . In order to prove the converse, let  $p \in D^+u(x)$ . Then, dividing the semiconcavity inequality (1.3.0.1) by  $(1-\lambda)|y-x|$ , we have that

$$\frac{u(y) - u(x)}{|y - x|} \le \frac{u(x + (1 - \lambda)(y - x)) - u(x)}{(1 - \lambda)|y - x|} + \lambda \omega(|x - y|), \ \forall \lambda \in [0, 1].$$

Hence, taking the limit as  $\lambda \to 1^-$ , we obtain that

$$\frac{u(y) - u(x)}{|y - x|} \le \frac{\langle p, y - x \rangle}{|y - x|} + \omega(|y - x|),$$

since  $p \in D^+u(x)$ . This completes the proof.

A direct consequence of **PROPOSITION 1.3.0.6** is the following result.

**PROPOSITION 1.3.0.7.** Let  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a semiconcave function with modulus  $\omega$  and let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\{x_k\} \subset \overline{\Omega}$  be a sequence converging to x and let  $p_k \in D^+u(x_k)$ . If  $p_k$  converges to a vector  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , then  $p \in D^+u(x)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and let  $\{x_k\} \subset \overline{\Omega}$  be such that  $x_k \to x$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . Let  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $p_k \in D^+u(x_k)$  be such that  $p_k \to p$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . By PROPOSITION 1.3.0.6 we have that

$$|u(y) - u(x_k) - \langle p_k, y - x_k \rangle \le |y - x_k| \omega(|y - x_k|)$$

for all  $y \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that  $[y, x_k] \subset \overline{\Omega}$ . Taking the limit as  $k \to +\infty$ , and using the upper semicontinuity of  $\omega$  one has that p satisfies (1.3.0.5). This completes the proof.

**REMARK 1.3.0.8.** If the function u depends on  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ , for some T > 0, it is natural to consider the generalized partial differentials with respect to x as follows

$$D_x^+ u(t,x) := \left\{ \eta \in \mathbb{R}^n : \limsup_{h \to 0} \frac{u(t,x+h) - u(t,x) - \langle \eta, h \rangle}{h} \le 0 \right\}.$$

#### 1.3.1 DIRECTIONAL DERIVATES

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let us first recall the definition of contingent cone.

**DEFINITION 1.3.1.1.** Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  be given. The contingent cone (or Bouligand's tangent cone) to  $\Omega$  at x is the set

$$T_{\overline{\Omega}}(x) = \Big\{ \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{x_i - x}{t_i} : x_i \in \Omega, x_i \to x, \ t_i \in \mathbb{R}_+, \ t_i \downarrow 0 \Big\}.$$

**REMARK 1.3.1.2.** Since  $\Omega$  is a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary, then

if 
$$x \in \Omega \Rightarrow T_{\overline{\Omega}}(x) = \mathbb{R}^n$$
,  
if  $x \in \partial\Omega \Rightarrow T_{\overline{\Omega}}(x) = \left\{ \theta \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle \theta, \nu(x) \rangle \le 0 \right\}$ ,

where  $\nu(x)$  is the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  in x.

**DEFINITION 1.3.1.3.** Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $\theta \in T_{\overline{\Omega}}(x)$ . The upper and lower Dini derivates of u at x in direction  $\theta$  are defined as

$$\partial^{\uparrow} u(x;\theta) = \limsup_{\substack{h \to 0^+ \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x + h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x + h\theta') - u(x)}{h}$$
(1.3.1.1)

and

$$\partial^{\downarrow} u(x;\theta) = \liminf_{\substack{h \to 0^+ \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x + h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x + h\theta') - u(x)}{h}, \qquad (1.3.1.2)$$

respectively.

The one-sided derivative of u at x in direction  $\theta$  is defined as

$$\partial_{\theta}^{+}u(x) = \lim_{\substack{h \to 0^{+} \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x + h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x + h\theta') - u(x)}{h}$$
(1.3.1.3)

Let  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. In the next result, we show that any semiconcave function admits one-sided derivative in all  $\theta$  such that  $\langle \theta, \nu(x) \rangle \leq 0$ .

**LEMMA 1.3.1.4.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded open set with  $C^2$  boundary. Let  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$  be Lipschitz continuous and semiconcave with modulus  $\omega$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. Then, for any  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $\langle \theta, \nu(x) \rangle \leq 0$  one has that

$$\partial^{\uparrow} u(x;\theta) = \min_{p \in D^{+} u(x)} \langle p, \theta \rangle = \partial^{\downarrow} u(x;\theta).$$
(1.3.1.4)

*Proof.* The idea of the proof is based on [25, Theorem 4.5]. Let  $x \in \partial\Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  in x. Let  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $\langle \theta, \nu(x) \rangle \leq 0$ . Let us set

$$M(\theta, x) = \min_{p \in D^+u(x)} \langle p, \theta \rangle.$$

It suffices to prove that

$$\limsup_{\substack{h \to 0^+ \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x + h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x + h\theta') - u(x)}{h} \le M(\theta, x) \le \liminf_{\substack{h \to 0^+ \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x + h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x + h\theta') - u(x)}{h}.$$
 (1.3.1.5)

The first inequality in (1.3.1.5) is straightforward. Indeed,

$$\limsup_{\substack{h \to 0^+ \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x + h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x + h\theta') - u(x) - \langle hp, \theta' \rangle}{h} \le \limsup_{\zeta \to 0^+} \frac{u(x + \zeta) - u(x) - \langle p, \zeta \rangle}{|\zeta|} \le 0$$

for any  $p \in D^+u(x)$ . So,

$$\limsup_{\substack{h \to 0^+ \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x + h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x + h\theta) - u(x)}{h} \le \langle p, \theta \rangle, \quad \forall \ p \in D^+ u(x).$$

In order to prove the last inequality in (1.3.1.5), pick up a sequence  $h_k \to 0$  and  $\theta_k \to \theta$  such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{u(x+h_k\theta_k) - u(x)}{h_k} = \liminf_{\substack{h \to 0^+ \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x+h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x+h\theta') - u(x)}{h}$$
(1.3.1.6)

and define

$$\mathcal{Q}(x,\theta_k) = \left\{ x' \in \Omega : \langle x' - x, \theta_k \rangle > 0, |\langle x' - x, \theta_k \rangle \theta_k - (x' - x)| \le |x' - x|^2 \right\}.$$

We observe that the interior of  $Q(x, \theta_k)$  is nonempty. Since u is Lipschitz there exists a sequence  $x_k$  such that

- (i)  $x_k \in \mathcal{Q}(x, \theta_k), x_k \to x \text{ as } k \to \infty;$
- (ii) u is differentiable at  $x_k$  and there exists  $\overline{p} \in D^+u(x)$  such that  $\nabla u(x_k) \to \overline{p}$  as  $k \to \infty$ ;

(iii) 
$$|s_k - h_k| \le h_k^2$$
, where  $s_k = \langle x_k - x, \theta_k \rangle$ .

By the Lipschitz continuity of u, we note that (iii) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\frac{u(x+h_k\theta_k)-u(x)}{h_k} - \frac{u(x+s_k\theta_k)-u(x)}{s_k}\right| &\leq \frac{|u(x+h_k\theta_k)-u(x+s_k\theta_k)|}{h_k} \\ &+ \left|\frac{1}{h_k} - \frac{1}{s_k}\right| \left[|u(x+s_k\theta_k)-u(x)|\right] \leq 2\mathrm{Lip}(u)h_k. \end{aligned}$$

So, by (1.3.1.6) we have that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{u(x+s_k\theta_k) - u(x)}{s_k} = \liminf_{\substack{h \to 0^+ \\ \theta' \to \theta \\ x+h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x+h\theta') - u(x)}{h}.$$
 (1.3.1.7)

Moreover,

$$u(x + s_k\theta_k) - u(x) = [u(x + s_k\theta_k) - u(x_k)] + [u(x_k) - u(x) - \langle \nabla u(x_k), x_k - x \rangle] + \langle \nabla u(x_k), x_k - x - s_k\theta_k \rangle + \langle s_k \nabla u(x_k), \theta_k \rangle.$$

Since u is locally Lipschitz function, and  $x_k \in \mathcal{Q}(x, \theta_k)$  one has that

$$\left|u(x+s_k\theta_k)-u(x_k)\right|+\left|\langle\nabla u(x_k),x_k-x-s_k\theta_k\rangle\right|\leq 2\mathrm{Lip}(u)\left|x_k-x-s_k\theta_k\right|$$

$$\leq 2\mathrm{Lip}(u)|x_k - x|^2.$$

Since u is semiconcave we deduce that

$$u(x_k) - u(x) - \langle \nabla u(x_k), x_k - x \rangle \ge -C|x_k - x|\omega(|x_k - x|),$$

for some constant C > 0. Therefore

$$\frac{u(x+s_k\theta_k)-u(x)}{s_k} \ge \langle \nabla u(x_k), \theta_k \rangle - \frac{2\mathrm{Lip}(u)|x_k-x|^2 + C|x_k-x|\omega(|x_k-x|)}{s_k}.$$

By the definition of  $Q(x, \theta_k)$  one has that  $s_k |\theta_k| \ge |x_k - x| - |x_k - x|^2$ , so that, as  $x_k \to x$ ,  $|x_k - x| \le 2s_k$  for k large enough. Recalling (ii), (1.3.1.7) and  $\theta_k \to \theta$ , we conclude that

$$\liminf_{\substack{h \to 0^+\\ \theta' \to \theta\\ x + h\theta' \in \overline{\Omega}}} \frac{u(x + h\theta') - u(x)}{h} \ge \langle \overline{p}, \theta \rangle \ge M(\theta, x).$$
(1.3.1.8)

This completes the proof.

**REMARK 1.3.1.5.** We observe that LEMMA 1.3.1.4 also holds when  $x \in \Omega$ . In this case, (1.3.1.4) is a direct consequence of [25, Theorem 4.5].

Fix  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. All  $p \in D_x^+ u(x)$  can be written as

$$p = p^{\tau} + p^{\nu}$$

where  $p^{\nu}$  is the normal component of p, i.e.,

$$p^{\nu} = \langle p, \nu(x) \rangle \nu(x),$$

and  $p^{\tau}$  is the tangential component of p which satisfies

$$\langle p^{\tau}, \nu(x) \rangle = 0.$$

**PROPOSITION 1.3.1.6.** Let  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. Let  $u: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$  be Lipschitz continuous and semiconcave with modulus  $\omega$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Then,

$$\partial_{-\nu}^{+}u(x) = -\lambda_{+}(x) := \max\{\lambda_{p}(x) : p \in D^{+}u(x)\},$$
(1.3.1.9)

where

$$\lambda_p(x) := \max\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : p^\tau + \lambda \nu(x)\}, \quad \forall p \in D^+ u(x).$$
(1.3.1.10)

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. Let  $\{x_k\} \subset \Omega$  be a sequence such that  $x_k \to x$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . Let  $\theta_k$  be a sequence of unit vectors  $\theta_k := \frac{x_k - x}{|x_k - x|}$  such that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \theta_k = -\nu(x), \quad x + |x_k - x| \theta_k \in \Omega.$$

PRELIMINARIES

Let  $\overline{\lambda} \in \mathbb{R}$  be such that  $p = p^{\tau} + \overline{\lambda}\nu(x) \in D^+u(x)$ . By PROPOSITION 1.3.0.6 one has that

$$u(x+|x_k-x|\theta_k)-u(x)-\langle p^{\tau}+\overline{\lambda}\nu(x),|x_k-x|\theta_k\rangle\leq |x_k-x|\omega(|x_k-x|).$$

Hence,

$$-\overline{\lambda}\langle\nu(x), |x_k - x|\theta_k\rangle \le u(x) - u(x + |x_k - x|\theta_k) + \langle p^{\tau}, |x_k - x|\theta_k\rangle + |x_k - x|\omega(|x_k - x|).$$

Dividing by  $|x_k - x|$ , we obtain that

$$-\overline{\lambda}\langle\nu(x),\theta_k\rangle \leq \frac{u(x)-u(x+|x_k-x|\theta_k)}{|x_k-x|} + \langle p^{\tau},\theta_k\rangle + \omega(|x_k-x|).$$

Taking the limit as  $k \to +\infty$ , and by LEMMA 1.3.1.4 we have that

$$\overline{\lambda} \le \lim_{k \to +\infty} \frac{u(x) - u(x + |x_k - x|\theta_k)}{|x_k - x|} = -\partial^+_{-\nu} u(x).$$

Moreover, by PROPOSITION 1.3.0.3 we have that  $p^{\tau} + (\overline{\lambda} - \lambda)\nu(x) \in D^+u(x)$  for all  $\lambda \in (-\infty, \overline{\lambda}]$ . Set

$$\lambda_p(x) = \max\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : p^\tau + \lambda \nu(x) \in D^+ u(x)\}, \ \forall p \in D^+ u(x)\}$$

and by LEMMA 1.3.1.4 we conclude that

$$-\partial_{-\nu}^+ u(x) = -\min_{p \in D^+ u(x)} \{-\langle p, \nu(x) \rangle\} = \max_{p \in D^+ u(x)} \{\langle p, \nu(x) \rangle\}$$
$$= \max\{\lambda_p(x) : p \in D^+ u(x)\} =: \lambda_+(x).$$

This completes the proof.

#### 1.3.2 LIMITING SUBGRADIENTS OF $d_{\Omega}$

Take a continuous function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  and a point  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . A vector  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is said to be a proximal subgradient of f at x if there exists  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $C \ge 0$  such that

$$p \cdot (y - x) \le f(y) - f(x) + C|y - x|^2$$
 for all y that satisfy  $|y - x| \le \epsilon$ .

The set of all proximal subgradients of f at x is called the proximal subdifferential of f at x and is denoted by  $\partial^p f(x)$ . A vector  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is said to be a limiting subgradient of f at x if there exist sequences  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $p_i \in \partial^p f(x_i)$  such that  $x_i \to x$  and  $p_i \to p$   $(i \to \infty)$ .

The set of all limiting subgradients of f at x is called the limiting subdifferential and is denoted by  $\partial f(x)$ . In particular, for the distance function we have the following result.

**LEMMA 1.3.2.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Then, for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  it holds

$$\partial^{p} d_{\Omega}(x) = \partial d_{\Omega}(x) = \begin{cases} Db_{\Omega}(x) & 0 < b_{\Omega}(x) < \rho_{0}, \\ Db_{\Omega}(x)[0,1] & x \in \partial\Omega, \\ 0 & x \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$

where  $\rho_0$  is such that (1.1.0.2) holds.

*Proof.* The only case which needs to be analyzed is when  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . We recall that  $p \in \partial^p d_{\Omega}(x)$  if and only if there exists  $\epsilon > 0$  such that

$$d_{\Omega}(y) - d_{\Omega}(x) - \langle p, y - x \rangle \ge C|y - x|^2, \text{ for any } y \text{ such that } |y - x| \le \epsilon,$$
(1.3.2.1)

for some constant  $C \ge 0$ . Let us show that  $\partial^p d_{\Omega}(x) = Db_{\Omega}(x)[0,1]$ . By the regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$ , one has that

$$d_{\Omega}(y) - d_{\Omega}(x) - \langle Db_{\Omega}(x), y - x \rangle \ge b_{\Omega}(y) - b_{\Omega}(x) - \langle Db_{\Omega}(x), y - x \rangle \ge C|y - x|^2.$$

This shows that  $Db_{\Omega}(x) \in \partial^p d_{\Omega}(x)$ . Moreover, since

$$d_{\Omega}(y) - d_{\Omega}(x) - \langle \lambda Db_{\Omega}(x), y - x \rangle \ge \lambda \left( d_{\Omega}(y) - d_{\Omega}(x) - \langle Db_{\Omega}(x), y - x \rangle \right) \quad \forall \lambda \in [0, 1],$$

we further obtain the inclusion

$$Db_{\Omega}(x)[0,1] \subset \partial d_{\Omega}(x).$$

Next, in order to show the reverse inclusion, let  $p \in \partial^p d_\Omega(x) \setminus \{0\}$  and let  $y \in \Omega^c$ . Then, we can rewrite (1.3.2.1) as

$$b_{\Omega}(y) - b_{\Omega}(x) - \langle p, y - x \rangle \ge C|y - x|^2, \quad |y - x| \le \epsilon.$$
(1.3.2.2)

Since  $y \in \Omega^c$ , by the regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$  one has that

$$b_{\Omega}(y) - b_{\Omega}(x) \le \langle Db_{\Omega}(x), y - x \rangle + C|y - x|^2$$
(1.3.2.3)

for some constant  $C \in \mathbb{R}$ . By (1.3.2.2) and (1.3.2.3) one has that

$$\left\langle Db_{\Omega}(x) - p, \frac{y - x}{|y - x|} \right\rangle \ge C|y - x|.$$

Hence, passing to the limit for  $y \to x$ , we have that

$$\langle Db_{\Omega}(x) - p, v \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall v \in T_{\Omega^c}(x),$$

where  $T_{\Omega^c}(x)$  is the contingent cone to  $\Omega^c$  at x. Therefore, by the regularity of  $\partial\Omega$ ,

$$Db_{\Omega}(x) - p = \lambda v(x),$$

where  $\lambda \ge 0$  and v(x) is the exterior unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. Since  $v(x) = Db_{\Omega}(x)$ , we have that

$$p = (1 - \lambda) Db_{\Omega}(x).$$

Now, we prove that  $\lambda \leq 1$ . Suppose that  $y \in \Omega$ , then, by (1.3.2.1) one has that

$$0 = d_{\Omega}(y) \ge (1 - \lambda) \langle Db_{\Omega}(x), y - x \rangle + C|y - x|^2.$$

Hence,

$$(1-\lambda)\left\langle Db_{\Omega}(x), \frac{y-x}{|y-x|}\right\rangle \leq -C|y-x|.$$

Passing to the limit for  $y \to x$ , we obtain

$$(1-\lambda) \langle Db_{\Omega}(x), w \rangle \leq 0, \quad \forall w \in T_{\overline{\Omega}}(x),$$

where  $T_{\overline{\Omega}}(x)$  is the contingent cone to  $\Omega$  at x. We now claim that  $\lambda \leq 1$ . If  $\lambda > 1$ , then  $\langle Db_{\Omega}(x), w \rangle \geq 0$ for all  $w \in T_{\overline{\Omega}}(x)$  but this is impossible since  $Db_{\Omega}(x)$  is the exterior unit normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  in x. Using the regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$ , simple limit-taking procedures permit us to prove that  $\partial d_{\Omega}(x) = Db_{\Omega}(x)[0, 1]$ when  $x \in \partial\Omega$ . This completes the proof.

## CHAPTER 2

# NECESSARY CONDITIONS AND SENSITIVITY RELATIONS

2.1	APPR	OXIMATION OF CONSTRAINED TRAJECTORIES	15		
2.2	Assu	MPTIONS AND SOME REMARKS	18		
2.3 NECESSARY CONDITIONS AND SMOOTHNESS OF MINIMIZERS					
	2.3.1	Proof of Theorem 2.3.0.1 for $U = \mathbb{R}^n$	24		
	2.3.2	Proof of Theorem 2.3.0.1 for general $U$	34		
2.4	REGU	JLARITY FOR CONSTRAINED MINIMIZATION PROBLEMS .	36		
2.5	SENS	ITIVITY RELATIONS AND SEMICONCAVITY ESTIMATE	41		
	2.5.1	Proof of Theorem 2.5.0.1	42		

In this Chapter, we collect some results that we will use throughout this Thesis. More precisely, in SEC-TION 2.3, we introduce the constrained minimization problem. Under suitable assuptions (SECTION 2.2) we give the formulation of necessary conditions for this problem. Finally, in SECTION 2.5 we deduce a local semiconcavity estimate for the value function associated with the constrained minimization problem.

#### 2.1 APPROXIMATION OF CONSTRAINED TRAJECTORIES

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $\mathcal{C}^2$  boundary. Let  $\Gamma$  be the metric subspace of  $AC(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by

$$\Gamma = \Big\{ \gamma \in AC(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n) : \gamma(t) \in \overline{\Omega}, \quad \forall t \in [0,T] \Big\}.$$

For any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ , we set

$$\Gamma[x] = \{ \gamma \in \Gamma : \gamma(0) = x \}.$$
(2.1.0.1)

**LEMMA 2.1.0.1.** Let  $\rho_0 > 0$  be such that (1.1.0.2) holds. Let  $\gamma \in AC(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n)$  and suppose that  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) < \rho_0$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$ . Then  $d_{\Omega} \circ \gamma \in AC(0,T)$  and

$$\frac{d}{dt}(d_{\Omega} \circ \gamma)(t) = \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma(t)) \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T].$$
(2.1.0.2)

Moreover,

$$N_{\gamma} := \{ t \in [0, T] : \gamma(t) \in \partial\Omega, \ \exists \ \dot{\gamma}(t), \ \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle \neq 0 \}$$
(2.1.0.3)

is a discrete set.

*Proof.* First we prove that  $N_{\gamma}$  is a discrete set. Let  $t \in N_{\gamma}$ , then there exists  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\gamma(s) \notin \partial \Omega$  for any  $s \in (]t - \epsilon, t + \epsilon[ \setminus \{t\}) \cap [0, T]$ . Therefore,  $N_{\gamma}$  is composed of isolated points and so it is a discrete set.

Let us now set  $\phi(t) = (d_{\Omega} \circ \gamma)(t)$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . We note that  $\phi \in AC(0, T)$  because it is the composition of  $\gamma \in AC(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  with the Lipschitz continuous function  $d_{\Omega}(\cdot)$ . Denote by D the set of  $t \in [0, T]$  such that there exists the first order derivative of  $\gamma$  in t, i.e.,

$$D = \{t \in [0,T] : \exists \dot{\gamma}(t) \}.$$

We observe that D has full Lebesgue measure and we decompose D in the following way:

$$D = \underbrace{\{t \in D : \gamma(t) \notin \partial\Omega\}}_{D_0} \cup \underbrace{\{t \in D : \gamma(t) \in \partial\Omega\}}_{D_1}$$

By [35, Theorem 4, pg 129], for all  $t \in D_0$  the first order derivative of  $\phi$  is equal to

$$\dot{\phi}(t) = \begin{cases} 0 & \gamma(t) \in \Omega\\ \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle & \gamma(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega \end{cases}$$

Now, consider  $t \in D_1 \setminus N_{\gamma}$ . Since  $\gamma(t) \in \partial \Omega$ , one has that

$$\frac{\phi(t+h) - \phi(t)}{h} = \frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t+h))}{h}$$

for all h > 0. Since  $\gamma(t + h) = \gamma(t) + h\dot{\gamma}(t) + o(h)$  and  $d_{\Omega}$  is Lipschitz continuous, we obtain

$$0 \le \frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t+h))}{h} \le \frac{o(h)}{h} + \frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)+h\dot{\gamma}(t))}{h}.$$

Hence, one has that

$$0 \le \liminf_{h \to 0} \frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t+h))}{h} \le \limsup_{h \to 0} \frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t+h))}{h} \le \limsup_{h \to 0} \frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)+h\dot{\gamma}(t))}{h}.$$
 (2.1.0.4)

Moreover, by the regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$ , we obtain

$$d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t) + h\dot{\gamma}(t)) \le |b_{\Omega}(\gamma(t) + h\dot{\gamma}(t))| \le |h| |\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t)\rangle| + o(h).$$
(2.1.0.5)

**CONSTRAINED PROBLEM** 

Thus, since  $t \in D \setminus N_{\gamma}$ , we conclude that

$$\limsup_{h \to 0} \frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t) + h\dot{\gamma}(t))}{h} \le |Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t)\rangle| = 0.$$
(2.1.0.6)

So  $\dot{\phi}(t) = 0$  and the proof is complete.

**PROPOSITION 2.1.0.2.** Let  $x_i \in \overline{\Omega}$  be such that  $x_i \to x$  and let  $\gamma \in \Gamma[x]$ . Then there exists  $\gamma_i \in \Gamma[x_i]$  such that:

- (i)  $\gamma_i \to \gamma$  uniformly on [0, T];
- (ii)  $\dot{\gamma}_i \rightarrow \dot{\gamma}$  a.e. on [0, T];

(iii)  $|\dot{\gamma}_i(t)| \leq C |\dot{\gamma}(t)|$  for any  $i \geq 1$ , a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$ , and some constant  $C \geq 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\hat{\gamma}_i$  be the trajectory defined by

$$\widehat{\gamma}_i(t) = \gamma(t) + x_i - x. \tag{2.1.0.7}$$

We observe that  $d_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)) \leq \rho_0$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$  and all sufficiently large *i*, say  $i \geq i_0$ . Indeed,

$$d_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)) \le |\widehat{\gamma}_i(t) - \gamma(t)| = |x_i - x|.$$

Since  $x_i \to x$ , we have that  $d_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)) \leq \rho_0$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$  and  $i \geq i_0$ . We denote by  $\gamma_i$  the projection of  $\widehat{\gamma}_i$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , i.e.,

$$\gamma_i(t) = \widehat{\gamma}_i(t) - d_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t))Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)) \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$
(2.1.0.8)

We note that  $\gamma_i \in \Gamma[x_i]$ . Moreover,  $\gamma_i$  converges uniformly to  $\gamma$  on [0, T]. Indeed,

$$|\gamma_i(t) - \gamma(t)| = |x_i - x - d_\Omega(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t))Db_\Omega(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t))| \le 2|x_i - x|, \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

By LEMMA 2.1.0.1,  $d_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(\cdot)) \in AC(0,T)$  and  $\frac{d}{dt}(d_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t))) = \langle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_i(t) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^c}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t))$  a.e.  $t \in [0,T]$ . Using the regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$ , we obtain

$$\dot{\gamma}_i(t) = \dot{\gamma}(t) - \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)) \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^c}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)) - d_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)) D^2 b_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)) \dot{\gamma}(t), \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T].$$

Therefore, there exists a constant  $C \ge 0$  such that  $|\dot{\gamma}_i(t)| \le C|\dot{\gamma}(t)|$  for any  $i \ge i_0$ , a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$ . Finally, we have to show that  $\dot{\gamma}_i \to \dot{\gamma}$  almost everywhere on [0, T]. Since  $\hat{\gamma}_i \to \gamma$  and  $\gamma \in \Gamma[x]$ , one has that

$$d_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t))D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t))\dot{\gamma}(t) \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} 0, \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

So, we have to prove that

$$-\langle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)) \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)) \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} 0, \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T].$$
(2.1.0.9)

We note that

$$\left| \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)) \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)) \right| \leq \left| \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle \right|, \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T].$$
(2.1.0.10)

Fix  $t \in [0, T]$  such that (2.1.0.10) holds. If  $\gamma(t) \in \Omega$  then  $\widehat{\gamma}_i(t) \in \Omega$  for *i* large enough and (2.1.0.9) holds. On the other hand, if  $\gamma(t) \in \partial \Omega$ , then passing to the limit in (2.1.0.10), we have that

$$\limsup_{i \to \infty} \left| \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)) \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)) \right| \leq \limsup_{i \to \infty} \left| \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle \right|$$

Since  $\gamma_i \to \gamma$  uniformly on [0, T], one has that

$$\limsup_{i \to \infty} \left| \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle \right| = \left| \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle \right|.$$
(2.1.0.11)

By LEMMA 2.1.0.1, we have that  $\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle = 0$  for  $t \in [0, T] \setminus N_{\gamma}$ , where  $N_{\gamma}$  is the discret set defined in (2.1.0.3). So (2.1.0.9) holds for a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$ . Thus,  $\dot{\gamma}_i$  converges almost everywhere to  $\dot{\gamma}$  on [0, T]. This completes the proof.

#### 2.2 ASSUMPTIONS AND SOME REMARKS

For reader's convenience we collect in this section all assumptions that we will use throughout this Chapter.

Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded open set with  $C^2$  boundary. Let  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be an open set such that  $\overline{\Omega} \subset U$ . Given  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ , we consider the constrained minimization problem

$$\inf_{\gamma \in \Gamma[x]} J[\gamma], \quad \text{where} \quad J[\gamma] = \Big\{ \int_0^T f(t, \gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) \, dt + g(\gamma(T)) \Big\}. \tag{2.2.0.1}$$

We denote by  $\mathcal{X}[x]$  the set of solutions of (2.2.0.1), that is

$$\mathcal{X}[x] = \Big\{ \gamma^{\star} \in \Gamma[x] : J[\gamma^{\star}] = \inf_{\Gamma[x]} J[\gamma] \Big\}.$$

We assume that  $f: [0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $g: U \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfy the following conditions.

- (g1)  $g \in C_b^1(U)$ .
- (f0)  $f \in C([0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  and for all  $t \in [0,T]$  the function  $(x,v) \mapsto f(t,x,v)$  is differentiable. Moreover,  $D_x f$ ,  $D_v f$  are continuous on  $[0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and there exists a constant  $M \ge 0$  such that

$$|f(t,x,0)| + |D_x f(t,x,0)| + |D_v f(t,x,0)| \le M, \quad \forall (t,x) \in [0,T] \times U.$$
(2.2.0.2)
(f1) For all  $t \in [0, T]$  the map  $(x, v) \mapsto D_v f(t, x, v)$  is continuously differentiable and there exists a constant  $\mu \ge 1$  such that

$$\frac{I}{\mu} \le D_{vv}^2 f(t, x, v) \le I\mu,$$
(2.2.0.3)

$$|D_{vx}^2 f(t, x, v)|| \le \mu (1 + |v|), \tag{2.2.0.4}$$

for all  $(t, x, v) \in [0, T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , where I denotes the identity matrix.

(f2) For all  $(x, v) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^n$  the function  $t \mapsto f(t, x, v)$  and the map  $t \mapsto D_v f(t, x, v)$  are Lipschitz continuous. Moreover, there exists a constant  $\kappa \ge 0$  such that

$$|f(t, x, v) - f(s, x, v)| \le \kappa (1 + |v|^2)|t - s|,$$
(2.2.0.5)

$$|D_v f(t, x, v) - D_v f(s, x, v)| \le \kappa (1 + |v|)|t - s|,$$
(2.2.0.6)

for all  $t, s \in [0, T], x \in U, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

(f3) For all  $s \in [0, T]$ , for all  $x \in U$  and for all  $v, w \in B_R$ , there exists a constant  $C(R) \ge 0$  such that

$$|D_x f(s, x, v) - D_x f(s, x, w)| \le C(R)|v - w|.$$
(2.2.0.7)

(f4) For any R > 0 the map  $x \mapsto f(t, x, v)$  is semiconcave with linear modulus  $\omega_R$ , i.e., for any  $(t, v) \in [0, T] \times B_R$  one has that

$$\lambda f(t, y, v) + (1 - \lambda)f(t, x, v) - f(t, \lambda y + (1 - \lambda)x, v) \le \lambda (1 - \lambda)|x - y|\omega_R(|x - y|),$$

for any pair  $x, y \in U$  such that the segment [x, y] is contained in U and for any  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ .

**REMARK 2.2.0.1.** By classical results in the calculus of variation (see, e.g., [34, Theorem 11.1i]), there exists at least one minimizer of (2.2.0.1) in  $\Gamma$  for any fixed point  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ .

In the next lemma we show that (f0)-(f2) imply the useful growth conditions for f and for its derivatives. LEMMA 2.2.0.2. Suppose that (f0)-(f2) hold. Then, there exists a positive constant  $C(\mu, M)$  depends only on  $\mu$  and M such that

$$|D_v f(t, x, v)| \le C(\mu, M)(1 + |v|), \tag{2.2.0.8}$$

$$|D_x f(t, x, v)| \le C(\mu, M)(1 + |v|^2),$$
(2.2.0.9)

$$\frac{1}{4\mu}|v|^2 - C(\mu, M) \le f(t, x, v) \le 4\mu|v|^2 + C(\mu, M),$$
(2.2.0.10)

for all  $(t, x, v) \in [0, T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ .

*Proof.* By (2.2.0.2), and by (2.2.0.3) one has that

$$\begin{aligned} |D_v f(t, x, v)| &\leq |D_v f(t, x, v) - D_v f(t, x, 0)| + |D_v f(t, x, 0)| \\ &\leq \int_0^1 |D_{vv}^2 f(t, x, \tau v)| |v| \, d\tau + |D_v f(t, x, 0)| \leq \mu |v| + M \leq C(\mu, M)(1 + |v|) \end{aligned}$$

and so (2.2.0.8) holds. Furthermore, by (2.2.0.2), and by (2.2.0.4) we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |D_x f(t, x, v)| &\leq |D_x f(t, x, v) - D_x f(t, x, 0)| + |D_x f(t, x, 0)| \leq \int_0^1 \left| D_{xv}^2 f(t, x, \tau v) \right| |v| \, d\tau + M \\ &\leq \mu (1 + |v|) |v| + M \leq C(\mu, M) (1 + |v|^2). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, (2.2.0.9) holds. Moreover, fixed  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$  there exists a point  $\xi$  of the segment with endpoints 0, v such that

$$f(t, x, v) = f(t, x, 0) + \langle D_v f(t, x, 0), v \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle D_{vv}^2 f(t, x, \xi) v, v \rangle.$$

By (2.2.0.2), (2.2.0.3), and by (2.2.0.8) we have that

$$\begin{aligned} &-C(\mu,M) + \frac{1}{4\mu} |v|^2 \le -M - C(\mu,M) |v| + \frac{1}{2\mu} |v|^2 \le f(t,x,v) \le M + C(\mu,M) |v| + \frac{\mu}{2} |v|^2 \\ &\le C(\mu,M) + 4\mu |v|^2, \end{aligned}$$

and so (2.2.0.10) holds. This completes the proof.

In the next result we show a special property of the minimizers of (2.2.0.1).

**LEMMA 2.2.0.3.** For any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and for any  $\gamma^* \in \mathcal{X}[x]$  we have that

$$\int_0^T \frac{1}{4\mu} |\dot{\gamma}^\star(t)|^2 \, dt \le K,$$

where

$$K := T\left(C(\mu, M) + M\right) + 2\max_{U} |g(x)|.$$
(2.2.0.11)

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and let  $\gamma^* \in \mathcal{X}[x]$ . By comparing the cost of  $\gamma^*$  with the cost of the constant trajectory  $\gamma^*(t) \equiv x$ , one has that

$$\int_{0}^{T} f(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), \dot{\gamma}^{\star}(t)) dt + g(\gamma^{\star}(T)) \leq \int_{0}^{T} f(t, x, 0) dt + g(x)$$

$$\leq T \max_{[0,T] \times U} |f(t, x, 0)| + \max_{U} |g(x)|.$$
(2.2.0.12)

Using (2.2.0.2) and (2.2.0.10) in (3.1.2.10), one has that

$$\int_0^T \frac{1}{4\mu} |\dot{\gamma}^\star(t)|^2 \, dt \le K,$$

where

$$K := T(C(\mu, M) + M) + 2 \max_{U} |g(x)|.$$

We denote by  $H: [0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  the Hamiltonian

$$H(t,x,p) = \sup_{v \in \mathbb{R}^n} \Big\{ -\langle p, v \rangle - f(t,x,v) \Big\}, \qquad \forall (t,x,p) \in [0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n.$$

LEMMA 2.2.0.4. Suppose that (f0)-(f4) hold. Then, H satisfies the following conditions.

(H0)  $H \in C([0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  and for all  $t \in [0,T]$  the function  $(x,p) \longmapsto H(t,x,p)$  is differentiable. Moreover,  $D_xH$ ,  $D_pH$  are continuous on  $[0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and there exists a constant  $M' \ge 0$  such that

$$|H(t,x,0)| + |D_xH(t,x,0)| + |D_pH(t,x,0)| \le M', \quad \forall (t,x) \in [0,T] \times U.$$
 (2.2.0.13)

(H1) For all  $t \in [0,T]$  the map  $(x,p) \mapsto D_p H(t,x,p)$  is continuously differentiable and

$$\frac{I}{\mu} \le D_{pp}^2 H(t, x, p) \le I\mu,$$
(2.2.0.14)

$$||D_{px}^{2}H(t,x,p)|| \le C(\mu, M')(1+|p|), \qquad (2.2.0.15)$$

for all  $(t, x, p) \in [0, T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , where  $\mu$  is the constant given in (f1) and  $C(\mu, M')$  depends only on  $\mu$  and M'.

(H2) For all  $(x,p) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^n$  the function  $t \mapsto H(t,x,p)$  and the map  $t \mapsto D_p H(t,x,p)$  are Lipschitz continuous. Moreover

$$|H(t, x, p) - H(s, x, p)| \le \kappa C(\mu, M')(1 + |p|^2)|t - s|,$$
(2.2.0.16)

$$|D_p H(t, x, p) - D_p H(s, x, p)| \le \kappa C(\mu, M')(1+|p|)|t-s|,$$
(2.2.0.17)

for all  $t, s \in [0, T], x \in U, p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , where  $\kappa$  is the constant given in (f2) and  $C(\mu, M')$  depends only on  $\mu$  and M'.

(H3) For all  $s \in [0, T]$ , for all  $x \in U$  and for all  $p, q \in B_R$ , there exists a constant  $C(R) \ge 0$  such that

$$|D_x H(s, x, p) - D_x H(s, x, q)| \le C(R)|p - q|.$$
(2.2.0.18)

(H4) For any R > 0 the map  $x \mapsto H(t, x, p)$  is semiconvex with linear modulus  $\omega_R$ , i.e., for any  $(t, p) \in [0, T] \times B_R$  one has that

$$\lambda H(t, y, p) + (1 - \lambda)H(t, x, p) - H(t, \lambda y + (1 - \lambda)x, p) \ge \lambda (1 - \lambda)|x - y|\omega_R(|x - y|),$$

for any pair  $x, y \in U$  such that the segment [x, y] is contained in U and for any  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ .

Moreover,

$$|D_p H(t, x, p)| \le C(\mu, M')(1+|p|), \tag{2.2.0.19}$$

$$|D_x H(t, x, p)| \le C(\mu, M')(1+|p|^2),$$
(2.2.0.20)

$$\frac{1}{4\mu}|p|^2 - C(\mu, M') \le H(t, x, p) \le 4\mu|p|^2 + C(\mu, M'),$$
(2.2.0.21)

for all  $(t, x, p) \in [0, T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $C(\mu, M')$  depends only on  $\mu$  and M'.

*Proof.* Assumption (H0) and (H4) are a direct consequence of (f0) and (f4), respectively. Moreover, by (f1), and by the definition of H one has that for all  $t \in [0, T]$  the map  $(x, p) \mapsto D_p H(t, x, p)$  is continuously differentiable. Let  $v_p \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $p = -D_v f(t, x, v_p)$  or, equivalently,  $v_p = -D_p H(t, x, p)$ . As  $D_{pp}^2 H(t, x, p) = [D_{vv}^2 f(t, x, v_p)]^{-1}$ , (2.2.0.14) follows. Arguing as in LEMMA 2.2.0.2 we deduce that

$$|D_p H(t, x, p)| \le C(\mu, M')(1+|p|), \qquad (2.2.0.22)$$

for all  $(t, x, p) \in [0, T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . Since  $D_{px}^2 H(t, x, p) = -D_{vx}^2 f(t, x, v_p) D_{pp}^2 H(t, x, p)$ , and by (2.2.0.22) one has that

$$||D_{px}^{2}H(t,x,p)|| = ||D_{vx}^{2}f(t,x,v_{p})D_{pp}^{2}H(t,x,p)|| \le \mu ||D_{vx}^{2}f(t,x,v_{p})|| \le \mu^{2}(1+|v_{p}|)$$
(2.2.0.23)  
$$\le C(\mu, M')(1+|p|).$$
(2.2.0.24)

Arguing as in LEMMA 2.2.0.2, and using (2.2.0.22) and (2.2.0.23), we deduce that

$$|D_x H(t, x, p)| \le C(\mu, M')(1 + |p|^2),$$
  

$$\frac{1}{4\mu}|p|^2 - C(\mu, M') \le H(t, x, p) \le 4\mu|p|^2 + C(\mu, M'),$$

for all  $(t, x, p) \in [0, T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . By assumption (f2) one has that for all  $(x, p) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^n$  the function  $t \mapsto H(t, x, p)$  and the map  $t \mapsto D_p H(t, x, p)$  are Lipschitz continuous. Now, we prove that (2.2.0.16) holds. Let  $v_p \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $H(t, x, p) = -\langle p, v_p \rangle - f(t, x, v_p)$ . Hence, by (f2) one has that

$$H(t, x, p) - H(s, x, p) \leq -\langle p, v_p \rangle - f(t, x, v_p) + \langle p, v_p \rangle + f(s, x, v_p)$$
  
$$\leq \kappa (1 + |v_p|^2)|t - s| \leq \kappa C(\mu, M')(1 + |p|^2)|t - s|.$$

Now, we show that (2.2.0.17) holds. For semplicity, we set

$$v = -D_p H(t, x, -D_v f(t, x, v)) = -D_p H(s, x, -D_v f(s, x, v)),$$

and for all  $t, s \in [0, T]$ 

$$p_t = -D_v f(t, x, v), \quad p_s = -D_v f(s, x, v).$$

Hence, for all  $t, s \in [0, T]$  we have that

$$0 = D_p H(t, x, p_t) - D_p H(s, x, p_s) = D_p H(t, x, p_t) + D_p H(t, x, p_s) - D_p H(t, x, p_s) - D_p H(s, x, p_s) - D_p H(s$$

By (2.2.0.6) one has that

$$|D_p H(t, x, p_s) - D_p H(s, x, p_s)| = |D_p H(t, x, p_t) - D_p H(t, x, p_s)| \le C|p_t - p_s|$$
(2.2.0.25)  
=  $C|D_v f(t, x, v) - D_v f(s, x, v)| \le C\kappa |t - s|(1 + |v|) = C\kappa |t - s|(1 + |D_p H(s, x, p_s)|)$   
 $\le \kappa C(\mu, M')|t - s|(1 + |p_s|).$ 

Since (2.2.0.25) holds for all  $p_s$ , then (2.2.0.17) holds. Finally, let  $v_p$ ,  $v_q \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $p = -D_v f(t, x, v_p)$  and  $q = -D_v f(t, x, v_q)$ , respectively. Recalling that  $D_x H(t, x, p) = -D_x f(t, x, v_p)$  and  $D_x H(t, x, q) = -D_x f(t, x, v_q)$ , and by (f3) one has that

$$|D_x H(t, x, p) - D_x H(t, x, q)| = |D_x f(t, x, v_q) - D_x f(t, x, v_p)| \le C(R)|v_q - v_p|$$
  
=  $C(R)|D_p H(t, x, p) - D_p H(t, x, q)| \le C(R)|p - q|,$ 

for all  $t \in [0, T]$  and for all  $x \in U$ . This completes the proof.

### 2.3 NECESSARY CONDITIONS AND SMOOTHNESS OF MINIMIZERS

Throughout this section we assume that  $f : [0, T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $g : U \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfy (f0)-(f2) and (g1), respectively. Under the assumptions on  $\Omega$ , f and g our necessary conditions can be stated as follows.

**THEOREM 2.3.0.1.** For any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and any  $\gamma^* \in \mathcal{X}[x]$  the following holds true.

(i)  $\gamma^*$  is of class  $C^{1,1}([0,T];\overline{\Omega})$ .

(ii) There exist:

- (a) a Lipschitz continuous arc  $p: [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ ,
- (b) a bounded measurable function  $\Lambda : [0,T] \to [0,\infty)$ ,
- (c) a constant  $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$0 \le \nu \le \max\left\{1, 2\mu \sup_{x \in U} \left| D_p H(T, x, Dg(x)) \right|\right\},\$$

which satisfy the adjoint system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\gamma}^{\star}(t) = -D_p H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)) & \text{for all } t \in [0, T], \\ \dot{p}(t) = D_x H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)) - \Lambda(t) D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)) & \text{for a.e. } t \in [0, T], \end{cases}$$
(2.3.0.1)

and the transversality condition

$$p(T) = Dg(\gamma^{\star}(T)) + \nu Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(T))\mathbf{1}_{\partial\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(T)).$$
(2.3.0.2)

Moreover,

(iii) the following estimate holds

$$||\dot{\gamma}^{\star}||_{\infty} \le L^{\star}, \quad \forall \gamma^{\star} \in \mathcal{X}[x],$$
(2.3.0.3)

where  $L^{\star}=L^{\star}(\mu,M',M,\kappa,T,||Dg||_{\infty},||g||_{\infty});$ 

(iv) for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $\Lambda(t)$  is given by

$$\begin{split} \Lambda(t) = & \frac{1}{\theta(t)} \left[ - \left\langle D^2 b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)) D_p H\big(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\big), D_p H\big(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\big) \right\rangle \right. \\ & - \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pt}^2 H\big(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\big) \right\rangle - \\ & \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{px}^2 H\big(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\big) D_p H\big(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\big) \right\rangle \\ & + \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pp}^2 H\big(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\big) D_x H\big(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\big) \right\rangle \right] \mathbf{1}_{\partial\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), \end{split}$$
where  $\theta(t) := \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pp}^2 H\big(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\big) D_b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)) \right\rangle.$ 

Observe that (2.2.0.14) ensures that  $\theta(t) > 0$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$  such that  $\gamma^{\star}(t) \in \partial \Omega + B_{\rho_0}$ .

### 2.3.1 PROOF OF THEOREM 2.3.0.1 FOR $U = \mathbb{R}^n$

In this section we prove THEOREM 2.3.0.1 in the special case of  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$ . The proof for a general open set U will be given in the next section.

The idea of proof is based on [23, Theorem 2.1] where the Maximum Principle under state constraints is proved for a Mayer problem. The reasoning requires several intermediate steps.

Fixed  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ , the key point is to approximate the constrained problem by penalized problems as follows

$$\inf_{\substack{\gamma \in AC(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n)\\\gamma(0) = x}} \left\{ \int_0^T \left[ f(t,\gamma(t),\dot{\gamma}(t)) + \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_\Omega(\gamma(t)) \right] dt + \frac{1}{\delta} d_\Omega(\gamma(T)) + g(\gamma(T)) \right\}.$$
 (2.3.1.1)

Then, we will show that, for  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $\delta \in (0, 1]$  small enough, the solutions of the penalized problem remain in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Observe that the Hamiltonian associated with the penalized problem is given by

$$H_{\epsilon}(t,x,p) = \sup_{v \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left\{ -\langle p,v \rangle - f(t,x,v) - \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(x) \right\} = H(t,x,p) - \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(x), \qquad (2.3.1.2)$$

for all  $(t, x, p) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ .

By classical results in the calculus of variation (see, e.g., [34, Section 11.2]), there exists at least one mimimizer of (2.3.1.1) in  $AC(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  for any fixed initial point  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{X}_{\epsilon,\delta}[x]$  the set of solutions of (2.3.1.1).

**REMARK 2.3.1.1.** Arguing as in LEMMA 2.2.0.3 we have that, for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ , all  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon,\delta}[x]$  satisfy

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left[ \frac{1}{4\mu} |\dot{\gamma}(t)|^{2} + \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) \right] dt \le K,$$
(2.3.1.3)

where K is the constant given in (2.2.0.11).

The first step of the proof consists in showing that the solutions of the penalized problem remain in a neighborhood of  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**LEMMA 2.3.1.2.** Let  $\rho_0$  be such that (1.1.0.2) holds. For any  $\rho \in (0, \rho_0]$ , there exists  $\epsilon(\rho) > 0$  such that for all  $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon(\rho)]$  and all  $\delta \in (0, 1]$  we have that

$$\forall x \in \overline{\Omega}, \ \gamma \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon,\delta}[x] \implies \sup_{t \in [0,T]} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) \le \rho.$$
(2.3.1.4)

*Proof.* We argue by contradiction. Assume that, for some  $\rho > 0$ , there exist sequences  $\{\epsilon_k\}, \{\delta_k\}, \{t_k\}, \{x_k\}$  and  $\{\gamma_k\}$  such that

$$\epsilon_k \downarrow 0, \ \delta_k > 0, \ t_k \in [0,T], \ x_k \in \overline{\Omega}, \ \gamma_k \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon_k,\delta_k}[x_k] \text{ and } d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(t_k)) > \rho, \quad \text{for all } k \ge 1$$

By **REMARK 2.3.1.1**, one has that for all  $k \ge 1$ 

$$\int_0^T \left[ \frac{1}{4\mu} |\dot{\gamma}_k(t)|^2 + \frac{1}{\epsilon_k} \, d_\Omega(\gamma_k(t)) \right] dt \le K,$$

where K is the constant given in (2.2.0.11). The above inequality implies that  $\gamma_k$  is 1/2-Hölder continuous with Hölder constant  $(4\mu K)^{1/2}$ . Then, by the Lipschitz continuity of  $d_{\Omega}$  and the regularity of  $\gamma_k$ , we have that

$$d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(t_k)) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(s)) \le (4\mu K)^{1/2} |t_k - s|^{1/2}, \ s \in [0, T].$$

Since  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(t_k)) > \rho$ , one has that

$$d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(s)) > \rho - (4\mu K)^{1/2} |t_k - s|^{1/2}$$

Hence,  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(s)) \ge \rho/2$  for all  $s \in J := [t_k - \frac{\rho^2}{16\mu K}, t_k + \frac{\rho^2}{16\mu K}] \cap [0, T]$  and all  $k \ge 1$ . So,

$$K \ge \frac{1}{\epsilon_k} \int_0^T d_\Omega(\gamma_k(t)) \, dt \ge \frac{1}{\epsilon_k} \int_J d_\Omega(\gamma_k(t)) \, dt \ge \frac{1}{\epsilon_k} \frac{\rho^3}{32\mu K}.$$

But the above inequality contradicts the fact that  $\epsilon_k \downarrow 0$ . So, (2.3.1.4) holds true.

In the next lemma, we show the necessary conditions for the minimizers of the penalized problem.

**LEMMA 2.3.1.3.** Let  $\rho \in (0, \rho_0]$  and let  $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon(\rho)]$ , where  $\epsilon(\rho)$  is given by LEMMA 2.3.1.2. Fix  $\delta \in (0, 1]$ , let  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ , and let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon,\delta}[x_0]$ . Then,

- (i)  $\gamma$  is of class  $C^{1,1}([0,T]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ ;
- (ii) there exists an arc  $p \in \text{Lip}(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n)$ , a measurable map  $\lambda : [0,T] \to [0,1]$ , and a constant  $\beta \in [0,1]$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{\gamma}(t) &= -D_p H(t, \gamma(t), p(t)), & \text{for all } t \in [0, T], \\ \dot{p}(t) &= D_x H(t, \gamma(t), p(t)) - \frac{\lambda(t)}{\epsilon} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), & \text{for a.e. } t \in [0, T], \\ p(T) &= Dg(\gamma(T)) + \frac{\beta}{\delta} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)), \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.1.5)$$

where

$$\lambda(t) \in \begin{cases} \{0\} & \text{if } \gamma(t) \in \Omega, \\ \{1\} & \text{if } 0 < d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) < \rho, \\ [0,1] & \text{if } \gamma(t) \in \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

$$(2.3.1.6)$$

and

$$\beta \in \begin{cases} \{0\} & \text{if } \gamma(T) \in \Omega, \\ \{1\} & \text{if } 0 < d_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) < \rho, \\ [0,1] & \text{if } \gamma(T) \in \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.3.1.7)$$

Moreover,

(iii) the function

$$r(t) := H(t, \gamma(t), p(t)) - \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \quad \forall t \in [0, T]$$

belongs to  $AC(0,T;\mathbb{R})$  and satisfies

$$\int_0^T |\dot{r}(t)| \, dt \le \kappa (T + 4\mu K),$$

where K is the constant given in (2.2.0.11) and  $\mu$ ,  $\kappa$  are the constants in (2.2.0.5) and (2.2.0.10), respectively;

(iv) the following estimate holds

$$|p(t)|^2 \le 4\mu \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) + \frac{C_1}{\delta^2}\right], \quad \forall t \in [0, T],$$
(2.3.1.8)

where  $C_1 = 8\mu + 8\mu ||Dg||_{\infty}^2 + 2C(\mu, M') + \kappa(T + 4\mu K).$ 

*Proof.* In order to use the Maximum Principle in the version of [61, Theorem 8.7.1], we rewrite (2.3.1.1) as a Mayer problem in a higher dimensional state space. Define  $X(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$  as

$$X(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma(t) \\ z(t) \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $z(t) = \int_0^t \left[ f(s, \gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)) \right] ds$ . Then the state equation becomes

$$\begin{cases} \dot{X}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \dot{\gamma}(t) \\ \dot{z}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{F}_{\epsilon}(t, X(t), u(t)), \\\\ X(0) = \begin{pmatrix} x_0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}. \end{cases}$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}_{\epsilon}(t, X, u) = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ \mathcal{L}_{\epsilon}(t, x, u) \end{pmatrix}$$

and  $\mathcal{L}_{\epsilon}(t, x, u) = f(t, x, u) + \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(x)$  for X = (x, z) and  $(t, x, z, u) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . Thus, (2.3.1.1) can be written as

$$\min\left\{\Phi(X^{u}(T)): u \in L^{1}\right\},$$
(2.3.1.9)

where  $\Phi(X) = g(x) + \frac{1}{\delta} d_{\Omega}(x) + z$  for any  $X = (x, z) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ . The associated unmaximized Hamiltonian is given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\epsilon}(t, X, P, u) = -\langle P, \mathcal{F}_{\epsilon}(t, X, u) \rangle, \qquad \forall (t, X, P, u) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

We observe that, as  $\gamma(\cdot)$  is minimizer for (2.3.1.1), X is minimizer for (2.3.1.9). Hence, the hypotheses of [61, Theorem 8.7.1] are satisfied. It follows that there exist  $P(\cdot) = (p(\cdot), b(\cdot)) \in AC(0, T; \mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ ,  $r(\cdot) \in AC(0, T; \mathbb{R})$ , and  $\lambda_0 \ge 0$  such that

(i)  $(P, \lambda_0) \not\equiv (0, 0),$ 

(ii) 
$$(\dot{r}(t), \dot{P}(t)) \in co \ \partial_{t,X} \mathcal{H}_{\epsilon}(t, X(t), P(t), \dot{\gamma}(t))$$
, a.e  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

(iii)  $P(T) \in \lambda_0 \partial \Phi(X^u(T)),$ 

(iv) 
$$\mathcal{H}_{\epsilon}(t, X(t), P(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) = \max_{u \in \mathbb{R}^n} \mathcal{H}_{\epsilon}(t, X(t), P(t), u)$$
, a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

(v) 
$$\mathcal{H}_{\epsilon}(t, X(t), P(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) = r(t)$$
, a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

where  $\partial_{t,X} \mathcal{H}_{\epsilon}$  and  $\partial \Phi$  denote the limiting subdifferential of  $\mathcal{H}_{\epsilon}$  and  $\Phi$  with respect to (t, X) and X respectively, while *co* stands for the closed convex hull. Using the definition of  $\mathcal{H}_{\epsilon}$  we have that

$$(p, b, \lambda_0) \neq (0, 0, 0),$$
 (2.3.1.10)

$$(\dot{r}(t), \dot{p}(t)) \in -b(t) \ co \ \partial_{t,x} \mathcal{L}_{\epsilon}(t, \gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)), \tag{2.3.1.11}$$

$$\dot{b}(t) = 0,$$
 (2.3.1.12)

$$p(T) \in \lambda_0 \ \partial(g + \frac{1}{\delta} \ d_\Omega)(\gamma(T)), \tag{2.3.1.13}$$

$$b(T) = \lambda_0,$$
 (2.3.1.14)

$$r(t) = H_{\epsilon}(t, \gamma(t), p(t)),$$
 (2.3.1.15)

where  $\partial_{t,x} \mathcal{L}_{\epsilon}$  and  $\partial(g + \frac{1}{\delta} d_{\Omega})$  stands for the limiting subdifferential of  $\mathcal{L}_{\epsilon}(\cdot, \cdot, u)$  and  $g(\cdot) + \frac{1}{\delta} d_{\Omega}(\cdot)$ . We claim that  $\lambda_0 > 0$ . Indeed, suppose that  $\lambda_0 = 0$ . Then  $b \equiv 0$  by (2.3.1.12) and (2.3.1.14). Moreover, p(T) = 0 by (2.3.1.13). It follows from (2.3.1.11) that  $p \equiv 0$ , which is in contradiction with (2.3.1.10). So,  $\lambda_0 > 0$  and we may rescale p and b so that  $b(t) = \lambda_0 = 1$  for any  $t \in [0, T]$ .

Note that the Weierstrass Condition (iv) becomes

$$-\langle p(t), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle - f(t, \gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) = \sup_{u \in \mathbb{R}^n} \Big\{ -\langle p(t), u \rangle - f(t, \gamma(t), u) \Big\}.$$
 (2.3.1.16)

Therefore

$$\dot{\gamma}(t) = -D_p H(t, \gamma(t), p(t)),$$
 a.e.  $t \in [0, T].$  (2.3.1.17)

By LEMMA 1.3.2.1, by the definition of  $\rho$ , and by (2.2.0.5) we have that

$$\partial_{t,x} \mathcal{L}_{\epsilon}(t,x,u) \subset \begin{cases} [-\kappa(1+|u|^2), \kappa(1+|u|^2)] \times D_x f(t,x,u) & \text{if } x \in \Omega, \\ [-\kappa(1+|u|^2), \kappa(1+|u|^2)] \times \left( D_x f(t,x,u) + \frac{1}{\epsilon} Db_{\Omega}(x) \right) & \text{if } 0 < b_{\Omega}(x) < \rho, \\ [-\kappa(1+|u|^2), \kappa(1+|u|^2)] \times \left( D_x f(t,x,u) + \frac{1}{\epsilon} [0,1] Db_{\Omega}(x) \right) & \text{if } x \in \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Thus (2.3.1.11) implies that there exists  $\lambda(t) \in [0, 1]$  as in (2.3.1.6) such that

$$|\dot{r}(t)| \le \kappa (1 + |\dot{\gamma}(t)|^2), \ \forall t \in [0, T],$$
(2.3.1.18)

$$\dot{p}(t) = -D_x f(t, \gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) - \frac{\lambda(t)}{\epsilon} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \quad \text{a.e. } t \in [0, T].$$
(2.3.1.19)

Hence, by (2.3.1.18), and by REMARK 2.3.1.1 we conclude that

$$\int_0^T |\dot{r}(t)| \, dt \le \kappa \int_0^T (1 + |\dot{\gamma}(t)|^2) \, dt \le \kappa (T + 4\mu K).$$
(2.3.1.20)

Moreover, by LEMMA 1.3.2.1, and by assumption on g, one has that

$$\partial \left(g + \frac{1}{\delta} d_{\Omega}\right)(x) \subset \begin{cases} Dg(x) & \text{if } x \in \Omega, \\ Dg(x) + \frac{1}{\delta} Db_{\Omega}(x) & \text{if } 0 < b_{\Omega}(x) < \rho, \\ Dg(x) + \frac{1}{\delta}[0, 1] Db_{\Omega}(x) & \text{if } x \in \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

So, by (2.3.1.13), there exists  $\beta \in [0, 1]$  as in (2.3.1.7) such that

$$p(T) = Dg(x) + \frac{\beta}{\delta} Db_{\Omega}(x). \qquad (2.3.1.21)$$

Finally, by well-known properties of the Legendre transform one has that

$$D_x H(t, x, p) = -D_x f(t, x, -D_p H(t, x, p)).$$

So, recalling (2.3.1.17), (2.3.1.19) can be rewritten as

$$\dot{p}(t) = D_x H(t, \gamma(t), p(t)) - \frac{\lambda(t)}{\epsilon} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)), \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T].$$

We have to prove estimate (2.3.1.8). Recalling (2.3.1.2) and (2.2.0.21), we have that

$$H_{\epsilon}(t,\gamma(t),p(t)) = H(t,\gamma(t),p(t)) - \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) \ge \frac{1}{4\mu} |p(t)|^{2} - C(\mu,M') - \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t))$$

So, using (2.3.1.20) one has that

$$|H_{\epsilon}(T,\gamma(T),p(T)) - H_{\epsilon}(t,\gamma(t),p(t))| = |r(T) - r(t)| \le \int_{t}^{T} |\dot{r}(s)| \, ds \le \kappa (T + 4\mu K).$$

Moreover, (2.3.1.21) implies that  $|p(T)| \leq \frac{1}{\delta} + ||Dg||_{\infty}$ . Therefore, using again (2.2.0.21), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{4\mu}|p(t)|^2 - C(\mu, M') - \frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) \le H_{\epsilon}(t, \gamma(t), p(t)) \le H_{\epsilon}(T, \gamma(T), p(T)) + \kappa(T + 4\mu K) \le 4\mu|p(T)|^2 + C(\mu, M') + \kappa(T + 4\mu K) \le 8\mu \left[\frac{1}{\delta^2} + ||Dg||_{\infty}^2\right] + C(\mu, M') + \kappa(T + 4\mu K).$$

Hence,

$$|p(t)|^2 \le 4\mu \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) + \frac{C_1}{\delta^2}\right],$$

where  $C_1 = 8\mu + 8\mu ||Dg||_{\infty}^2 + 2C(\mu, M') + \kappa(T + 4\mu K)$ . This completes the proof of (2.3.1.8). Finally, by the regularity of H, we have that  $p \in \text{Lip}(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$ . So,  $\gamma \in C^{1,1}([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Observing that the right-hand side of the equality  $\dot{\gamma}(t) = D_p H(t, \gamma(t), p(t))$  is continuous we conclude that this equality holds for all t in [0, T].

**LEMMA 2.3.1.4.** Let  $\rho \in (0, \rho_0]$  and let  $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon(\rho)]$ , where  $\epsilon(\rho)$  is given by LEMMA 2.3.1.2. Fix  $\delta \in (0, 1]$ , let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ , and let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon,\delta}[x]$ . If  $\gamma(\overline{t}) \notin \partial\Omega$  for some  $\overline{t} \in [0, T]$ , then there exists  $\tau > 0$  such that  $\gamma \in C^2((\overline{t} - \tau, \overline{t} + \tau) \cap [0, T]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon,\delta}[x]$  and let  $\overline{t} \in [0,T]$  be such that  $\gamma(\overline{t}) \in \Omega \cup (\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega})$ . If  $\gamma(\overline{t}) \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$ , then there exists  $\tau > 0$  such that  $\gamma(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$  for all  $t \in I := (\overline{t} - \tau, \overline{t} + \tau) \cap [0,T]$ . By LEMMA 2.3.1.3, we have that there exists  $p \in \text{Lip}(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\dot{\gamma}(t) = -D_p H(t, \gamma(t), p(t)),$$

$$\dot{p}(t) = D_x H(t, \gamma(t), p(t)) - \frac{1}{\epsilon} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)),$$

for  $t \in I$ . Since p(t) is Lipschitz continuous for  $t \in I$ , and  $\dot{\gamma}(t) = -D_p H(t, \gamma(t), p(t))$ , then  $\gamma$  belongs to  $C^1(I; \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Moreover, by the regularity of H,  $b_{\Omega}$ , p, and  $\gamma$  one has that  $\dot{p}(t)$  is continuous for  $t \in I$ . Then  $p \in C^1(I; \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Hence,  $\dot{\gamma} \in C^1(I; \mathbb{R}^n)$ . So,  $\gamma \in C^2(I; \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Finally, if  $\gamma(\bar{t}) \in \Omega$ , the conclusion follows by a similar argument.

In the next two lemmas, we show that, for  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $\delta \in (0, 1]$  small enough, any solution  $\gamma$  of problem (2.3.1.1) belongs to  $\overline{\Omega}$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . For this we first establish that, if  $\delta \in (0, 1]$  is small enough and  $\gamma(T) \notin \overline{\Omega}$ , then the function  $t \mapsto b_{\Omega}(\gamma(t))$  has nonpositive slope at t = T. Then we prove that the entire trajectory  $\gamma$  remains in  $\overline{\Omega}$  provided  $\epsilon$  is small enough. Hereafter, we set

 $\epsilon_0 = \epsilon(\rho_0)$ , where  $\rho_0$  is such that (1.1.0.2) holds and  $\epsilon(\cdot)$  is given by LEMMA 2.3.1.2.

LEMMA 2.3.1.5. Let

$$\delta = \frac{1}{2\mu N} \wedge 1, \tag{2.3.1.22}$$

where

$$N = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |D_p H(T, x, Dg(x))|.$$

Fix any  $\delta_1 \in (0, \delta]$  and let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon_0]$ . If  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_{\delta_1, \epsilon}[x]$  is such that  $\gamma(T) \notin \overline{\Omega}$ , then

$$\langle \dot{\gamma}(T), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \rangle \leq 0.$$

*Proof.* As  $\gamma(T) \notin \overline{\Omega}$ , by LEMMA 2.3.1.3 we have that  $p(T) = Dg(\gamma(T)) + \frac{1}{\delta} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T))$ . Hence,

$$\left\langle D_p H\big(T, \gamma(T), p(T)\big), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \right\rangle = \left\langle D_p H\big(T, \gamma(T), Dg(\gamma(T))\big), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \right\rangle$$
  
+ 
$$\left\langle D_p H\big(T, \gamma(T), Dg(\gamma(T)) + \frac{1}{\delta} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T))\big) - D_p H\big(T, \gamma(T), Dg(\gamma(T))\big), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \right\rangle.$$

Recalling that  $D_{pp}^2H(t,x,p) \geq \frac{I}{\mu}$ , one has that

$$\left\langle D_p H\big(T, \gamma(T), Dg(\gamma(T)) + \frac{1}{\delta} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T))\big) - D_p H\big(T, \gamma(T), Dg(\gamma(T))\big), \frac{1}{\delta} Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T))\right\rangle$$
$$\geq \frac{1}{2\mu} \frac{1}{\delta^2} |Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T))|^2 = \frac{1}{2\delta^2\mu}.$$

So,

$$\left\langle D_p H(T, \gamma(T), p(T)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \right\rangle \ge \frac{1}{2\delta\mu} - |D_p H(T, \gamma(T), Dg(\gamma(T)))|.$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$\langle \dot{\gamma}(T), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \rangle = - \left\langle D_{p}H(T, \gamma(T), p(T)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \right\rangle$$
  
 
$$\leq -\frac{1}{2\delta\mu} + |D_{p}H(T, \gamma(T), Dg(\gamma(T)))|.$$

Thus, choosing  $\delta$  as in (2.3.1.22) gives the result.

**LEMMA 2.3.1.6.** Fix  $\delta$  as in (2.3.1.22). Then there exists  $\epsilon_1 \in (0, \epsilon_0]$ , such that for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon_1]$ 

$$\forall x \in \overline{\Omega}, \ \gamma \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon,\delta}[x] \implies \gamma(t) \in \overline{\Omega} \ \ \forall t \in [0,T].$$

*Proof.* We argue by contradiction. Assume that there exist sequences  $\{\epsilon_k\}, \{t_k\}, \{x_k\}, \{\gamma_k\}$  such that

$$\epsilon_k \downarrow 0, \ t_k \in [0,T], \ x_k \in \overline{\Omega}, \ \gamma_k \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon_k,\delta}[x_k] \text{ and } \gamma_k(t_k) \notin \overline{\Omega}, \quad \text{for all } k \ge 1.$$
 (2.3.1.23)

Then, for each  $k \ge 1$  one could find an interval with end-points  $0 \le a_k < b_k \le T$  such that

$$\begin{cases} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(a_k)) = 0, \\ d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(t)) > 0 \quad t \in (a_k, b_k), \\ d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(b_k)) = 0 \text{ or else } b_k = T \end{cases}$$

Let  $\overline{t}_k \in (a_k, b_k]$  be such that

$$d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(\bar{t}_k)) = \max_{t \in [a_k, b_k]} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(t)).$$

We note that, by LEMMA 2.3.1.4,  $\gamma_k$  is of class  $C^2$  in a neighborhood of  $\overline{t}_k$ . Step 1

We claim that

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(t)) \Big|_{t=\bar{t}_k} \le 0.$$
(2.3.1.24)

Indeed, (2.3.1.24) is trivial if  $\overline{t}_k \in (a_k, b_k)$ . Suppose  $\overline{t}_k = b_k$ . Since  $\overline{t}_k$  is a maximum point of the map  $t \mapsto d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(t))$  and  $\gamma_k(\overline{t}_k) \notin \overline{\Omega}$ , we have that  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(\overline{t}_k)) \neq 0$ . So,  $b_k = T = \overline{t}_k$  and we get

$$\frac{d}{dt}d_{\Omega}(\gamma_k(t))\Big|_{t=\bar{t}_k} \ge 0.$$

Moreover, LEMMA 2.3.1.5 yields

$$\frac{d}{dt}d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{k}(t))\Big|_{t=\bar{t}_{k}} \leq 0.$$
$$\frac{d}{dt}d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{k}(t))\Big|_{t=\bar{t}_{k}} = 0,$$

So,

and we have that (2.3.1.24) holds true at  $\bar{t}_k = T$ .

Step 2

Now, we prove that

$$\frac{1}{\mu\epsilon_k} \le C(\mu, M', \kappa) \left[ 1 + 4\mu \frac{C_1}{\delta^2} + \frac{4\mu}{\epsilon_k} d_\Omega(\gamma_k(\bar{t}_k)) \right], \quad \forall k \ge 1,$$
(2.3.1.25)

where  $C_1 = 8\mu + 8\mu ||Dg||_{\infty}^2 + 2C(\mu, M') + \kappa(T + 4\mu K)$  and the constant  $C(\mu, M', \kappa)$  depends only on  $\mu$ , M' and  $\kappa$ . Indeed, since  $\gamma$  is of class  $C^2$  in a neighborhood of  $\bar{t}_k$  one has that

$$\ddot{\gamma}(\bar{t}_k) = -D_{pt}^2 H(\bar{t}_k, \gamma(\bar{t}_k), p(\bar{t}_k)) - \left\langle D_{px}^2 H(\bar{t}_k, \gamma(\bar{t}_k), p(\bar{t}_k)), \dot{\gamma}(\bar{t}_k) \right\rangle$$
(2.3.1.26)

$$-\left\langle D_{pp}^{2}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k})),\dot{p}(\bar{t}_{k})\right\rangle$$

Developing the second order derivative of  $d_{\Omega} \circ \gamma$ , by (2.3.1.26) and the expression of the derivatives of  $\gamma$  and p in LEMMA 2.3.1.3 one has that

$$0 \geq \langle D^{2}d_{\Omega}(\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}))\dot{\gamma}(\bar{t}_{k}),\dot{\gamma}(\bar{t}_{k})\rangle + \langle Dd_{\Omega}(\gamma(\bar{t}_{k})),\ddot{\gamma}(\bar{t}_{k})\rangle \\ = \langle D^{2}d_{\Omega}(\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}))D_{p}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k})),D_{p}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k}))\rangle \\ - \langle Dd_{\Omega}(\gamma(\bar{t}_{k})),D_{pt}^{2}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k}))\rangle \\ + \langle Dd_{\Omega}(\gamma(\bar{t}_{k})),D_{px}^{2}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k}))D_{p}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k}))\rangle \\ - \langle Dd_{\Omega}(\gamma(\bar{t}_{k})),D_{pp}^{2}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k}))D_{x}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k}))\rangle \\ + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \langle Dd_{\Omega}(\gamma(\bar{t}_{k})),D_{pp}^{2}H(\bar{t}_{k},\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}),p(\bar{t}_{k}))Dd_{\Omega}(\gamma(\bar{t}_{k}))\rangle .$$

We now use the growth properties of H in (2.2.0.15), and (2.2.0.17)-(2.2.0.20), the lower bound for  $D_{pp}^2 H$  in (2.2.0.14), and the regularity of the boundary of  $\Omega$  to obtain:

$$\frac{1}{\mu\epsilon_k} \le C(\mu, M')(1 + |p(\bar{t}_k)|)^2 + \kappa C(\mu, M')(1 + |p(\bar{t}_k)|) \le C(\mu, M', \kappa)(1 + |p(\bar{t}_k)|^2),$$

where the constant  $C(\mu, M', \kappa)$  depends only on  $\mu$ , M' and  $\kappa$ . By our estimate for p in (2.3.1.8) we get:

$$\frac{1}{\mu\epsilon_k} \le C(\mu, M', \kappa) \left[ 1 + 4\mu \frac{C_1}{\delta^2} + \frac{4\mu}{\epsilon_k} d_\Omega(\gamma(\bar{t}_k)) \right], \quad \forall k \ge 1,$$

where  $C_1 = 8\mu + 8\mu ||Dg||_{\infty}^2 + 2C(\mu, M') + \kappa(T + 4\mu K)$ . Conclusion

Let  $\rho = \min\left\{\rho_0, \frac{1}{32C(\mu, M', \kappa)\mu^2}\right\}$ . Owing to LEMMA 2.3.1.2, for all  $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon(\rho)]$  we have that

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T]} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) \le \rho, \quad \forall \gamma \in \mathcal{X}_{\epsilon,\delta}[x].$$

Hence, using (2.3.1.25), we deduce that

$$\frac{1}{2\mu\epsilon_k} \le 4C(\mu, M', \kappa) \left[1 + 4\mu \frac{C_1}{\delta^2}\right].$$

Since the above inequality fails for k large enough, we conclude that (2.3.1.23) cannot hold true. So,  $\gamma(t)$  belongs to  $\overline{\Omega}$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ .

An obvious consequence of LEMMA 2.3.1.6 is the following:

**COROLLARY 2.3.1.7.** Fix  $\delta$  as in (2.3.1.22) and take  $\epsilon = \epsilon_1$ , where  $\epsilon_1$  is defined as in LEMMA 2.3.1.6. Then an arc  $\gamma(\cdot)$  is a solution of problem (2.3.1.1) if and only if it is also a solution of (2.2.0.1).

We are now ready to complete the proof of THEOREM 2.3.0.1.

Proof of THEOREM 2.3.0.1. Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $\gamma^* \in \mathcal{X}[x]$ . By COROLLARY 2.3.1.7 we have that  $\gamma^*$  is a solution of problem (2.3.1.1) with  $\delta$  as in (2.3.1.22) and  $\epsilon = \epsilon_1$  as in LEMMA 2.3.1.6. Let  $p(\cdot)$  be the associated adjoint map such that  $(\gamma^*(\cdot), p(\cdot))$  satisfies (2.3.1.5). Moreover, let  $\lambda(\cdot)$  and  $\beta$  be defined as in LEMMA 2.3.1.3. Define  $\nu = \frac{\beta}{\delta}$ . Then we have  $0 \le \nu \le \frac{1}{\delta}$  and, by (2.3.1.5),

$$p(T) = Dg(\gamma^{\star}(T)) + \nu \ Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(T)).$$
(2.3.1.27)

By LEMMA 2.3.1.3  $\gamma^{\star} \in C^{1,1}([0,T];\overline{\Omega})$  and

$$\dot{\gamma}^{\star}(t) = -D_p H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)), \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$
(2.3.1.28)

Moreover,  $p(\cdot) \in \text{Lip}(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$ , and by (2.3.1.8) one has that

$$|p(t)| \le 2\frac{\sqrt{\mu C_1}}{\delta}, \quad \forall t \in [0,T],$$

where  $C_1 = 8\mu + 8\mu ||Dg||_{\infty}^2 + 2C(\mu, M') + \kappa(T + 4\mu K)$ . Hence, p is bounded. By (2.3.1.28), and by (2.2.0.19) one has that

$$||\dot{\gamma}^{\star}||_{\infty} = \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |D_{p}H(t,\gamma^{\star}(t),p(t))| \le C(\mu,M') \Big(\sup_{t \in [0,T]} |p(t)|+1\Big) \le C(\mu,M') \Big(2\frac{\sqrt{\mu}C_{1}}{\delta}+1\Big) = L^{\star}$$

where  $L^* = L^*(\mu, M', M, \kappa, T, ||Dg||_{\infty}, ||g||_{\infty})$ . Thus, (2.3.0.3) holds. Finally, we want to find an explicit expression for  $\lambda(t)$ . For this, we set

$$D = \left\{ t \in [0,T] : \gamma^{\star}(t) \in \partial \Omega \right\} \text{ and } D_{\rho_0} = \left\{ t \in [0,T] : |b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t))| < \rho_0 \right\},$$

where  $\rho_0$  is as in assumption (1.1.0.2). Note that  $\psi(t) := b_\Omega \circ \gamma^*$  is of class  $C^{1,1}$  on the open set  $D_{\rho_0}$ , with

$$\dot{\psi}(t) = \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), \dot{\gamma}^{\star}(t) \right\rangle = \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), -D_{p}H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)) \right\rangle.$$

Since  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\dot{\psi}$  is absolutely continuous on  $D_{\rho_0}$  with

$$\begin{split} \ddot{\psi}(t) &= -\left\langle D^2 b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t))\dot{\gamma}^{\star}(t), D_p H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right)\right\rangle - \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pt}^2 H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right)\right\rangle \\ &- \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{px}^2 H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right)\dot{\gamma}^{\star}(t)\right\rangle - \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pp}^2 H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right)\dot{p}(t)\right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle D^2 b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)) D_p H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right), D_p H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right)\right\rangle \\ &- \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pt}^2 H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right) D_p H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right)\right\rangle \\ &+ \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pp}^2 H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right) D_x H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right)\right\rangle \\ &+ \frac{\lambda(t)}{\epsilon} \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pp}^2 H\left(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)\right) D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t))\right\rangle. \end{split}$$

Let  $N_{\gamma^*} = \{t \in D \cap (0,T) | \dot{\psi}(t) \neq 0\}$ . Let  $t \in N_{\gamma^*}$ , then there exists  $\sigma > 0$  such that  $\gamma^*(s) \notin \partial \Omega$ for any  $s \in ((t - \sigma, t + \sigma) \setminus \{t\}) \cap (0,T)$ . Therefore,  $N_{\gamma^*}$  is composed of isolated points and so it is a discrete set. Hence,  $\dot{\psi}(t) = 0$  a.e.  $t \in D \cap (0,T)$ . So,  $\ddot{\psi}(t) = 0$  a.e. in D, because  $\dot{\psi}$  is absolutely continuous. Moreover, since  $D^2_{pp}H(t, x, p) > 0$  and  $|Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^*(t))| = 1$ , we have that

$$\theta(t) := \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)), D_{pp}^{2}H(t, \gamma^{\star}(t), p(t)) Db_{\Omega}(\gamma^{\star}(t)) \right\rangle > 0, \quad \text{a.e. } t \in D_{\rho_{0}}.$$

So, for a.e.  $t \in D$ ,  $\lambda(t)$  is given by

$$\frac{\lambda(t)}{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\theta(t)} \left[ -\left\langle D^2 b_{\Omega}(\gamma^*(t)) D_p H(t, \gamma^*(t), p(t)), D_p H(t, \gamma^*(t), p(t)) \right\rangle - \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^*(t)), D_{pt}^2 H(t, \gamma^*(t), p(t)) \right\rangle - \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^*(t)), D_{px}^2 H(t, \gamma^*(t), p(t)) D_p H(t, \gamma^*(t), p(t)) \right\rangle + \left\langle D b_{\Omega}(\gamma^*(t)), D_{pp}^2 H(t, \gamma^*(t), p(t)) D_x H(t, \gamma^*(t), p(t)) \right\rangle \right].$$

Since  $\lambda(t) = 0$  for all  $t \in [0, T] \setminus D$  by (2.3.1.6), taking  $\Lambda(t) = \frac{\lambda(t)}{\epsilon}$ , we obtain the conclusion.

#### 2.3.2 PROOF OF THEOREM 2.3.0.1 FOR GENERAL U

We now want to remove the extra assumption  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$ . For this purpose, it suffices to show that the data f and g—a priori defined just on U—can be extended to  $\mathbb{R}^n$  preserving the conditions in (f0)-(f2) and (g1). So, we proceed to construct such an extension by taking a cut-off function  $\xi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\begin{cases} \xi(x) = 0 & \text{if } x \in (-\infty, \frac{1}{3}], \\ 0 < \xi(x) < 1 & \text{if } x \in (\frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}), \\ \xi = 1 & \text{if } x \in [\frac{2}{3}, +\infty). \end{cases}$$
(2.3.2.1)

**LEMMA 2.3.2.1.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded open set with  $C^2$  boundary. Let U be a open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $\overline{\Omega} \subset U$  and

$$0 < dist(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{R}^n \setminus U) =: \sigma_0.$$

Suppose that  $f : [0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $g : U \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfy (f0)-(f2) and (g1), respectively. Set  $\sigma = \sigma_0 \wedge \rho_0$ . Then, the function f admits the extension

$$\widetilde{f}(t,x,v) = \xi \left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right) \frac{|v|^2}{2} + \left(1 - \xi \left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)\right) f(t,x,v), \quad \forall (t,x,v) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n,$$

that verifies the conditions (f0)-(f2) with  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$ . Moreover, the function g admits the extension

$$\widetilde{g}(x) = \left(1 - \xi\left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)\right)g(x), \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

that satisfies the condition (g1) with  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$ .

*Proof.* By construction we note that  $\tilde{f} \in C([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Moreover, for all  $t \in [0,T]$  the function  $(x,v) \mapsto \tilde{f}(t,x,v)$  is differentiable and the map  $(x,v) \mapsto D_v \tilde{f}(t,x,v)$  is continuously differentiable by construction. Furthermore,  $D_x \tilde{f}$ ,  $D_v \tilde{f}$  are continuous on  $[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\tilde{f}$  satisfies (2.2.0.2).

$$D_{v}\widetilde{f}(t,x,v) = \xi\left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)v + \left(1 - \xi\left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)\right)D_{v}f(t,x,v).$$

In order to prove (2.2.0.3) for f, we observe that

$$D_{v}\widetilde{f}(t,x,v) = \xi\left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)v + \left(1 - \xi\left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)\right)D_{v}f(t,x,v),$$

and

$$D_{vv}^{2}\widetilde{f}(t,x,v) = \xi\left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)I + \left(1 - \xi\left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)\right)D_{vv}^{2}f(t,x,v).$$

Hence, by the definition of  $\xi$  and (2.2.0.3) we obtain that

$$\left(1 \wedge \frac{1}{\mu}\right)I \le D_{vv}^2 \widetilde{f}(t, x, v) \le (1 \lor \mu)I, \quad \forall (t, x, v) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Since  $\mu \ge 1$ , we have that  $\tilde{f}$  verifies the estimate in (2.2.0.3). Moreover, since

$$D_x(D_v \tilde{f}(t, x, v)) = \dot{\xi} \left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right) v \otimes \frac{Db_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma} + \left(1 - \xi \left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)\right) D_{vx}^2 f(t, x, v) - \dot{\xi} \left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right) D_v f(t, x, v) \otimes \frac{Db_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma},$$

and by (2.2.0.4) we obtain that

$$||D_{vx}^2 \widetilde{f}(t, x, v)|| \le C(\mu, M)(1 + |v|) \quad \forall (t, x, v) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$$

For all  $(x,v) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  the function  $t \mapsto \tilde{f}(t,x,v)$  and the map  $t \mapsto D_v \tilde{f}(t,x,v)$  are Lipschitz continuous by construction. Moreover, by (2.2.0.5) and the definition of  $\xi$  one has that

$$\left|\widetilde{f}(t,x,v) - \widetilde{f}(s,x,v)\right| = \left|\left(1 - \xi\left(\frac{b_{\Omega}(x)}{\sigma}\right)\right) \left[f(t,x,v) - f(s,x,v)\right]\right| \le \kappa (1 + |v|^2)|t - s|$$

for all  $t, s \in [0, T], x \in \mathbb{R}^n, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Now, we have to prove that (2.2.0.6) holds for  $\tilde{f}$ . Indeed, using (2.2.0.6) we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| D_v \widetilde{f}(t, x, v) - D_v \widetilde{f}(s, x, v) \right| &\leq \left| \left( 1 - \xi \left( \frac{b_\Omega(x)}{\sigma} \right) \right) \left[ D_v f(t, x, v) - D_v f(s, x, v) \right) \right| \\ &\leq \kappa (1 + |v|) |t - s|, \end{aligned}$$

for all  $t, s \in [0, T], x \in \mathbb{R}^n, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Therefore,  $\tilde{f}$  verifies the assumptions (f0)-(f2).

Finally, by the regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$ ,  $\xi$ , and g we have that  $\tilde{g}$  is of class  $C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This completes the proof.

## 2.4 REGULARITY FOR CONSTRAINED MINIMIZATION PROBLEMS

Suppose that  $f : [0,T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $g : U \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfy the assumptions (f0)-(f4) and (g1), respectively. For any  $(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \overline{\Omega}$ , we set

$$\Gamma_t[x] = \left\{ \gamma \in \Gamma : \gamma(t) = x \right\}.$$

Given  $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}$ , we consider the constrained minimization problem

$$\inf_{\gamma \in \Gamma_t[x]} J_t[\gamma], \quad \text{where} \quad J_t[\gamma] = \left\{ \int_t^T f(s, \gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) \, ds + g(\gamma(T)) \right\}. \tag{2.4.0.1}$$

We denote by  $\mathcal{X}_t[x]$  the set of solutions of (2.2.0.1), that is

$$\mathcal{X}_t[x] = \left\{ \gamma \in \Gamma_t[x] : J_t[\gamma] = \inf_{\Gamma_t[x]} J_t[\gamma] \right\}$$

**REMARK 2.4.0.1.** Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$ . By THEOREM 2.3.0.1 one has that

- (i)  $\gamma$  is of class  $C^{1,1}([t,T];\overline{\Omega});$
- (ii) there exist:
  - (a)  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$ ,
  - (b) a bounded measurable function  $\Lambda : [t,T] \to [0,\infty)$ ,
  - (c) a constant  $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$0 \le \nu \le \max\left\{1, 2\mu \sup_{x \in U} \left| D_p H(T, x, Dg(x)) \right|\right\},\$$

which satisfy the adjoint system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{p}(s) = -D_x f(s, \gamma(s), p(s)) - \Lambda(s) Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)) & \text{for a.e. } s \in [t, T], \\ p(T) = Dg(\gamma(T)) + \nu Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \mathbf{1}_{\partial\Omega}(\gamma(T)) \end{cases}$$
(2.4.0.2)

and

$$-\langle p(t)\dot{\gamma}(t)\rangle - f(t,\gamma(t),p(t)) = \sup_{v\in\mathbb{R}^n} \{-\langle p(t),v\rangle - f(t,x,v)\}.$$
(2.4.0.3)

Moreover,  $\gamma$  satisfies the following estimate

 $||\dot{\gamma}||_{\infty} \leq L^{\star}$ 

where  $L^{\star} = L^{\star}(\mu, M', M, \kappa, T, ||Dg||_{\infty}, ||g||_{\infty}).$ 

Following the terminology of control theory, given  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$  any arc p satisfing (2.4.0.2) and (2.4.0.3) is called a *dual arc* associated with  $\gamma$ .

**DEFINITION 2.4.0.2.** Define  $u : [0,T] \times \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$  as the value function of the minimization problem (2.2.0.1), i.e.,

$$u(t,x) = \inf_{\gamma \in \Gamma_t[x]} \int_t^T f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \, ds + g(\gamma(T)). \tag{2.4.0.4}$$

**PROPOSITION 2.4.0.3.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Suppose that f and g satisfy (f0)-(f2) and (g1), respectively. Then, u is Lipschitz continuous in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

*Proof.* First, we shall prove that u is Lipschitz continuous in space, uniformly in time. Let  $x_0 \in \Omega$  and choose 0 < r < 1 such that  $B_r(x_0) \subset B_{2r}(x_0) \subset B_{4r}(x_0) \subset \Omega$ . To prove that u is Lipschitz continuous in  $B_r(x_0)$ , we take  $x \neq y$  in  $B_r(x_0)$  and  $t \in (0, T)$ . Let  $\gamma$  be an optimal trajectory for u at (t, x) and let  $\overline{\gamma}$  be the trajectory defined by

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\gamma}(t) = y \\ \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s) = \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{x-y}{\tau} & \text{if } s \in [t, t+\tau] \text{ a.e.} \\ \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s) = \dot{\gamma}(s) & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where  $\tau = \frac{|x-y|}{2L^{\star}} < T - t$ . We claim that

- (a)  $\overline{\gamma}(t+\tau) = \gamma(t+\tau);$
- (b)  $\overline{\gamma}(s) = \gamma(s)$  for any  $s \in [t + \tau, T]$ ;

(c) 
$$|\overline{\gamma}(s) - \gamma(s)| \le |y - x|$$
 for any  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$ ;

(d)  $\overline{\gamma}(s) \in \overline{\Omega}$  for any  $s \in [t, T]$ .

Indeed, by the definition of  $\overline{\gamma}$  we have that

$$\overline{\gamma}(t+\tau) - \overline{\gamma}(t) = \overline{\gamma}(t+\tau) - y = \int_t^{t+\tau} \left( \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{x-y}{\tau} \right) ds = \gamma(t+\tau) - y,$$

and this gives (a).

Moreover, by (a), and by the definition of  $\overline{\gamma}$  one has that  $\overline{\gamma}(s) = \gamma(s)$  for any  $s \in [t + \tau, T]$ . Hence,  $\overline{\gamma}$  verifies (b).

By the definition of  $\overline{\gamma}$ , for any  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$  we obtain that

$$\left|\overline{\gamma}(s) - \gamma(s)\right| \le \left|y - x + \int_t^s (\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(\sigma) - \dot{\gamma}(\sigma)) \, d\sigma\right| = \left|y - x + \int_t^s \frac{x - y}{\tau} \, d\sigma\right| \le |y - x|$$

and so (c) holds.

Since  $\gamma$  is an optimal trajectory for u and by  $\overline{\gamma}(s) = \gamma(s)$  for all  $s \in [t + \tau, T]$ , we only have to prove that  $\overline{\gamma}(s)$  belongs to  $\overline{\Omega}$  for all  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$ . Let  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$ , by THEOREM 2.3.0.1 one has that

$$\left|\overline{\gamma}(s) - x_0\right| \le \left|\overline{\gamma}(s) - y\right| + \left|y - x_0\right| \le \left|\int_t^s \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(\sigma) \, d\sigma\right| + r \le \int_t^s \left|\dot{\gamma}(\sigma) + \frac{x - y}{\tau}\right| d\sigma + r$$

$$\leq \int_t^s \left[ |\dot{\gamma}(\sigma)| + \frac{|x-y|}{\tau} \right] d\sigma + r \leq L^\star(s-t) + \frac{|x-y|}{\tau}(s-t) + r \leq L^\star \tau + |x-y| + r.$$

Since

$$\tau = \frac{|x - y|}{2L^\star} \le \frac{1}{2L^\star}$$

one has that

$$|\overline{\gamma}(s) - x_0| \le \frac{|x - y|}{2} + |x - y| + r \le 4r$$

Therefore,  $\overline{\gamma}(s) \in B_{4r}(x_0) \subset \overline{\Omega}$  for all  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$ .

Using the dynamic programming principle, by (a) one has that

$$u(t,y) \le \int_{t}^{t+\tau} f(s,\overline{\gamma}(s),\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s)) \, ds + u(t+\tau,\gamma(t+\tau)). \tag{2.4.0.5}$$

Since  $\gamma$  is an optimal trajectory for u at (t, x), we obtain that

$$u(t,y) \le u(t,x) + \int_t^{t+\tau} \left[ f(s,\overline{\gamma}(s),\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s)) - f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \right] ds.$$

By (2.2.0.8), (2.2.0.9), and the definition of  $\overline{\gamma}$ , for  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$  we have that

$$\begin{split} &|f(s,\overline{\gamma}(s),\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s)) - f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s))| \\ &\leq |f(s,\overline{\gamma}(s),\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s)) - f(s,\overline{\gamma}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s))| + |f(s,\overline{\gamma}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) - f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s))| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} |\langle D_{v}f(s,\overline{\gamma}(s),\lambda\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s) + (1-\lambda)\dot{\gamma}(s)),\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s)\rangle| \,d\lambda \\ &+ \int_{0}^{1} |D_{x}f(s,\lambda\overline{\gamma}(s) + (1-\lambda)\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)),\overline{\gamma}(s) - \gamma(s)\rangle| \,d\lambda \\ &\leq C(\mu,M)|\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s)| \int_{0}^{1} (1+|\dot{\lambda}\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s) + (1-\lambda)\dot{\gamma}(s)|) \,d\lambda \\ &+ C(\mu,M)|\overline{\gamma}(s) - \gamma(s)| \int_{0}^{1} (1+|\dot{\gamma}(s)|^{2}) \,d\lambda. \end{split}$$

By THEOREM 2.3.0.1 one has that

$$\int_{0}^{1} (1 + |\lambda \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s) + (1 - \lambda) \dot{\gamma}(s)|) \, d\lambda \le 1 + 4L^{\star}, \tag{2.4.0.6}$$

$$\int_0^1 (1+|\dot{\gamma}(s)|^2) \, d\lambda \le 1+(L^*)^2. \tag{2.4.0.7}$$

Using (2.4.0.6), (2.4.0.7), and (c), by the definition of  $\overline{\gamma}$  one has that

$$|f(s,\overline{\gamma}(s),\dot{\overline{\gamma}}(s)) - f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s))| \le C(\mu, M)(1 + 4L^*)\frac{|x-y|}{\tau} + C(\mu, M)(1 + (L^*)^2)|x-y|,$$
(2.4.0.8)

for a.e.  $s \in [t, t + \tau]$ .

By (2.4.0.8), and the choice of  $\tau$  we deduce that

$$u(t,y) \le u(t,x) + C(\mu, M)(1 + 4L^{\star}) \int_{t}^{t+\tau} \frac{|x-y|}{\tau} \, ds + C(\mu, M)(1 + (L^{\star})^{2}) \int_{t}^{t+\tau} |x-y| \, ds$$
  
$$\le u(t,x) + C(\mu, M)(1 + 4L^{\star})|x-y| + \tau C(\mu, M)(1 + (L^{\star})^{2})|x-y|$$
  
$$\le u(t,x) + C_{L^{\star}}|x-y|$$

where  $C_{L^*} = C(\mu, M)(1 + 4L^*) + \frac{1}{2L^*}C(\mu, M)(1 + (L^*)^2)$ . Thus, u is locally Lipschitz continuous in space and one has that  $||Du||_{\infty} \leq \vartheta$ , where  $\vartheta$  is a constant not depending on  $\Omega$ . Owing to the smoothness of  $\Omega$ , u is globally Lipschitz continuous in space.

Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $t_1, t_2 \in (0, T)$  and, without loss of generality, suppose that  $t_2 \ge t_1$ . Let  $\gamma$  be an optimal trajectory for u at  $(t_1, x)$ . Then,

$$|u(t_2, x) - u(t_1, x)| \le |u(t_2, x) - u(t_2, \gamma(t_2))| + |u(t_2, \gamma(t_2)) - u(t_1, x)|.$$
(2.4.0.9)

The first term on the right-side of (2.4.0.9) can be estimated using the Lipschitz continuity in space of u and THEOREM 2.3.0.1. Indeed, we get

$$|u(t_2, x) - u(t_2, \gamma(t_2))| \le C_{L^*} |x - \gamma(t_2)| \le C_{L^*} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} |\dot{\gamma}(s)| \, ds \le L^* C_{L^*} (t_2 - t_1). \tag{2.4.0.10}$$

We only have to estimate the second term on the right-side of (2.4.0.9). By dynamic programming principle, (2.2.0.10), and the assumptions on F we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} |u(t_2,\gamma(t_2)) - u(t_1,x)| &\leq \left| \int_{t_1}^{t_2} f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \, ds \right| \leq \int_{t_1}^{t_2} |f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s))| \, ds \qquad (2.4.0.11) \\ &\leq \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \left[ C(\mu,M) + 4\mu |\dot{\gamma}(s)|^2 \right] \, ds \leq \left[ C(\mu,M) + 4\mu L^{\star} \right] (t_2 - t_1) \end{aligned}$$

Using (2.4.0.10) and (2.4.0.11) in (2.4.0.9), we obtain that u is Lipschitz continuous in time. This completes the proof.

In the next result we show that u is locally semiconcave with linear modulus in  $\Omega$ .

**PROPOSITION 2.4.0.4.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Suppose that f satisfies (f0)-(f2) and (f4). Then u is locally semiconcave with linear modulus in  $\Omega$ .

*Proof.* For a given R > 0, let us set  $\Omega_R = \left\{ x \in \Omega : dist(x, \partial \Omega) > R \right\}$ . Fix  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega_R$  and let  $\gamma$  be an optimal trajectory for u at (t, x). Let  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $|h| \leq \frac{R}{4}$  and  $x \pm h \in \Omega_R$ . We want to prove that u satisfies

$$u(t, x+h) + u(t, x-h) - 2u(t, x) \le c|h|^2,$$
(2.4.0.12)

where c denotes the semiconcavity constant of u. Set  $\sigma_x = t + \frac{R}{4(L^*+1)}$ , where  $L^*$  is given in (2.3.0.3). We define the following trajectories

$$\begin{cases} \gamma^h_{\pm}(s) = \gamma(s) \pm \left(1 - \frac{s-t}{\sigma_x - t}\right)h, & s \in (t, \sigma_x], \\ \gamma^h_{\pm}(t) = x \pm h. \end{cases}$$

First we observe that the trajectory  $\gamma^h_+(s)$  belongs to  $\overline{\Omega}$  for all  $s \in [t, \sigma_x]$ . Indeed, by THEOREM 2.3.0.1 we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |\gamma_{+}^{h}(s) - \gamma_{+}^{h}(t)| &\leq \int_{t}^{s} |\dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(r)| \, dr = \int_{t}^{s} \left| \dot{\gamma}(r) - \frac{h}{\sigma_{x} - t} \right| \, dr \leq \int_{t}^{s} L^{\star} + \frac{|h|}{\sigma_{x} - t} \, dr \\ &= \left( L^{\star} + \frac{|h|}{\sigma_{x} - t} \right) (s - t) \leq L^{\star}(\sigma_{x} - t) + |h| = \frac{RL^{\star}}{4(L^{\star} + 1)} + |h| \leq \frac{R}{4} + \frac{R}{4} = \frac{R}{2} \end{aligned}$$

Thus  $\gamma^h_+(s)$  remains in  $\overline{\Omega}$  for all  $s \in [t, \sigma_x]$ . Arguing as above we also have that  $\gamma^h_-(s)$  belongs to  $\overline{\Omega}$  for all  $s \in [t, \sigma_x]$ .

Recalling that  $\gamma$  is optimal trajectory for u at (t, x), and using the dynamical programming principle, one has that

$$u(t, x + h) + u(t, x - h) - 2u(x, t) \le \int_{t}^{\sigma_{x}} f(s, \gamma_{+}^{h}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)) \, ds + u(\sigma_{x}, \gamma_{+}^{h}(\sigma_{x})) \\ + \int_{t}^{\sigma_{x}} f(s, \gamma_{-}^{h}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) \, ds + u(\sigma_{x}, \gamma_{-}^{h}(\sigma_{x})) - 2 \int_{t}^{\sigma_{x}} f(s, \gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) \, ds - 2u(\sigma_{x}, \gamma(\sigma_{x})).$$

Since  $\gamma^h_+(\sigma_x) = \gamma^h_-(\sigma_x) = \gamma(\sigma_x)$ , we obtain that

$$u(t, x + h) + u(t, x - h) - 2u(x, t) \leq \int_{t}^{\sigma_{x}} \left[ f(s, \gamma_{+}^{h}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)) + f(s, \gamma_{-}^{h}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) - 2f(s, \gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) \right] ds.$$

Moreover, by the definition of  $\gamma^h_\pm$  one has that

$$|\gamma_{+}^{h}(s) - \gamma_{-}^{h}(s)|^{2} \le 4|h|^{2} \quad \forall s \in [t, \sigma_{x}].$$
(2.4.0.13)

By our assumptions on f, and by (2.4.0.13), for all  $s \in [t, \sigma_x]$  we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)) + f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) &- 2f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \leq \left[ f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \right] \\ &+ \left[ f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \right] + c|\gamma_{+}^{h}(s) - \gamma_{-}^{h}(s)|^{2} \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.4.0.14)$$

$$\leq \left[ f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \right] + \left[ f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \right] + 4c|h|^{2}.$$

Moreover, by the convexity of f with respect to the third variable we obtain that

$$f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \leq \langle D_{v}f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)),\dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s)\rangle;$$
(2.4.0.15)

$$f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \le \langle D_{v}f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)),\dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle,$$
(2.4.0.16)

for all  $s \in [t, \sigma_x]$ . Using (2.4.0.13), (2.4.0.15) and (2.4.0.16) in (2.4.0.14), and the definition of  $\gamma^h_{\pm}$  we get

$$f(s, \gamma_{+}^{h}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)) + f(s, \gamma_{-}^{h}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) - 2f(s, \gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s))$$
  
$$\leq \langle D_{v}f(s, \gamma_{-}^{h}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) - D_{v}f(s, \gamma_{+}^{h}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)), \frac{h}{\sigma_{x} - t} \rangle + c|h|^{2},$$

for all  $s \in [t, \sigma_x]$ . By our assumptions on f, for all  $s \in [t, \sigma_x]$  one has that

$$\begin{split} &\langle D_v f(s, \gamma_-^h(s), \dot{\gamma}_-^h(s)) - D_v f(s, \gamma_+^h(s), \dot{\gamma}_+^h(s)), \frac{h}{\sigma_x - t} \rangle \\ &\leq \frac{4(L^* + 1)}{R} |D_v f(s, \gamma_-^h(s), \dot{\gamma}_-^h(s)) - D_v f(s, \gamma_+^h(s), \dot{\gamma}_+^h(s))| |h| \\ &\leq C \frac{4(L^* + 1)}{R} \Big[ |\gamma_-^h(s) - \gamma_+^h| + |\dot{\gamma}_-^h(s) - \dot{\gamma}_+^h(s)| \Big] |h| \\ &= C \frac{4(L^* + 1)}{R} \Big[ 2|h| \Big( 1 - \frac{s - t}{\sigma_x - t} \Big) + \frac{2|h|}{\sigma_x - t} \Big] |h| \\ &\leq 8C \frac{L^* + 1}{R} \Big[ 1 + \frac{4(L^* + 1)}{R} \Big] |h|^2. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we deduce that

$$f(s,\gamma_{+}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{+}^{h}(s)) + f(s,\gamma_{-}^{h}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{-}^{h}(s)) - 2f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \le C|h|^{2}, \ \forall s \in [t,\sigma_{x}]$$
(2.4.0.17)

where the constant C depends only on  $L^{\star}$  and R. Hence, we conclude that

$$u(t, x + h) + u(t, x - h) - u(t, x) \le C_{L^*, R} |h|^2,$$

where  $C_{L^{\star},R}$  depends only on  $L^{\star}$  and R. Thus, u is locally semiconcave with linear modulus in  $\Omega$ .  $\Box$ 

### 2.5 SENSITIVITY RELATIONS AND SEMICONCAVITY ESTIMATE

In our setting, the sensitivity relations can be stated as follows.

**THEOREM 2.5.0.1.** For any  $\varepsilon \ge 0$  there exists a constant  $c_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$  such that for any  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \overline{\Omega}$ and for any  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$ , denoting by  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T, \mathbb{R}^n)$  a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ , one has that

$$u(t+\sigma, x+h) - u(t,x) \le \sigma H(t,x,p(t)) + \langle p(t),h \rangle + c_{\varepsilon}(|h|+|\sigma|)^{\frac{3}{2}} \quad \forall (t,x) \in [0, T-\epsilon] \times \overline{\Omega},$$

for all  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  small enough such that  $x + h \in \overline{\Omega}$ , and for all  $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $0 \le t + \sigma \le T - \varepsilon$ .

**COROLLARY 2.5.0.2.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded open set with  $C^2$  boundary. Let  $(t, x) \in [0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$  and let  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  be a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ . Then,

$$\left(p(s), H(s, \gamma(s), p(s))\right) \in D^+ u(s, \gamma(s)) \quad \forall s \in [t, T].$$

$$(2.5.0.1)$$

A direct consequence of THEOREM 2.5.0.1 is that u is a semiconcave function.

**COROLLARY 2.5.0.3.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded open set with  $C^2$  boundary. The value function (2.4.0.4) is locally semiconcave with modulus  $\omega(r) = Cr^{\frac{1}{2}}$  in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\varepsilon \geq 0$  and let  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \partial \Omega$ . Let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$  and let  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  be a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ . Let  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that x + h,  $x - h \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\sigma > 0$  be such that  $0 \leq t - \sigma \leq t \leq t + \sigma \leq T - \varepsilon$ . By THEOREM 2.5.0.1, there exists a constant  $c_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$  such that

$$\frac{1}{2}u(t+\sigma,x+h) + \frac{1}{2}u(t-\sigma,x-h) - u(t,x) \leq \frac{1}{2} \Big[ u(t,x) + \langle p(t),h \rangle + \sigma H(t,x,p(t)) \Big] \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \Big[ u(t,x) - \langle p(t),h \rangle - \sigma H(t,x,p(t)) \Big] + c_{\varepsilon}(|h|+\sigma)^{\frac{3}{2}} - u(t,x)$$
(2.5.0.2)
$$= c_{\varepsilon}(|h|+\sigma)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

Inequality (2.5.0.2) yields (1.3.0.1) for  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$ . By [24, Theorem 2.1.10] this is enough to conclude that u is semiconcave, because u is continuous on  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

#### 2.5.1 **PROOF OF THEOREM 2.5.0.1**

It is convenient to divide the proof of THEOREM 2.5.0.1 in several lemmas. First, we show that u is semiconcave with modulus  $\omega(r) = Cr^{\frac{1}{2}}$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**LEMMA 2.5.1.1.** For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a constant  $c_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$  such that for any  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \overline{\Omega}$ and for any  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$ , denoting by  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ , one has that

$$u(t, x+h) - u(t, x) - \langle p(t), h \rangle \le c_{\varepsilon} |h|^{\frac{3}{2}},$$
(2.5.1.1)

for all  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  small enough such that  $x + h \in \overline{\Omega}$ .

*Proof.* If  $(t, x) \in [0, T) \times \Omega$ , it is known that (2.5.1.1) holds. Let  $\varepsilon \ge 0$  and let  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \partial \Omega$ . Let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$  and let  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  be a dual arc assosiated with  $\gamma$ . Let  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be small enough and such that  $x + h \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Now, we want to prove the following estimate

$$u(t, x+h) - u(t, x) - \langle p(t), h \rangle \le c_{\varepsilon} |h|^{\frac{3}{2}},$$
(2.5.1.2)

where  $c_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$  is a uniform constant that depends only on  $\varepsilon$ .

Let  $r \ge 0$  be such that  $0 \le t + r \le T - \varepsilon$ . Suppose that  $\frac{h}{r}$  is fixed, we denote by  $\gamma_h$  the trajectory defined

by

$$\gamma_h(s) = \begin{cases} \gamma(s) + \left(1 + \frac{t-s}{r}\right)_+ h & s \in [t, t+r], \\ \gamma(s) & s \in [t+r, T]. \end{cases}$$

We observe that  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)) \leq \rho_0$  for all  $s \in [t, t+r]$ . Indeed,

$$d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)) \le |\gamma_h(s) - \gamma(s)| \le \left| \left( 1 + \frac{t-s}{r} \right)_+ h \right|.$$

Thus, we have that  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)) \leq \rho_0$  for all  $s \in [t, t+r]$  and for h small enough. Denote by  $\widehat{\gamma}_h$  the projection of  $\gamma_h$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , i.e.,

$$\widehat{\gamma}_h(s) = \gamma_h(s) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)) Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)) \quad \forall s \in [t, t+r].$$

By construction  $\widehat{\gamma}_h \in AC(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n)$  and for s = t one has that  $\widehat{\gamma}_h(t) = x + h$ . Moreover,

$$\left|\widehat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s)\right| \le 4|h|, \quad \forall s \in [t, t+r].$$

$$(2.5.1.3)$$

Indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\widehat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s)\right| &= \left|\gamma_{h}(s) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s))Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) - \gamma(s)\right| \leq 2|h| + d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \\ &\leq 2|h| + |\gamma_{h}(s) - \gamma(s)| \leq 4|h|, \end{aligned}$$

for all  $s \in [t, t + r]$ . Furthemore, recalling LEMMA 2.1.0.1, we have that

$$\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) = \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} - \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \rangle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \Big( \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \Big),$$
(2.5.1.4)

for a.e.  $s \in [t, t+r]$ .

Since  $\gamma$  is an optimal trajectory for u at (t, x), by the dynamic programming principle, and by the definition of  $\widehat{\gamma}_h$  we have that

$$\begin{split} u(t,x+h) - u(t,x) - \langle p(t),h \rangle &\leq \int_{t}^{t+r} f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{h}(s),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s)) \, ds + u(t+r,\overbrace{\hat{\gamma}_{h}(t+r)}^{=\gamma(t+r)}) \\ &- \int_{t}^{t+r} f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \, ds - u(t+r,\gamma(t+r)) - \langle p(t),h \rangle \\ &= \int_{t}^{t+r} \left[ f(s,\widehat{\gamma}_{h}(s),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \right] \, ds - \langle p(t),h \rangle. \end{split}$$
(2.5.1.5)

Integrating by parts,  $\langle p(t), h \rangle$  can be rewritten as

$$-\langle p(t),h\rangle = -\langle p(t+r),\widehat{\widehat{\gamma}_h(t+r)} - \gamma(t+r)\rangle + \int_t^{t+r} \frac{d}{ds} \Big[\langle p(s),\widehat{\gamma}_h(s) - \gamma(s)\rangle\Big] ds$$

$$= \int_{t}^{t+r} \left\langle \dot{p}(s), \hat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \right\rangle ds + \int_{t}^{t+r} \left\langle p(s), \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \right\rangle ds.$$

Recalling that p satisfies (2.4.0.2) and (2.4.0.3), we deduce that

$$-\langle p(t),h\rangle = -\int_{t}^{t+r} \left[ \langle D_{x}f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)),\hat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \rangle + \Lambda(s) \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)),\hat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \rangle \right] ds$$
$$-\int_{t}^{t+r} \langle D_{v}f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle ds$$
(2.5.1.6)

Therefore, using (2.5.1.6), (2.5.1.5) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{split} u(t,x+h) &- u(t,x) - \langle p(t),h \rangle \leq \\ \int_{t}^{t+r} \left[ f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{h}(s),\dot{\bar{\gamma}}_{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\bar{\gamma}}_{h}(s)) - \langle D_{x}f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\bar{\gamma}}_{h}(s)),\hat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \rangle \right] ds \\ &+ \int_{t}^{t+r} \left[ f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\bar{\gamma}}_{h}(s)) - f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) - \langle D_{v}f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)),\dot{\bar{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle \right] ds \\ &+ \int_{t}^{t+r} \langle D_{x}f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\bar{\gamma}}_{h}(s)) - D_{x}f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)),\hat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \rangle ds \qquad (2.5.1.7) \\ &- \int_{t}^{t+r} \Lambda(s) \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)),\hat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \rangle ds. \end{split}$$

Using the assumptions (f1), (f3) and (f4) in (2.5.1.7) we have that

$$u(t,x+h) - u(t,x) - \langle p(t),h \rangle \leq c \int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \widehat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \right|^{2} ds + c \int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \right|^{2} ds + C(R) \int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \right| \left| \widehat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \right| ds - \int_{t}^{t+r} \Lambda(s) \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)), \widehat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \rangle ds,$$

for some constant  $c \ge 0$ . By (2.5.1.3) we observe that

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \widehat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \right|^{2} ds \le 4r|h|^{2}.$$
(2.5.1.8)

Moreover, recalling (2.5.1.4) one has that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \right|^{2} ds \leq \frac{|h|^{2}}{r} + \int_{t}^{t+r} \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \, ds \\ &+ \int_{t}^{t+r} 2 \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \, ds \\ &+ \int_{t}^{t+r} \left[ \left| d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s))D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left( \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right) \right|^{2} + 2d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left\langle D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left( \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right), \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \right] ds \\ &+ 2 \int_{t}^{t+r} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left\langle D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left( \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \right\rangle \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \, ds. \end{split}$$

By LEMMA 2.1.0.1 we obtain that

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} \left[ \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \, ds \right]$$

$$+2\int_{t}^{t+r} \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \right] ds$$
  
$$=\int_{t}^{t+r} \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) ds$$
  
$$=\int_{t}^{t+r} \frac{d}{ds} \left[ d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \right] \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) ds.$$

Recalling that  $\gamma_h(t), \gamma_h(t+r) \in \overline{\Omega}$ , we observe that

$$\left\{s \in [t, t+r] : \gamma_h(s) \in \overline{\Omega}^c\right\} = \left\{s \in (t, t+r) : \gamma_h(s) \in \overline{\Omega}^c\right\} = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} (s_i, t_i),$$

where  $(s_i, t_i) \cap (s_j, t_j) = \emptyset$  for all  $i \neq j$ . Hence,

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} \frac{d}{ds} \Big[ d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \Big] \Big\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{h}{r} \Big\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \, ds$$
$$= \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{s_{i}}^{t_{i}} \frac{d}{ds} \Big[ d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \Big] \Big\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{h}{r} \Big\rangle \, ds.$$

Integrating by parts, we get

$$\sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}\int_{s_i}^{t_i}\frac{d}{ds}\Big[d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s))\Big]\Big\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)),\dot{\gamma}(s)+\frac{h}{r}\Big\rangle\,ds = \sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}\Big[d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s))\Big\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)),\dot{\gamma}(s)+\frac{h}{r}\Big\rangle\Big]\Big|_{s_i}^{t_i}\\ -\sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}\int_{s_i}^{t_i}d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s))\frac{d}{ds}\Big[\Big\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)),\dot{\gamma}(s)+\frac{h}{r}\Big\rangle\Big]\,ds.$$

Owing to  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s_i)) = d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(t_i)) = 0$  for  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(t+r)) = d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t+r)) = 0$  and  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(t)) = d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) = 0$ , one has that

$$\sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \left[ d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)) \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \right] \Big|_{s_i}^{t_i} = 0.$$
(2.5.1.9)

Since  $\frac{h}{r}$  is fixed then, recalling that  $\gamma\in C^{1,1}([0,T];\overline{\Omega}),$  one has that

$$\frac{d}{ds} \left[ \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \right] \le C,$$

where the constant C is not dependent on h. Hence, we deduce that

$$\left|\sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}\int_{s_i}^{t_i}d_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s))\frac{d}{ds}\left[\left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_h(s)),\dot{\gamma}(s)+\frac{h}{r}\right\rangle\right]ds\right|\leq C|h|r,$$

and so

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} \frac{d}{ds} \Big[ d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \Big] \Big\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) + \frac{h}{r} \Big\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \, ds \le C|h|r.$$
(2.5.1.10)

Moreover, we have that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{t}^{t+r} \left| d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) D^{2} b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left( \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right) \right|^{2} ds \leq C \int_{t}^{t+r} \left| d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \right|^{2} \left| \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right|^{2} ds \\ &\leq C \left[ r |h|^{2} + \frac{|h|^{4}}{r} + |h|^{3} \right], \end{split}$$

and

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left\langle D^{2} b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left( \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right), \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle ds \leq C \left( |h|^{2} + \frac{|h|^{3}}{r} \right),$$

for some constant  $C \ge 0$  independent on h and r. Since  $\langle D^2 b_{\Omega}(x), Db_{\Omega}(x) \rangle = 0 \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  one has that

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left\langle D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \left( \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \right\rangle \left\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{h}(s)), \dot{\gamma}(s) - \frac{h}{r} \right\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{h}(s)) \, ds = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \right|^{2} ds \le c \left[ \frac{|h|^{2}}{r} + r|h|^{2} + |h|^{2} + |h|^{2} + |h|^{4} + |h|^{4} + |h|^{3} + \frac{|h|^{3}}{r} \right].$$
(2.5.1.11)

Moreover, using Young's inequality, (2.5.1.11) and (2.5.1.8), we deduce that

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \right| \left| \hat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \right| ds \leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{h}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(s) \right|^{2} ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_{t}^{t+r} \left| \hat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \right|^{2} ds \\
\leq \frac{1}{2} c \Big( \frac{|h|^{2}}{r} + r|h|^{2} + |h|^{2} + |h|r + \frac{|h|^{4}}{r} + |h|^{3} + \frac{|h|^{3}}{r} \Big),$$
(2.5.1.12)

where c is a constant independent on h and r. Moreover, since

$$\int_{t}^{t+r} \Lambda(s) \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)), \widehat{\gamma}_{h}(s) - \gamma(s) \rangle \, ds \le r|h|,$$

and using (2.5.1.11) and (2.5.1.12) we have that

$$u(t,x+h) - u(t,x) - \langle p(t),h \rangle \le c \Big( \frac{|h|^2}{r} + r|h|^2 + |h|^2 + r|h| + \frac{|h|^4}{r} + |h|^3 + \frac{|h|^3}{r} \Big). \quad (2.5.1.13)$$

Thus, choosing  $r = |h|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  in (2.5.1.13), we conclude that (2.5.1.2) holds. This completes the proof.

**LEMMA 2.5.1.2.** For any  $\varepsilon \ge 0$  there exists a constant  $c_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$  such that for all  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \overline{\Omega}$ and for all  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$ , denoting by  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ , one has that

$$u(t+\sigma, x+h) - u(t,x) \le \langle p(t), h \rangle + \sigma H(t,x,p(t)) + c_{\varepsilon}(|h|+|\sigma|)^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

for any  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  small enough such that  $x + h \in \overline{\Omega}$ , and for any  $\sigma > 0$  such that  $0 \le t + \sigma \le T - \varepsilon$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\varepsilon \ge 0$  and let  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\sigma > 0$  be such that  $0 \le t \le t + \sigma \le T - \varepsilon$  and let  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be small enough and such that  $x + h \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$  and let  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  be a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ . By dynamical programming principle one has that

$$u(t+\sigma, x+h) - u(t,x) = u(t+\sigma, x+h) - u(t+\sigma, \gamma(t+\sigma)) - \int_t^{t+\sigma} f(s, \gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) \, ds$$

By LEMMA 2.5.1.1 there exists a constant  $c_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$  such that

$$u(t+\sigma,x+h)-u(t+\sigma,\gamma(t+\sigma)) \le \langle p(t+\sigma),x+h-\gamma(t+\sigma)\rangle + c_{\varepsilon}(|x+h-\gamma(t+\sigma)|)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (2.5.1.14)

By **REMARK 2.4.0.1**, we have that

$$|x+h-\gamma(t+\sigma)| \le |h| + |x-\gamma(t+\sigma)| = |h| + \left|\int_{t}^{t+\sigma} \dot{\gamma}(s) \, ds\right| \le |h| + L^{\star}|\sigma|.$$
(2.5.1.15)

Since  $\gamma \in C^{1,1}([0,T];\overline{\Omega}), p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t,T;\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we deduce that

$$\langle p(t+\sigma), x+h-\gamma(t+\sigma) \rangle = \langle p(t+\sigma), h \rangle + \langle p(t+\sigma), \gamma(t) - \gamma(t+\sigma) \rangle$$
  
=  $\langle p(t+\sigma) - p(t), h \rangle + \langle p(t), h \rangle + \int_{t+\sigma}^{t} \langle p(t+\sigma), \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle \, ds$  (2.5.1.16)  
 $\leq \operatorname{Lip}(p) |\sigma| |h| + \langle p(t), h \rangle - \int_{t}^{t+\sigma} \langle p(s), \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle \, ds + \operatorname{Lip}(p) |\sigma|^{2}.$ 

Using (2.5.1.15) and (2.5.1.16) in (2.5.1.14) one has that

$$u(t+\sigma,x+h) - u(t,x) \le \langle p(t),h\rangle - \int_{t}^{t+\sigma} [f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) + \langle p(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)\rangle] ds + \operatorname{Lip}(p)|\sigma||h| + \operatorname{Lip}(p)|\sigma|^{2} + c_{\varepsilon}(|h|+|\sigma|)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(2.5.1.17)

By the definition of H we have that

$$-\int_{t}^{t+\sigma} \left[ f(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) + \langle p(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)\rangle \right] ds = \int_{t}^{t+\sigma} H(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) \, ds$$

Since  $\gamma \in C^{1,1}([0,T];\overline{\Omega})$ , we get

$$H(s,\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) = H(t,\gamma(t),\dot{\gamma}(t)) + |s-t| + |\gamma(s) - \gamma(t)| + |\dot{\gamma}(s) - \dot{\gamma}(t)| \\ \leq |\sigma| + L^{\star}|\sigma| + C|\sigma|,$$
(2.5.1.18)

where C is a positive constant independent on h and  $\sigma$ . Using SUBSECTION 2.5.1 in (2.5.1.17) we conclude that

$$u(t+\sigma, x+h) - u(t,x) \le \langle p(t), h \rangle + \sigma H(t,x,p(t)) + c_{\varepsilon}(|h|+|\sigma|)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

This completes the proof.

**LEMMA 2.5.1.3.** For any  $\varepsilon \ge 0$  there exists a constant  $c_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$  such that for any  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \overline{\Omega}$ and for any  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$ , denoting by  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ , one has that

$$u(t - \sigma, x + h) - u(t, x) \le \langle p(t), h \rangle - \sigma H(t, x, p(t)) + c_{\varepsilon}(|h| + |\sigma|)^{\frac{3}{2}},$$
(2.5.1.19)

for any  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  small enough such that  $x + h \in \overline{\Omega}$ , and for any  $\sigma > 0$  such that  $0 \le t - \sigma \le T - \varepsilon$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\varepsilon \geq 0$  and let  $(t, x) \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \times \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\sigma > 0$  be such that  $0 \leq t - \sigma \leq T - \varepsilon \leq T - \varepsilon$ and let  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be small enough and such that  $x + h \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{X}_t[x]$  and let  $p \in \operatorname{Lip}(t, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  be a dual arc associated with  $\gamma$ . We define the trajectory  $\gamma_\sigma$  as

$$\gamma_{\sigma}(s) = \begin{cases} \gamma(\sigma+s) + h & s \in [t-\sigma, T-\sigma], \\ \gamma(T) + h & s \in [T-\sigma, T]. \end{cases}$$

We denote by  $\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}$  the projecton of  $\gamma_{\sigma}$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , i.e.,

$$\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) = \gamma_{\sigma}(s) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), \quad \forall s \in [t - \sigma, T].$$
(2.5.1.20)

For all  $s \in [t - \sigma, T]$  we have that

$$|\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) - \gamma(s)| \le C(\sigma + |h|), \qquad (2.5.1.21)$$

where  $C \ge 0$  independent on  $\sigma$  and h. Indeed, by the definition of  $\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}$  one has that

$$\begin{aligned} |\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) - \gamma(s)| &= \left|\gamma(s+\sigma) + h - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) - \gamma(s)\right| \leq \int_{s}^{s+\sigma} |\dot{\gamma}(s)| \, ds \\ &+ |\gamma_{\sigma}(s) - \gamma(s)| + |h| \leq C(\sigma+|h|), \end{aligned}$$

for all  $s \in [t - \sigma, T]$ .

Furthermore, recalling LEMMA 2.1.0.1, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s) = \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) - \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \\ - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) D^{2} b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s), \end{aligned} \tag{2.5.1.22}$$

for all  $s \in [t - \sigma, T]$ . By the dynamical programming principle we obtain that

$$u(t-\sigma,x+h) - u(t,x) \le \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} f(s,\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds + \left[u(t,\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(t)) - u(t,x)\right]. \tag{2.5.1.23}$$

Now, we estimate the first term on the right-side of (2.5.1.23) in the following way

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds = \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left[ f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s)) - f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) \right] \, ds \\ + \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left[ f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) - f(s,\gamma(s+\sigma),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) \right] \, ds + \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} f(s,\gamma(s+\sigma),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds$$

Using the change of variables  $r = s + \sigma$ , and by **REMARK 2.4.0.1** we get

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} f(s,\gamma(s+\sigma),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds = \int_{t}^{t+\sigma} f(r-\sigma,\gamma(r),\dot{\gamma}(r)) \, dr \le \sigma f(t,x,\dot{\gamma}(t)) + C\sigma^2. \tag{2.5.1.24}$$

Moreover, by the regularity of f one has that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left[ f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s)) - f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) \right] ds \leq \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s) - \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \, ds \\ &+ C \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} |\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s) - \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)|^{2} \, ds. \end{split}$$

Recalling (2.5.1.22) we deduce that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s) - \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle ds \qquad (2.5.1.25)$$

$$= -\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \rangle \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) ds \\
-\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle ds.$$

Using the regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$  and LEMMA 2.1.0.1, the first term on the right-side of (2.5.1.25) can be estimated in the following way

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))\rangle \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \right| \\ & \leq \left| \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))\rangle \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) - Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s+\sigma)),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \right| \\ & + \left| \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))\rangle \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s+\sigma)),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \right| \\ & \leq \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} |D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s))| |Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))| |h| |\dot{\gamma}(s+\sigma)| \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \\ & + \left| \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \frac{d}{ds} [d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s+\sigma))] \, ds \right|. \end{split}$$

By our assumptions on f, and by regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$  one has that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} |D_{v}f(s,\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s))| |Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))| |h| |\dot{\gamma}(s+\sigma)| \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \leq C|h| |\sigma|.$$

Integrating by parts, and since  $\frac{d}{ds} \Big[ d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s + \sigma)) \Big] = 0$  we obtain that

$$\left| \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \frac{d}{ds} (d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s+\sigma))) ds \right| \\ \leq \left| \left[ \langle D_{v}f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s+\sigma)) \right] \right|_{t-\sigma}^{t} \right|$$
(2.5.1.26)

$$+ \left| \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s+\sigma)) \frac{d}{ds} \Big[ \langle D_{v}f(s,\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \Big] \right| = 0.$$

Hence, we deduce that

$$\left| \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_{v}f(s,\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \rangle \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \right| \leq C|h|\sigma. \quad (2.5.1.27)$$

Moreover, the second term of (2.5.1.25) can be estimated as

$$\left| \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \left\langle D_{v}f(s, \widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \right\rangle ds \right| \leq C|h|\sigma.$$
(2.5.1.28)

Using (2.5.1.27) and (2.5.1.28) in (2.5.1.25) one has that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left\langle D_v f(s, \hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s) - \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \right\rangle ds \le C|h|\sigma.$$
(2.5.1.29)

Furthermore, by (2.5.1.22) and by the regularity of  $b_{\Omega}$  we obtain that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left| \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s) - \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \right|^{2} ds = \\ &\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left| - \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \right|^{2} ds \\ &= \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds + \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} d_{\Omega}^{2}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) |D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)|^{2} \, ds \\ &+ 2 \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \\ &\leq C(|h| + \sigma)^{2} + \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds. \end{split}$$

Arguing as in (2.5.1.26) we deduce that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds = 0,$$

and so

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left| \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s) - \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \right|^2 ds \le C(|h| + \sigma)^2.$$
(2.5.1.30)

By (2.5.1.29) and (2.5.1.30) we conclude that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left[ f(s, \widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s)) - f(s, \widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) \right] ds \le C(|h| + \sigma)^2.$$
(2.5.1.31)

Moreover, by assumption (f4) we have that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left[ f(s, \widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) - f(s, \gamma(s+\sigma), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) \right] ds \le C \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} |\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) - \gamma(s+\sigma)|^2 ds$$

$$+ \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_x f(s, \gamma(s+\sigma), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), \widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) - \gamma(s+\sigma) \rangle \, ds.$$

By the definition of  $\widehat{\gamma}_\sigma$  we obtain that

$$\left|\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle D_x f(s, \gamma(s+\sigma), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)), h - d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \rangle \, ds\right| \le C|h|\sigma,$$

and by (2.5.1.21) one has that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} |\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) - \gamma(s+\sigma)|^2 \, ds \le C(|h|+\sigma)^2.$$

Hence,

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \left[ f(s, \hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) - f(s, \gamma(s+\sigma), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s)) \right] ds \le C(|h|+\sigma)^2.$$
(2.5.1.32)

Using (2.5.1.24), (2.5.1.31) and (2.5.1.32) we deduce that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} f(s,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s),\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \le \sigma f(t,x,\dot{\gamma}(t)) + C(|h|+\sigma)^2. \tag{2.5.1.33}$$

We only have to estimate the second term in (2.5.1.23). By LEMMA 2.5.1.1 there exists a constant  $c_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$  such that

$$u(t,\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(t)) - u(t,x) \le \langle p(t),\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(t) - x \rangle + c_{\varepsilon} |\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(t) - x|^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(2.5.1.34)

Moreover, by the definition of  $\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}$  we have that

$$\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(t) - x = \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{\sigma}(s) \, ds + h. \tag{2.5.1.35}$$

Using (2.5.1.22), (2.5.1.35) and (2.5.1.21) in (2.5.1.34) we obtain that

$$\begin{split} u(t,\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(t)) &- u(t,x) \leq \langle p(t),\widehat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) - x \rangle + c_{\varepsilon}(\sigma + |h|)^{\frac{3}{2}} = \langle p(t),h \rangle \\ &+ \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle p(t),\dot{\gamma}(s+\sigma) \rangle \, ds - \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle p(t),Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \rangle \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)),\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds \\ &- \int_{t-\sigma}^{t} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \langle p(t),D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \, ds + c_{\varepsilon}(|\sigma + |h|)^{\frac{3}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Using the change of variables  $r = s + \sigma$ , and by **REMARK 2.4.0.1** one has that

$$\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle p(t), \dot{\gamma}(s+\sigma) \rangle \, ds = \int_{t}^{t+\sigma} \langle p(t), \dot{\gamma}(r) \rangle \, dr \le \sigma \langle p(t), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle + c\sigma^2.$$

Arguing as in (2.5.1.26) we have that

$$\left|\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} \langle p(t), Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \rangle \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)), \dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \, ds\right| = 0.$$

Moreover,

$$\left|\int_{t-\sigma}^{t} d_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s)) \langle p(t), D^{2}b_{\Omega}(\gamma_{\sigma}(s))\dot{\gamma}_{\sigma}(s) \rangle \, ds\right| \leq C|\sigma||h|.$$

Hence, we deduce that

$$u(t,\hat{\gamma}_{\sigma}(t)) - u(t,x) \le \langle p(t),h \rangle + \sigma \langle p(t),\dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle + c_{\varepsilon}(|h|+\sigma)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(2.5.1.36)

By the definition of H, using (2.5.1.33) and (2.5.1.36) in (2.5.1.23) we conclude that

$$u(t - \sigma, x + h) - u(t, x) \le \langle p(t), h \rangle - \sigma H(t, x, p(t)) + c_{\varepsilon}(|h| + \sigma)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (2.5.1.37)

This completes the proof.

We observe that THEOREM 2.5.0.1 is a direct consequence of LEMMA 2.5.1.2 and LEMMA 2.5.1.3.

# CHAPTER 3

# EXISTENCE AND UNIQUENESS FOR MEAN FIELD GAMES WITH STATE CONSTRAINTS

3.1 Constrained MFG equilibria		54
3.1.1	Assumptions	54
3.1.2	EXISTENCE OF CONSTRAINED MFG EQUILIBRIA	55
3.1.3	Proof of Theorem 3.1.2.4	60
3.2 MILD	SOLUTION OF THE CONSTRAINED MFG PROBLEM	62

In this Chapter, following the Lagrangian formulation of the unconstrained MFG problem proposed in [8], we define a notion of constrained MFG equilibria (SECTION 3.1) and mild solutions (SECTION 3.2), for which we give existence and uniqueness results.

### 3.1 CONSTRAINED MFG EQUILIBRIA

#### 3.1.1 ASSUMPTIONS

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let  $\mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  be the set of all Borel probability measures on  $\overline{\Omega}$  endowed with the Kantorovich-Rubinstein distance  $d_1$  defined in (1.2.0.2). We suppose throughout this Chapter that  $F, G : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $L : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  are given continuous functions. Moreover, we assume the following conditions.

(L1)  $L \in C^1(\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  and for all  $(x, v) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|D_x L(x, v)| \le C(1+|v|^2), \tag{3.1.1.1}$$
$$|D_v L(x, v)| \le C(1+|v|), \tag{3.1.1.2}$$

for some constant C > 0.

(L2) There exist constants  $c_1, c_0 > 0$  such that

$$L(x,v) \ge c_1 |v|^2 - c_0, \quad \forall (x,v) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(3.1.1.3)

(L3)  $v \mapsto L(x, v)$  is convex for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ .

**REMARK 3.1.1.1.** (i) As  $\overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  is a compact set, the continuity of F and G implies that they are bounded and uniformly continuous on  $\overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ .

(*ii*) In (L1), L is assumed to be of class  $C^1(\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  just for simplicity. All the results of this chapter hold true if L is locally Lipschitz—hence, a.e. differentiable—in  $\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and satisfies the growth conditions (3.1.1.1) and (3.1.1.2) a.e. on  $\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , see REMARK 3.1.2.7 below.

#### 3.1.2 EXISTENCE OF CONSTRAINED MFG EQUILIBRIA

For any  $t \in [0, T]$ , we denote by  $e_t : \Gamma \to \overline{\Omega}$  the evaluation map defined by

$$e_t(\gamma) = \gamma(t), \quad \forall \gamma \in \Gamma.$$
 (3.1.2.1)

For any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(\Gamma)$ , we define

$$m^{\eta}(t) = e_t \sharp \eta, \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

$$(3.1.2.2)$$

**LEMMA 3.1.2.1.** The following holds true.

- (i)  $m^{\eta} \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$  for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(\Gamma)$ .
- (ii) Let  $\eta_i, \eta \in \mathcal{P}(\Gamma), i \geq 1$ , be such that  $\eta_i$  is narrowly convergent to  $\eta$ . Then  $m^{\eta_i}(t)$  is narrowly convergent to  $m^{\eta}(t)$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ .

*Proof.* First, we prove point (i). By definition (3.1.2.2), it is obvious that  $m^{\eta}(t)$  is a Borel probability measure on  $\overline{\Omega}$  for any  $t \in [0, T]$ . Let  $\{t_k\} \subset [0, T]$  be a sequence such that  $t_k \to \overline{t}$ . We want to show that

$$\lim_{t_k \to \overline{t}} \int_{\overline{\Omega}} f(x) m^{\eta}(t_k, \, dx) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} f(x) m^{\eta}(\overline{t}, \, dx), \qquad (3.1.2.3)$$

for any  $f \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ . Since  $m^{\eta}(t_k) = e_{t_k} \sharp \eta$  and  $e_{t_k}(\gamma) = \gamma(t_k)$ , we have that

$$\lim_{t_k \to \bar{t}} \int_{\overline{\Omega}} f(x) m^{\eta}(t_k, \, dx) = \lim_{t_k \to \bar{t}} \int_{\Gamma} f(e_{t_k}(\gamma)) \, d\eta(\gamma) = \lim_{t_k \to \bar{t}} \int_{\Gamma} f(\gamma(t_k)) \, d\eta(\gamma).$$

Since  $f \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ , then  $f(\gamma(t_k)) \to f(\gamma(\overline{t}))$  and  $|f(\gamma(t_k))| \leq ||f||_{\infty}$ . Therefore, by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we have that

$$\lim_{t_k \to \bar{t}} \int_{\Gamma} f(\gamma(t_k)) \, d\eta(\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma} f(\gamma(\bar{t})) \, d\eta(\gamma). \tag{3.1.2.4}$$

Thus, recalling the definition of  $m^{\eta}$ , we obtain (3.1.2.3). Moreover, by PROPOSITION 1.2.0.3, we conclude that  $d_1(m^{\eta}(t_k), m^{\eta}(\bar{t})) \to 0$ . This completes the proof of point (*i*).

In order to prove point (*ii*), we suppose that  $\eta_i$  is narrowly convergent to  $\eta$ . Then, for all  $f \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  we have that

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{\overline{\Omega}} f(x) m^{\eta_i}(t, \, dx) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{\Gamma} f(\gamma(t)) \, d\eta_i(\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma} f(\gamma(t)) \, d\eta(\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} f(x) m^{\eta}(t, \, dx).$$

Hence,  $m^{\eta_i}(t)$  is narrowly convergent to  $m^{\eta}(t)$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ .

For any fixed  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ , we denote by  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  the set of all Borel probability measures  $\eta$  on  $\Gamma$  such that  $e_0 \sharp \eta = m_0$ . For all  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ , we define

$$J_{\eta}[\gamma] = \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) + F(\gamma(t), m^{\eta}(t)) \right] dt + G(\gamma(T), m^{\eta}(T)), \quad \gamma \in \Gamma.$$
(3.1.2.5)

**REMARK 3.1.2.2.** We note that  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  is nonempty. Indeed, let  $j : \overline{\Omega} \to \Gamma$  be the continuous map defined by

$$j(x)(t) = x \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

Then,

$$\eta := j \sharp m_0$$

is a Borel probability measure on  $\Gamma$  and  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ .

For all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ , we define

$$\Gamma^{\eta}[x] = \left\{ \gamma \in \Gamma[x] : J_{\eta}[\gamma] = \min_{\Gamma[x]} J_{\eta} \right\}.$$
(3.1.2.6)

**DEFINITION 3.1.2.3.** Let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ . We say that  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  is a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$  if

$$supp(\eta) \subseteq \bigcup_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \Gamma^{\eta}[x].$$
 (3.1.2.7)

In other words,  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  is a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$  if for  $\eta$ -a.e.  $\overline{\gamma} \in \Gamma$  we have that

$$J_{\eta}[\overline{\gamma}] \le J_{\eta}[\gamma], \quad \forall \gamma \in \Gamma[\overline{\gamma}(0)].$$

The main result of this section is the existence of constrained MFG equilibria for  $m_0$ .

**THEOREM 3.1.2.4** will be proved in **SUBSECTION 3.1.3**. Now, we will show some properties of  $\Gamma^{\eta}[x]$  that we will use in what follows.

**LEMMA 3.1.2.5.** For all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  the following holds true.

- (i)  $\Gamma^{\eta}[x]$  is a nonempty set.
- (ii) All  $\gamma \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$  satisfy

$$||\dot{\gamma}||_2 \le K,$$
 (3.1.2.8)

where

$$K = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c_1}} \left[ T \max_{\overline{\Omega}} L(x,0) + 2T \max_{\overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})} |F| + 2 \max_{\overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})} |G| + Tc_0 \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(3.1.2.9)

and  $c_0$ ,  $c_1$  are the constants in (3.1.1.3). Consequently, all minimizers  $\gamma \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$  are  $\frac{1}{2}$ -Hölder continuous of constant K.

In addition, if  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  is a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$ , then  $m^{\eta}(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$  is  $\frac{1}{2}$ -Hölder continuous of constant K.

*Proof.* By classical results in the calculus of variation (see, e.g., [24, Theorem 6.1.2]), there exists at least one mimimizer of  $J_{\eta}[\cdot]$  on  $\Gamma$  for any fixed initial point  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . So  $\Gamma^{\eta}[x]$  is a nonempty set.

Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and let  $\gamma \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$ . By comparing the cost of  $\gamma$  with the cost of the constant trajectory  $\gamma(0) \equiv x$ , one has that

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left[ L(\gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) + F(\gamma(t), m^{\eta}(t)) \right] dt + G(\gamma(T), m^{\eta}(T))$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} \left[ L(x, 0) + F(x, m^{\eta}(t)) \right] dt + G(x, m^{\eta}(T))$$

$$\leq \left[ T \max_{\overline{\Omega}} L(x, 0) + T \max_{\overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})} |F| + \max_{\overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})} |G| \right].$$
(3.1.2.10)

Using (3.1.1.3) in ((3.1.2.10)), one has that

$$||\dot{\gamma}||_{2} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{c_{1}}} \Big[ T \max_{\overline{\Omega}} L(x,0) + 2T \max_{\overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})} |F| + 2 \max_{\overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})} |G| + Tc_{0} \Big]^{\frac{1}{2}} = K,$$
(3.1.2.11)

where  $c_0$ ,  $c_1$  are the constants in (3.1.1.3). This completes the proof of point (*ii*) since the Hölder regularity of  $\gamma$  is a direct consequence of the estimate (3.1.2.11).

Finally, we claim that, if  $\eta$  is a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$ , then the map  $t \to m^{\eta}(t)$  is  $\frac{1}{2}$ -Hölder continuous with constant K. Indeed, for any  $t_1, t_2 \in [0, T]$ , we have that

$$d_1(m^{\eta}(t_2), m^{\eta}(t_1)) = \sup_{\phi} \int_{\bar{\Omega}} \phi(x) \left( m^{\eta}(t_2, dx) - m^{\eta}(t_1, dx) \right),$$
(3.1.2.12)

where the supremum is taken over the set of all 1-Lipschitz continuous maps  $\phi : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$ . Since  $m^{\eta}(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$  and the map  $\phi$  is 1-Lipschitz continuous, one has that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(x) \left( m^{\eta}(t_2, dx) - m^{\eta}(t_1, dx) \right) = \int_{\Gamma} \left[ \phi(e_{t_2}(\gamma)) - \phi(e_{t_1}(\gamma)) \right] d\eta(\gamma)$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma} \left[ \phi(\gamma(t_2)) - \phi(\gamma(t_1)) \right] d\eta(\gamma) \le \int_{\Gamma} |\gamma(t_2) - \gamma(t_1)| d\eta(\gamma).$$

Since  $\eta$  is a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$ , property (*ii*) yields

$$\int_{\Gamma} |\gamma(t_2) - \gamma(t_1)| \, d\eta(\gamma) \le K \int_{\Gamma} |t_2 - t_1|^{\frac{1}{2}} \, d\eta(\gamma) = K |t_2 - t_1|^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Hence, we conclude that

$$d_1(m^{\eta}(t_2), m^{\eta}(t_1)) \le K |t_2 - t_1|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad \forall t_1, t_2 \in [0, T]$$

and the map  $t \mapsto m^{\eta}(t)$  is 1/2-Hölder continuous.

**LEMMA 3.1.2.6.** Let  $\eta_i, \eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  be such that  $\eta_i$  narrowly converges to  $\eta$ . Let  $x_i \in \overline{\Omega}$  be such that  $x_i \to x$  and let  $\gamma_i \in \Gamma^{\eta_i}[x_i]$  be such that  $\gamma_i \to \overline{\gamma}$ . Then  $\overline{\gamma} \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$ . Consequently,  $\Gamma^{\eta}[\cdot]$  has closed graph.

*Proof.* We want to prove that

$$J_{\eta}[\overline{\gamma}] \le J_{\eta}[\gamma], \quad \forall \gamma \in \Gamma[x] \text{ such that } \int_{0}^{T} |\dot{\gamma}|^{2} dt < \infty.$$
 (3.1.2.13)

We observe that the above request is not restrictive because, by assuption (L2), if  $\int_0^T |\dot{\gamma}|^2 dt = \infty$  then the above inequality is trivial.

Fix  $\gamma \in \Gamma[x]$  with  $\int_0^T |\dot{\gamma}|^2 dt < \infty$ , by PROPOSITION 2.1.0.2, we have that there exists  $\hat{\gamma}_i \in \Gamma[x_i]$  such that  $\hat{\gamma}_i \to \gamma$  uniformly on [0, T],  $\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_i \to \dot{\gamma}$  a.e. on [0, T] and  $|\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_i(t)| \leq C |\dot{\gamma}(t)|$  for any  $i \geq 1$ , a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$ , and some constant  $C \geq 0$ . Since  $\gamma_i \in \Gamma^{\eta_i}[x_i]$ , one has that

$$J_{\eta_i}[\gamma_i] \le J_{\eta_i}[\widehat{\gamma}_i], \quad \forall i \ge 1.$$
(3.1.2.14)

So, in order to prove (3.1.2.13), we have to check that

- (a)  $J_{\eta}[\overline{\gamma}] \leq \liminf_{i \to \infty} J_{\eta_i}[\gamma_i];$
- (b)  $\lim_{i\to+\infty} J_{\eta_i}[\widehat{\gamma}_i] = J_{\eta}[\gamma].$

First we show that (a) holds, that is,

$$\liminf_{i \to \infty} \left\{ \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma_i(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) \right] + F(\gamma_i(t), m^{\eta_i}(t)) dt + G(\gamma_i(T), m^{\eta_i}(T)) \right\} \\
\geq \int_0^T \left[ L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(t)) \right] + F(\overline{\gamma}(t), m^{\eta}(t)) dt + G(\overline{\gamma}(T), m^{\eta}(T)). \quad (3.1.2.15)$$

First of all, we recall that, by LEMMA 3.1.2.1,  $m^{\eta_i}(t)$  narrowly converges to  $m^{\eta}(t)$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . Owing to the convergence of  $\gamma_i$  to  $\overline{\gamma}$ , the narrow convergence of  $m^{\eta_i}(t)$  to  $m^{\eta}(t)$ ,our assumption on F and G, and recalling REMARK 3.1.1.1, we conclude that

$$\int_0^T F(\gamma_i(t), m^{\eta_i}(t)) dt \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} \int_0^T F(\overline{\gamma}(t), m^{\eta}(t)) dt,$$
$$G(\gamma_i(T), m^{\eta_i}(T)) \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} G(\overline{\gamma}(T), m^{\eta}(T)).$$

Up to taking a subsequence of  $\gamma_i$ , we can assume that  $\dot{\gamma}_i \rightharpoonup \dot{\overline{\gamma}}$  in  $L^2(0, T; \mathbb{R}^n)$  without loss of generality. By assumption (L3), one has that

$$\int_0^T L(\gamma_i(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) = \int_0^T L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) dt + \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma_i(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) - L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) \right] dt$$
  

$$\geq \int_0^T \left[ L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(t)) + \langle D_v L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(t)), \dot{\gamma}_i - \dot{\overline{\gamma}} \rangle \right] dt + \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma_i(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) - L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) \right] dt.$$

Since  $\gamma_i \in \Gamma^{\eta_i}[x_i]$  and  $\gamma_i \to \overline{\gamma}$ , by (L1), we obtain

$$\int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma_i(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) - L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\gamma}_i(t)) \right] dt \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} 0.$$

Moreover, since  $\dot{\gamma}_i \rightharpoonup \dot{\overline{\gamma}}$  in  $L^2(0,T;\mathbb{R}^n)$ , one has that

$$\int_0^T \left\langle D_v L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(t)), \dot{\gamma}_i - \dot{\overline{\gamma}} \right\rangle dt \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} 0.$$

Thus, (3.1.2.15) holds.

Finally, we prove (b), i.e.,

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \left\{ \int_0^T L(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_i(t)) + F(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t), m^{\eta_i}(t)) dt + G(\widehat{\gamma}_i(T), m^{\eta_i}(T)) \right\}$$
$$= \int_0^T L(\gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) + F(\gamma(t), m^{\eta}(t)) dt + G(\gamma(T), m^{\eta}(T)).$$

Owing to the convergence of  $\hat{\gamma}_i$  to  $\gamma$ , the narrow convergence of  $m^{\eta_i}(t)$  to  $m^{\eta}(t)$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , and our assumption on F and G, one has that

$$\int_0^T F(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t), m^{\eta_i}(t)) dt \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} \int_0^T F(\gamma(t), m^{\eta}(t)) dt,$$

$$G(\widehat{\gamma}_i(T), m^{\eta_i}(T)) \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} G(\gamma(T), m^{\eta}(T)).$$

Hence, we only need to prove that

$$\liminf_{i \to \infty} \int_0^T L(\widehat{\gamma}_i(t), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_i(t)) dt = \int_0^T L(\gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) dt.$$
(3.1.2.16)

Owing to (L1), one has that

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{0}^{T} \left[ L(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}(t)) - L(\gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) \right] dt \right| \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{T} \left| L(\widehat{\gamma}_{i}(t), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}(t)) - L(\gamma(t), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}(t)) \right| dt + \int_{0}^{T} \left| L(\gamma(t), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}(t)) - L(\gamma(t), \dot{\gamma}(t)) \right| dt \\ & \leq ||\widehat{\gamma}_{i} - \gamma||_{\infty} \int_{0}^{T} \left( 1 + |\dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}|^{2} \right) dt + \int_{0}^{T} \left| \int_{0}^{1} \left\langle D_{v}L(\gamma(t), \lambda \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i} + (1 - \lambda)\dot{\gamma}), \dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}(t) - \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle d\lambda \right| dt \\ & \leq ||\widehat{\gamma}_{i} - \gamma||_{\infty} \int_{0}^{T} \left( 1 + |\dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}|^{2} \right) dt + C \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{1} \left( 1 + |\dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}| + |\dot{\gamma}| \right) |\dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_{i}(t) - \dot{\gamma}(t)| dt. \end{split}$$

Since  $\hat{\gamma}_i \to \gamma$  uniformly on [0, T] and  $|\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_i(t)| \leq C |\dot{\gamma}(t)|$  for any  $i \geq 1$  and for any  $t \in [0, T]$ , we have that

$$||\widehat{\gamma}_i - \gamma||_{\infty} \int_0^T \left(1 + |\dot{\widehat{\gamma}}_i|^2\right) dt \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} 0.$$

In addition, since  $\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_i \to \dot{\gamma}$  a.e. on [0, T], by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem we obtain

$$C \int_0^T \int_0^1 \left( 1 + |\dot{\hat{\gamma}}_i| + |\dot{\gamma}| \right) \left| \dot{\hat{\gamma}}_i(t) - \dot{\gamma}(t) \right| dt \xrightarrow{i \to \infty} 0.$$
(3.1.2.17) oof is complete.

This gives (b) and the proof is complete.

**REMARK 3.1.2.7.** The above proof can be adapted to treat the case of a locally Lipschitz Lagrangian L as was mentioned in **REMARK 3.1.1.1**. Indeed, it suffices to replace the gradient  $D_v L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(t))$  with a measurable selection of the subdifferential  $\partial_v L(\overline{\gamma}(t), \dot{\overline{\gamma}}(t))$ .

#### 3.1.3 **PROOF OF THEOREM 3.1.2.4**

In this section we prove THEOREM 3.1.2.4 using a fixed point argument. First of all, we recall that, by THEOREM 1.2.0.4, for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ , there exists a unique Borel measurable family of probabilities  $\{\eta_x\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  on  $\Gamma$  which disintegrates  $\eta$  in the sense that

$$\begin{cases} \eta(d\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \eta_x(d\gamma) \, dm_0(x), \\ supp(\eta_x) \subset \Gamma[x] \ m_0 - \text{a.e.} \ x \in \overline{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$
(3.1.3.1)

We introduce the set-valued map  $E : \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma) \rightrightarrows \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  by defining, for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ ,

$$E(\eta) = \left\{ \widehat{\eta} \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma) : supp(\widehat{\eta}_x) \subseteq \Gamma^{\eta}[x] \ m_0 - \text{a.e.} \ x \in \overline{\Omega} \right\}.$$
(3.1.3.2)

Then, it is immediate to realize that  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  is a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$  if and only if  $\eta \in E(\eta)$ . We will therefore show that the set-valued map E has a fixed point. For this purpose, we will apply Kakutani's Theorem [55]. The following lemmas are intended to check that the assumptions of such a theorem are satisfied by E.

**LEMMA 3.1.3.1.** For any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ ,  $E(\eta)$  is a nonempty convex set.

Proof. First, we note that  $E(\eta)$  is a nonempty set. Indeed, by (i) of LEMMA 3.1.2.5, LEMMA 3.1.2.6, and [7, Theorem 8.1.4] we have that  $x \mapsto \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$  is measurable. Moreover, by [7, Theorem 8.1.3],  $x \mapsto \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$  has a Borel measurable selection  $x \mapsto \gamma_x^{\eta}$ . Thus, the measure  $\hat{\eta}$ , defined by  $\hat{\eta}(\mathcal{B}) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \delta_{\{\gamma_x^{\eta}\}}(\mathcal{B}) dm_0(x)$  for any  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{B}(\Gamma)$ , belongs to  $E(\eta)$ .

Now we want to check that  $E(\eta)$  is a convex set. Let  $\{\eta_i\}_{i=1,2} \in E(\eta)$  and let  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \ge 0$  be such that  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1$ . Since  $\eta_i$  are Borel probability measures,  $\widehat{\eta} := \lambda_1 \eta_1 + \lambda_2 \eta_2$  is a Borel probability measure as well. Moreover, for any Borel set  $B \in \mathcal{B}(\overline{\Omega})$  we have that

$$e_0 \sharp \widehat{\eta}(B) = \widehat{\eta}(e_0^{-1}(B)) = \sum_{i=1}^2 \lambda_i \eta_i(e_0^{-1}(B)) = \sum_{i=1}^2 \lambda_i e_0 \sharp \eta_i(B) = \sum_{i=1}^2 \lambda_i m_0(B) = m_0(B). \quad (3.1.3.3)$$

So,  $\widehat{\eta} \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ . Since  $\eta_1 \in E(\eta)$ , there exists a unique Borel measurable family of probabilities  $\{\eta_{1,x}\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  on  $\Gamma$  which disintegrates  $\eta_1$  as in (3.1.3.1) and there exists  $A_1 \subset \overline{\Omega}$ , with  $m_0(A_1) = 0$ , such that

$$supp(\eta_{1,x}) \subset \Gamma^{\eta}[x], \quad x \in \overline{\Omega} \setminus A_1.$$
 (3.1.3.4)

In the same way,  $\eta_2(d\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \eta_{2,x}(d\gamma) \, dm_0(x)$  can be disintegrated and one has that

$$supp(\eta_{2,x}) \subset \Gamma^{\eta}[x] \quad x \in \overline{\Omega} \setminus A_2,$$
 (3.1.3.5)

where  $A_2$  is such that  $m_0(A_2) = 0$ . Hence,  $\hat{\eta}$  can be disintegrated in the following way:

$$\begin{cases} \widehat{\eta}(d\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left( \lambda_1 \eta_{1,x} + \lambda_2 \eta_{2,x} \right) (d\gamma) dm_0(x), \\ supp(\lambda_1 \eta_{1,x} + \lambda_2 \eta_{2,x}) \subset \Gamma^{\eta}[x] \quad x \in \overline{\Omega} \setminus (A_1 \cup A_2), \end{cases}$$
(3.1.3.6)

where  $m_0(A_1 \cup A_2) = 0$ . This completes the proof.

**LEMMA 3.1.3.2.** The map  $E : \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma) \rightrightarrows \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  has closed graph.

*Proof.* Let  $\eta_i, \eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  be such that  $\eta_i$  is narrowly convergent to  $\eta$ . Let  $\widehat{\eta}_i \in E(\eta_i)$  be such that  $\widehat{\eta}_i$  is narrowly convergent to  $\widehat{\eta}$ . We have to prove that  $\widehat{\eta} \in E(\eta)$ . Since  $\widehat{\eta}_i$  narrowly converges to  $\widehat{\eta}$ , we have that  $\widehat{\eta} \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  and there exists a unique Borel measurable family of probabilities  $\{\widehat{\eta}_x\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  on  $\Gamma$  such that  $\widehat{\eta}(d\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \widehat{\eta}_x(d\gamma) dm_0(x)$  and  $supp(\widehat{\eta}_x) \subset \Gamma[x]$  for  $m_0$ -a.e.  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Hence,  $\widehat{\eta} \in E(\eta)$  if and only if  $supp(\widehat{\eta}_x) \subseteq \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$  for  $m_0$ -a.e.  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $\Omega_0 \subset \overline{\Omega}$  be an  $m_0$ -null set such that

$$supp(\widehat{\eta}_x) \subset \Gamma[x] \quad \forall x \in \Omega \setminus \Omega_0$$

Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega} \setminus \Omega_0$  and let  $\widehat{\gamma} \in supp(\widehat{\eta}_x)$ . Since  $\widehat{\eta}_i$  narrowly converges to  $\widehat{\eta}$ , then, by PROPOSITION 1.2.0.1, one has that

$$\exists \widehat{\gamma}_i \in supp(\widehat{\eta}_i) \text{ such that } \lim \widehat{\gamma}_i = \widehat{\gamma}.$$

Let  $\widehat{\gamma}_i(0) = x_i$ , with  $x_i \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Since  $\widehat{\eta}_i \in E(\eta_i)$  and  $\widehat{\gamma}_i \in supp(\widehat{\eta}_i)$ , we have that  $\widehat{\gamma}_i$  is an optimal trajectory for  $J_{\eta_i}[\cdot]$ , i.e.,

$$J_{\eta_i}[\widehat{\gamma}_i] \le J_{\eta_i}[\gamma] \quad \forall \gamma \in \Gamma[x_i].$$
(3.1.3.7)

As  $\eta_i$  narrowly converges to  $\eta$ , applying LEMMA 3.1.2.6, we conclude that  $\widehat{\gamma} \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$ . Since x is any point in  $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \Omega_0$ , we have shown that  $\widehat{\eta} \in E(\eta)$ .

We denote by  $\Gamma_K$  the set of trajectories  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  such that  $\gamma$  satisfies (3.1.2.8), i.e.,

$$\Gamma_K = \{ \gamma \in \Gamma : ||\dot{\gamma}||_2 \le K \}$$
(3.1.3.8)

where K is the constant given by (3.1.2.9). By the definition of  $E(\eta)$  in (3.1.3.2) and LEMMA 3.1.2.5, we deduce that

$$E(\eta) \subseteq \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K) \quad \forall \eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma).$$
(3.1.3.9)

**REMARK 3.1.3.3.** In general  $\Gamma$  fails to be complete as a metric space. Then, by THEOREM 1.2.0.2,  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  is not a compact set. On the other hand, if  $\Gamma$  is replaced by  $\Gamma_K$  then  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)$  is a compact convex subset of  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ . Indeed, the convexity of  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)$  follows by the same argument used in the proof of LEMMA 3.1.3.1. As for compactness, let  $\{\eta_k\} \subset \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)$ . Since  $\Gamma_K$  is a compact set,  $\{\eta_k\}$  is tight. So, by PROPOSITION 1.2.0.1, one finds a subsequence, that we denote again by  $\eta_k$ , which narrowly converges to some probability measure  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)$ .

We will restrict domain of interest to  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)$ , where  $\Gamma_K$  is given by (3.1.3.8). Hereafter, we denote by E the restriction  $E_{|_{\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)}}$ .

#### <u>Conclusion</u>

By REMARK 3.1.3.3 and REMARK 3.1.2.2,  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)$  is a nonempty compact convex set. Moreover, by LEMMA 3.1.3.1,  $E(\eta)$  is nonempty convex set for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)$  and, by LEMMA 3.1.3.2, the set-valued map E has closed graph. Then, the assumptions of Kakutani's Theorem are satisfied and so there exists  $\overline{\eta} \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_K)$  such that  $\overline{\eta} \in E(\overline{\eta})$ .

## 3.2 MILD SOLUTION OF THE CONSTRAINED MFG PROBLEM

In this section we define mild solutions of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover, under the assumptions of **SUBSECTION 3.1.1**, we prove the existence of such solutions. Then, we give a uniqueness result under a classical monotonicity assumption on F and G.

**DEFINITION 3.2.0.1.** We say that  $(u, m) \in C([0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}) \times C([0, T]; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$  is a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  if there exists a constrained MFG equilibrium  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  such that

- (i)  $m(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ;
- (ii) u is given by

$$u(t,x) = \inf_{\substack{\gamma \in \Gamma \\ \gamma(t) = x}} \left\{ \int_{t}^{T} \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m(s)) \right] \, ds + G(\gamma(T), m(T)) \right\}, \quad (3.2.0.1)$$

for  $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

A direct consequence of THEOREM 3.1.2.4 is the following result.

**COROLLARY 3.2.0.2.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary and let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ . Suppose that (L1)-(L3) hold true. Let  $F : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $G : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  be continuous. There exists at least one mild solution (u, m) of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Before proving our uniqueness result, we recall the following definitions.

**DEFINITION 3.2.0.3.** We say that  $F : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  is monotone if

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} (F(x, m_1) - F(x, m_2)) d(m_1 - m_2)(x) \ge 0, \qquad (3.2.0.2)$$

for any  $m_1, m_2 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ .

We say that F is strictly monotone if

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} (F(x, m_1) - F(x, m_2)) d(m_1 - m_2)(x) \ge 0, \qquad (3.2.0.3)$$

for any  $m_1, m_2 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $\int_{\overline{\Omega}} (F(x, m_1) - F(x, m_2)) d(m_1 - m_2)(x) = 0$  if and only if  $F(x, m_1) = F(x, m_2)$  for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ .

**Example 3.2.1.** Assume that  $F: \overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  is of the form

$$F(x,m) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} f(y,(\phi \star m)(y))\phi(x-y)\,dy, \qquad (3.2.0.4)$$

where  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is a smooth even kernel with compact support and  $f : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a smooth function such that  $z \to f(x, z)$  is strictly increasing for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Then F satisfies condition (3.2.0.3). Indeed, for any  $m_1, m_2 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ , we have that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} [F(x, m_1) - F(x, m_2)] d(m_1 - m_2)(x)$$
  
=  $\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \int_{\overline{\Omega}} [f(y, (\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y, (\phi \star m_2)(y))] \phi(x - y) dy d(m_1 - m_2)(x)$ 

$$= \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ f(y, (\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y, (\phi \star m_2)(y)) \right] \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(x - y) \, d(m_1 - m_2) \, (x) \, dy$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ f(y, (\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y, (\phi \star m_2)(y)) \right] \left[ (\phi \star m_1)(y) - (\phi \star m_2)(y) \right] \, dy.$$

Since  $z \to f(x, z)$  is increasing, then one has that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ f(y, (\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y, (\phi \star m_2)(y)) \right] \left[ (\phi \star m_1)(y) - (\phi \star m_2)(y) \right] \, dy \ge 0.$$

Moreover, if the term on the left-side above is equal to zero, then we obtain

$$[f(y, (\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y, (\phi \star m_2)(y))] [(\phi \star m_1)(y) - (\phi \star m_2(y))] = 0 \text{ a.e. } y \in \overline{\Omega}.$$

As  $z \to f(x, z)$  is strictly increasing, we deduce that  $\phi \star m_1(y) = \phi \star m_2(y)$  for any  $y \in \overline{\Omega}$  and so  $F(\cdot, m_1) = F(\cdot, m_2)$ .

**THEOREM 3.2.0.4.** Suppose that F and G satisfy (3.2.0.3). Let  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  be constrained MFG equilibria and let  $J_{\eta_1}$  and  $J_{\eta_2}$  be the associated functionals. Then  $J_{\eta_1}$  is equal to  $J_{\eta_2}$ . Consequently, if  $(u_1, m_1), (u_2, m_2)$  are mild solutions of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then  $u_1 = u_2$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  be constrained MFG equilibria, such that  $m_1(t) = e_t \sharp \eta_1$ ,  $m_2(t) = e_t \sharp \eta_2$ and let  $u_1, u_2$  be the value functions of  $J_{\eta_1}$  and  $J_{\eta_2}$ , respectively. Let  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$  and let  $\gamma$  be an optimal trajectory for  $u_1$  at  $(0, x_0)$ . We get

$$u_1(0, x_0) = \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m_1(s)) \right] ds + G(\gamma(T), m_1(T)),$$
  
$$u_2(0, x_0) \le \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m_2(s)) \right] ds + G(\gamma(T), m_2(T)).$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} &G(\gamma(T), m_1(T)) - G(\gamma(T), m_2(T)) \le u_1(0, x_0) - u_2(0, x_0) \\ &- \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m_1(s)) \right] ds + \int_0^T \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m_2(s)) \right] ds \\ &= u_1(0, x_0)) - u_2(0, x_0) + \int_0^T F(\gamma(s), m_2(s)) - F(\gamma(s), m_1(s)) ds. \end{aligned}$$

Recalling that  $supp(\eta_1) \subset \Gamma^{\eta_1}[x_0]$ , we integrate on  $\Gamma$  respect to  $d\eta_1$  to obtain

$$\int_{\Gamma} \left[ G(\gamma(T), m_1(T)) - G(T, m_2(T)) \right] d\eta_1(\gamma) \le \\ \le \int_{\Gamma} \left[ u_1(0, \gamma(0)) - u_2(0, \gamma(0)) \right] d\eta_1(\gamma) + \int_{\Gamma} \int_0^T \left[ F(\gamma(s), m_2(s)) - F(\gamma(s), m_1(s)) \right] ds \, d\eta_1(\gamma)$$

Recalling the definition of  $e_t$  and using the change of variables  $e_t(\gamma) = x$  in the above inequality, we get

$$\int_{\Gamma} \left[ G(\overbrace{\gamma(T)}^{e_{T}(\gamma)}, m_{1}(T)) - G(\overbrace{\gamma(T)}^{e_{T}(\gamma)}, m_{2}(T)) \right] d\eta_{1}(\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ G(x, m_{1}(T)) - G(x, m_{2}(T)) \right] m_{1}(T, dx),$$

$$\int_{\Gamma} \left[ u_{1}(0, \overbrace{\gamma(0)}^{e_{0}(\gamma)}) - u_{2}(0, \overbrace{\gamma(0)}^{e_{0}(\gamma)}) \right] d\eta_{1}(\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ u_{1}(0, x) - u_{2}(0, x) \right] m_{1}(0, dx),$$

and

$$\int_0^T \int_{\Gamma} \left[ F(\widehat{\gamma(s)}, m_2(s)) - F(\widehat{\gamma(s)}, m_1(s)) \right] d\eta_1(\gamma) \, ds$$
$$= \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ F(x, m_2(s)) - F(x, m_1(s)) \right] m_1(s, dx) \, ds.$$

So, we deduce that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ G(x, m_1(T)) - G(x, m_2(T)) \right] m_1(T, dx)$$

$$\leq \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ u_1(0, x) - u_2(0, x) \right] m_1(0, dx) + \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ F(x, m_2(s)) - F(x, m_1(s)) m_1(s, dx) \right] ds.$$
(3.2.0.5)

In a similar way, we obtain

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ G(x, m_2(T)) - G(x, m_1(T)) \right] m_2(T, dx)$$

$$\leq \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ u_2(0, x) - u_1(0, x) \right] m_2(0, dx) + \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ F(x, m_1(s)) - F(x, m_2(s)) \right] m_2(s, dx) \, ds.$$
(3.2.0.6)

Summing the inequalities (3.2.0.5) and (3.2.0.6), we deduce that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} [G(x, m_1(T)) - G(x, m_2(T))] (m_1(T, dx) - m_2(T, dx))$$
  

$$\leq \int_{\overline{\Omega}} [u_1(0, x) - u_2(0, x)] (m_1(0, dx) - m_2(0, dx))$$
  

$$+ \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ F(x, m_2(s)) - F(x, m_1(s)) \right] (m_1(s, dx) - m_2(s, dx)) ds$$

Since  $m_1(0, dx) = m_2(0, dx) = m_0(dx)$ , by using the monotonicity assumption on G and F, we obtain that

$$0 \ge \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ F(x, m_2(s)) - F(x, m_1(s)) \right] (m_1(s, dx) - m_2(s, dx)) \, ds \ge \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ G(x, m_1(T)) - G(x, m_2(T)) \right] (m_1(T, dx) - m_2(T, dx)) \ge 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ F(x, m_2(s)) - F(x, m_1(s)) \right] (m_1(s, dx) - m_2(s, dx)) = 0 \quad \text{a.e. } s \in [0, T],$$

and also

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ G(x, m_1(T)) - G(x, m_2(T)) \right] (m_1(T, dx) - m_2(T, dx)) = 0$$

Thus, by the strict monotonicity of F and G, we conclude that  $F(x, m_1) = F(x, m_2)$  for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $G(x, m_1) = G(x, m_2)$  for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Consequently, we have that  $J_{\eta_1}$  is equal to  $J_{\eta_2}$ .

**COROLLARY 3.2.0.5.** Suppose that G satisfies (3.2.0.2) and F satisfies the following condition

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ F(x, m_1) - F(x, m_2) \right] d(m_1 - m_2)(x) > 0$$
(3.2.0.7)

for any  $m_1, m_2 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  with  $m_1 \neq m_2$ . Then there exists a unique mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  be constrained MFG equilibria, such that  $m_1(t) = e_t \sharp \eta_1$ ,  $m_2(t) = e_t \sharp \eta_2$ and let  $u_1, u_2$  be the value functions of  $J_{\eta_1}$  and  $J_{\eta_2}$ , respectively. By THEOREM 3.2.0.4 we obtain that  $u_1$  is equal to  $u_2$ . Moreover, by (3.2.0.7) we have that  $m_1(t) = m_2(t)$  a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$ . This completes the proof.

**Example 3.2.2.** Assume that  $F: \overline{\Omega} \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  is of the form

$$F(x,m) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} f(y,(\phi \star m)(y))\phi(x-y) \, dy \tag{3.2.0.8}$$

where  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is a smooth, even kernel with compact support and its Fourier trasform is not equal to zero almost everywhere, and  $f : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a smooth map such that  $z \to f(x, z)$  is strictly increasing for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Then F satisfies the condition (3.2.0.7).

Indeed, for any  $m_1, m_2 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ , we have that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\overline{\Omega}} [F(x,m_1) - F(x,m_2)] \, d(m_1 - m_2)(x) \\ &= \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \int_{\overline{\Omega}} [f(y,(\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y,(\phi \star m_2)(y))] \phi(x-y) \, dy \, d(m_1 - m_2)(x) \\ &= \int_{\overline{\Omega}} [f(y,(\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y,(\phi \star m_2)(y))] \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(x-y) \, d(m_1 - m_2)(x) \, dy \\ &= \int_{\overline{\Omega}} [f(y,(\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y,(\phi \star m_2)(y))] [(\phi \star m_1)(y) - (\phi \star m_2(y))] \, dy. \end{split}$$

Since  $z \to f(x, z)$  is increasing, then one has that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} [f(y, (\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y, (\phi \star m_2)(y))] [(\phi \star m_1)(y) - (\phi \star m_2(y))] \, dy \ge 0.$$

Morover, if the term on the left-side above is equal to zero, then we obtain

$$[f(y, (\phi \star m_1)(y)) - f(y, (\phi \star m_2)(y))][(\phi \star m_1)(y) - (\phi \star m_2)(y)] = 0 \text{ a.e. } y \in \overline{\Omega}.$$

As  $z \to f(x, z)$  is strictly increasing then  $\phi \star m_1(y) = \phi \star m_2(y)$  for a.e.  $y \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Set  $M = m_1 - m_2$ then one has that  $\phi \star M = 0$  for a.e.  $y \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Since Fourier trasform  $\mathcal{F}$  is an isomorphism in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ then  $\mathcal{F}(\phi \star M) = 0$  a.e.. Recalling the properties of Fourier trasform, we have that  $\mathcal{F}(\phi \star M) =$  $\mathcal{F}(\phi)\mathcal{F}(M) = 0$  a.e. As  $\mathcal{F}(\phi) \neq 0$  then  $\mathcal{F}(M) = 0$  a.e. Moreover, since  $\mathcal{F}$  is an injective function from  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$  then M = 0 a.e. and so  $m_1 = m_2$  a.e.

# CHAPTER 4

## **REGULARITY OF MILD SOLUTIONS**

4.1 ASSUMPTIONS	69
4.2 THE EXISTENCE RESULT	71
4.3 REGULARITY OF MILD SOLUTIONS	74

In this Chapter, we are interested to study the regularity of mild solutions. To this aim, in SECTION 4.2 we apply THEOREM 2.3.0.1 to deduce the existence of more regular equilibria than those constructed in CHAPTER 3. Under suitable assumptions (SECTION 4.1) we prove the existence of Lipschitz continuous mild solutions (THEOREM 4.3.0.1). Moreover, given a mild solution (u, m), we show that u is locally semiconcave with linear modulus in  $\Omega$ . While, using THEOREM 2.5.0.1, we deduce that u is locally semiconcave with modulus  $\omega(r) = Cr^{\frac{1}{2}}$  in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

### 4.1 **ASSUMPTIONS**

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let U be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and such that  $\overline{\Omega} \subset U$ . Assume that  $F: U \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $G: U \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfy the following hypotheses.

(D1) For all  $x \in U$ , the functions  $m \mapsto F(x, m)$  and  $m \mapsto G(x, m)$  are Lipschitz continuous, i.e., there exists  $\kappa \ge 0$  such that

$$|F(x,m_1) - F(x,m_2)| + |G(x,m_1) - G(x,m_2)| \le \kappa d_1(m_1,m_2), \tag{4.1.0.1}$$

for any  $m_1, m_2 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ .

(D2) For all  $m \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ , the functions  $x \mapsto G(x, m)$  and  $x \mapsto F(x, m)$  belong to  $C_b^1(U)$ . Moreover

$$|D_x F(x,m)| + |D_x G(x,m)| \le \kappa, \quad \forall \ x \in U, \ \forall \ m \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}).$$

(D3) For all  $m \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ , the function  $x \mapsto F(x, m)$  is semiconcave with modulus linear.

Let  $L: U \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a function that satisfies the following assumptions.

(L0)  $L \in C^1(U \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  and there exists a constant  $M \ge 0$  such that

$$|L(x,0)| + |D_x L(x,0)| + |D_v L(x,0)| \le M, \quad \forall x \in U.$$
(4.1.0.2)

(L1)  $D_vL$  is differentiable on  $U \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and there exists a constant  $\mu \ge 1$  such that

$$\frac{I}{\mu} \le D_{vv}^2 L(x, v) \le I\mu, \tag{4.1.0.3}$$

$$||D_{vx}^2 L(x,v)|| \le \mu (1+|v|), \tag{4.1.0.4}$$

for all  $(x, v) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ .

(L2) For all  $x \in U$  and for all  $v, w \in B_R$ , there exists a constant  $C(R) \ge 0$  such that

$$|D_x L(x, v) - D_x L(x, w)| \le C(R)|v - w|.$$
(4.1.0.5)

(L3) For any R > 0 the map  $x \mapsto L(x, v)$  is semiconcave with linear modulus independent of v for  $v \in B_R$ .

**REMARK 4.1.0.1.** (i) F, G and L are assumed to be defined on  $U \times \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  and on  $U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , respectively, just for simplicity. All the results of this Chapter hold true if we replace U by  $\overline{\Omega}$ . This fact can be easly checked by using well-known extension techniques (see, e.g. [5, Theorem 4.26]).

(ii) Arguing as LEMMA 2.2.0.4 we deduce that there exists a positive constant  $C(\mu, M)$  that dependes only on M,  $\mu$  such that

$$|D_x L(x,v)| \le C(\mu, M)(1+|v|^2), \tag{4.1.0.6}$$

$$|D_v L(x,v)| \le C(\mu, M)(1+|v|),, \qquad (4.1.0.7)$$

$$\frac{|v|^2}{4\mu} - C(\mu, M) \le L(x, v) \le 4\mu |v|^2 + C(\mu, M), \tag{4.1.0.8}$$

for all  $(x, v) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Let  $m \in \text{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ . If we set f(t, x, v) = L(x, v) + F(x, m(t)), then the associated Hamiltonian H takes the form

$$H(t, x, p) = H_L(x, p) - F(x, m(t)), \quad \forall (t, x, p) \in [0, T] \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where

$$H_L(x,p) = \sup_{v \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left\{ -\langle p, v \rangle - L(x,v) \right\}, \quad \forall (x,p) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(4.1.0.9)

Hereafter, for simplicity, we denote by H(x, p) the Hamiltonian  $H_L(x, p)$  defined in (4.1.0.9).

Arguing as in LEMMA 2.2.0.4, the assumptions on L imply that H satisfies the following conditions.

(H0)  $H \in C^1(U \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  and there exists a constant  $M' \ge 0$  such that

$$|H(x,0)| + |D_x H(x,0)| + |D_p H(x,0)| \le M', \quad \forall x \in U.$$
(4.1.0.10)

(H1)  $D_pH$  is differentiable on  $U \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and satisfies

$$\frac{I}{\mu} \le D_{pp}H(x,p) \le I\mu, \qquad \forall (x,p) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^n, \qquad (4.1.0.11)$$

$$||D_{px}^{2}H(x,p)|| \le C(\mu, M')(1+|p|), \quad \forall (x,p) \in U \times \mathbb{R}^{n},$$
(4.1.0.12)

where  $C(\mu, M')$  depends only on  $\mu$  and M'.

(H2) For all  $x \in U$  and for all  $p, q \in B_R$ , there exists a constant  $C(R) \ge 0$  such that

$$|D_x H(x,p) - D_x H(x,q)| \le C(R)|p-q|.$$
(4.1.0.13)

(H3) For any R > 0 the map  $x \mapsto H(x, p)$  is semiconvex with linear modulus independent of p for  $p \in B_R$ .

## 4.2 THE EXISTENCE RESULT

Let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ . Let  $\Gamma'$  be a nonempty subset of  $\Gamma$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma')$  the set of all Borel probability measures  $\eta$  on  $\Gamma'$  such that  $e_0 \sharp \eta = m_0$ . We now introduce special subfamilies of  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  that play a key role in what follows.

**DEFINITION 4.2.0.1.** We define by  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma')$  the set of  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma')$  such that  $m^{\eta}(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$  is Lipschitz continuous, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\operatorname{Lip}}(\Gamma') = \{ \eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma') : m \in \operatorname{Lip}(0,T;\mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})) \}.$$

**REMARK 4.2.0.2.** Arguing as in **REMARK 3.1.2.2**, we observe that  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\operatorname{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  is a nonempty set. Moreover,  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\operatorname{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  is a convex set. Indeed, let  $\{\eta_i\}_{i=1,2} \subset \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\operatorname{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  be such that  $m_1(t) = e_t \sharp \eta_1$  and  $m_2(t) = e_t \sharp \eta_2$  belong to  $(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ . Let  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \geq 0$  be such that  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1$ . Since  $\eta_i$  are Borel probability measures,  $\eta := \lambda \eta_1 + (1 - \lambda) \eta_2$  is a Borel probability measure as well. Moreover, for any Borel set  $B \in \mathcal{B}(\overline{\Omega})$  we have that

$$e_0 \sharp \eta(B) = \eta(e_0^{-1}(B)) = \sum_{i=1}^2 \lambda_i \eta_i(e_0^{-1}(B)) = \sum_{i=1}^2 \lambda_i e_0 \sharp \eta_i(B) = \sum_{i=1}^2 \lambda_i m_0(B) = m_0(B).$$

So,  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ . Since  $m_1, m_2 \in \operatorname{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ , we have that  $m(t) = \lambda_1 m_1(t) + \lambda_2 m_2(t)$  belongs to  $\operatorname{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ .

In the next result, we apply THEOREM 2.3.0.1 to prove a useful property of minimizers of  $J_{\eta}$ .

**PROPOSITION 4.2.0.3.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary and let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ . Suppose that (L0), (L1), (D1), and (D2) hold true. Let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  and fix  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Then  $\Gamma^{\eta}[x] \subset C^{1,1}([0,T];\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$||\dot{\gamma}||_{\infty} \le L_0, \quad \forall \gamma \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x], \tag{4.2.0.1}$$

where  $L_0 = L_0(\mu, M', M, \kappa, T, ||G||_{\infty}, ||DG||_{\infty}).$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\operatorname{Lip}}(\Gamma)$ ,  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $\gamma \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$ . Since  $m \in \operatorname{Lip}(0,T;\mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ , taking f(t,x,v) = L(x,v) + F(x,m(t)), one can easly check that all the assumptions of THEOREM 2.3.0.1 are satisfied by f and G. Therefore, we have that  $\Gamma^{\eta}[x] \subset C^{1,1}([0,T];\mathbb{R}^n)$  and, in this case, (2.3.0.3) becomes

$$||\dot{\gamma}||_{\infty} \le L_0, \quad \forall \gamma \in \Gamma^{\eta}[x]$$

where  $L_0 = L_0(\mu, M', M, \kappa, T, ||G||_{\infty}, ||DG||_{\infty}).$ 

We denote by  $\Gamma_{L_0}$  the set of  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  such that (4.2.0.1) holds, i.e.,

$$\Gamma_{L_0} = \{ \gamma \in \Gamma : ||\dot{\gamma}||_{\infty} \le L_0 \}.$$
(4.2.0.2)

**LEMMA 4.2.0.4.** Let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ . Then,  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  is a nonempty convex compact subset of  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ . Moreover, for every  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_{L_0})$ ,  $m(t) := e_t \sharp \eta$  is Lipschitz continuous of constant  $L_0$ , where  $L_0$  is as in **PROPOSITION 4.2.0.3**.

*Proof.* Arguing as in REMARK 4.2.0.2, we obtain that  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  is a nonempty convex set. Moreover, since  $\Gamma_{L_0}$  is compactly embedded in  $\Gamma$ , one has that  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  is compact. Let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  and  $m(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$ . For any  $t_1, t_2 \in [0, T]$ , we recall that

$$d_1(m(t_2), m(t_1)) = \sup \Big\{ \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(x)(m(t_2, dx) - m(t_1, dx)) \ \Big| \ \phi : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ is 1-Lipschitz} \Big\}.$$

Since  $\phi$  is 1-Lipschitz continuous, one has that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(x) \left( m(t_2, dx) - m(t_1, dx) \right) = \int_{\Gamma} \left[ \phi(e_{t_2}(\gamma)) - \phi(e_{t_1}(\gamma)) \right] d\eta(\gamma)$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma} \left[ \phi(\gamma(t_2)) - \phi(\gamma(t_1)) \right] d\eta(\gamma) \le \int_{\Gamma} |\gamma(t_2) - \gamma(t_1)| d\eta(\gamma).$$

Since  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_{L_0})$ , we deduce that

$$\int_{\Gamma} |\gamma(t_2) - \gamma(t_1)| \, d\eta(\gamma) \le L_0 \int_{\Gamma} |t_2 - t_1| \, d\eta(\gamma) = L_0 |t_2 - t_1|$$

and so m(t) is Lipschitz continuous of constant  $L_0$ .

In the next result, we deduce the existence of more regular equilibria than those constructed in CHAP-TER 3.

**THEOREM 4.2.0.5.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary and let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ . Suppose that (L0), (L1), (D1), and (D2) hold true. Then, there exists at least one constrained MFG equilibrium  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$ .

*Proof.* First of all, we recall that for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$ , there exists a unique Borel measurable family <sup>1</sup> of probabilities  $\{\eta_x\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  on  $\Gamma$  which disintegrates  $\eta$  in the sense that

$$\begin{cases} \eta(d\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \eta_x(d\gamma) m_0(dx), \\ supp(\eta_x) \subset \Gamma[x] \ m_0 - \text{a.e.} \ x \in \overline{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.0.3)

Proceeding as in **SUBSECTION 3.1.3**, we introduce the set-valued map

$$E: \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma) \rightrightarrows \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma),$$

by defining, for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$ ,

$$E(\eta) = \left\{ \widehat{\eta} \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma) : supp(\widehat{\eta}_x) \subseteq \Gamma^{\eta}[x] \ m_0 - \text{a.e.} \ x \in \overline{\Omega} \right\}.$$
(4.2.0.4)

We recall that, by LEMMA 3.1.3.2, the map E has closed graph. Now, consider the restriction  $E_0$  of E to  $\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$ , i.e.,

$$E_0: \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\mathrm{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0}) \rightrightarrows \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma), \quad E_0(\eta) = E(\eta) \ \forall \eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\mathrm{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0}).$$

We will show that the set-valued map  $E_0$  has a fixed point, i.e., there exists  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  such that  $\eta \in E_0(\eta)$ . By LEMMA 3.1.3.1 we have that for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$ ,  $E_0(\eta)$  is a nonempty convex set. Moreover, we have that

$$E_0(\mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\operatorname{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})) \subseteq \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\operatorname{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0}).$$
(4.2.0.5)

Indeed, let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  and  $\hat{\eta} \in E_0(\eta)$ . Since, by **PROPOSITION 4.2.0.3** one has that

$$\Gamma^{\eta}[x] \subset \Gamma_{L_0} \quad \forall x \in \overline{\Omega},$$

and by definition of  $E_0$  we deduce that

$$supp(\widehat{\eta}) \subset \Gamma_{L_0}.$$

So,  $\widehat{\eta} \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma_{L_0})$ . By Lemma 4.2.0.4,  $\widehat{\eta} \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$ .

Since E has closed graph, by LEMMA 4.2.0.4 and (4.2.0.5) we have that  $E_0$  has closed graph as well. Then, the assumptions of Kakutani's Theorem [55] are satisfied and so, there exists  $\overline{\eta} \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma_{L_0})$  such that  $\overline{\eta} \in E_0(\overline{\eta})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We say that  $\{\eta_x\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  is a Borel family (of probability measures) if  $x\in\overline{\Omega} \mapsto \eta_x(B) \in \mathbb{R}$  is Borel for any Borel set  $B \subset \Gamma$ .

### 4.3 **REGULARITY OF MILD SOLUTIONS**

In this section, we deduce the existence of more regular mild solutions than those constructed in CHAP-TER 3.

A direct consequence of **PROPOSITION 2.4.0.3** is the existence of Lipschitz continuous mild solutions.

**THEOREM 4.3.0.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Suppose that (L0), (L1), (D1) and (D2) hold true. There exists at least one mild solution (u, m) of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover,

- (i) u is Lipschitz continuous in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ ;
- (ii)  $m \in \text{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$  and  $\text{Lip}(m) = L_0$ , where  $L_0$  is the constant in (4.2.0.1).

Proof. Let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  and let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  be a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$ . Then, by THEOREM 4.2.0.5 there exists at least one mild solution (u, m) of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover, by THEOREM 4.2.0.5 one has that  $m \in \text{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$  and  $\text{Lip}(m) = L_0$ , where  $L_0$  is the constant in (4.2.0.1). Finally, by PROPOSITION 2.4.0.3 we conclude that u is Lipschitz continuous in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

Applying LEMMA 2.5.1.1 and PROPOSITION 2.4.0.4, respectively, we obtain the following results.

**COROLLARY 4.3.0.2.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Suppose that (L0)-(L3), (D1)-(D3) hold true. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Then, u is locally semiconcave with modulus  $\omega(r) = Cr^{\frac{1}{2}}$  in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

**COROLLARY 4.3.0.3.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Suppose that (L0)-(L3) and (D1)-(D3) hold true. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Then, u is locally semiconcave with linear modulus in  $\Omega$ .

# CHAPTER 5

# MEAN FIELD GAMES SYSTEM

5.1	HAMILTON-JACOBY-BELLMAN EQUATION	77
5.2	THE CONTINUITY EQUATION	86

This Chapter is devoted to prove that Lipschitz continuous mild solutions (u, m) of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  solve a MFG system. More precisely, we show that

(i) u is a constrained viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t u + H(x, Du) = F(x, m(t)) & \text{ in } (0, T) \times \overline{\Omega} \\ u(x, T) = G(x, m(T)) & \text{ in } \overline{\Omega}; \end{cases}$$

(ii) there exists  $V : [0,T] \times \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^n$  Borel measurable vector field such that m is a solution in the sense of distribution of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t m + div(V m) = 0, & \text{ in } [0, T] \times \overline{\Omega} \\ m(0, x) = m_0(x) & \text{ in } \overline{\Omega} \end{cases}$$

that is, for all  $\phi \in C^1([0,T] \times \overline{\Omega})$  one has that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(0,x) m_0(dx) - \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(T,x) m(T,dx) = \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ \partial_t \phi(t,x) + \langle \nabla \phi(t,x), V(t,x) \rangle \right] m(t,dx) dt$$

Moreover, we will give an explicit form of V. More precisely, for all  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega$  with x in the support of m(t) one has that

$$V(t,x) = -D_p H(x, Du(t,x)),$$

and

$$V(t,x) = -D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda_+(t,x)\nu(x)),$$

for all  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \partial \Omega$  with x in the support of m(t).

### 5.1 HAMILTON-JACOBY-BELLMAN EQUATION

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Assume that H, F and G satisfy the assumptions in SECTION 4.1. Let  $m \in \text{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ . Consider the following equation

$$-\partial_t u + H(x, Du) = F(x, m(t)) \quad \text{in } (0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}.$$
(5.1.0.1)

We recall the definition of constrained viscosity solution.

**DEFINITION 5.1.0.1.** Let  $u \in C((0,T) \times \overline{\Omega})$ . We say that:

(i) *u* is a viscosity supersolution of (5.1.0.1) in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$  if

$$-\partial_t \phi(t, x) + H(x, D\phi(t, x)) \ge F(x, m(t)),$$

for any  $\phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$  such that  $u - \phi$  has a local minimum, relative to  $(0,T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ , at  $(t,x) \in (0,T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ ;

(ii) u is a viscosity subsolution of (5.1.0.1) in  $(0,T) \times \Omega$  if

$$-\partial_t \phi(t, x) + H(x, D\phi(t, x)) \le F(x, m(t)),$$

for any  $\phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$  such that  $u - \phi$  has a local maximum, relative to  $(0, T) \times \Omega$ , at  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega$ ;

(iii) u is constrained viscosity solution of (5.1.0.1) in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$  if it is a subsolution in  $(0, T) \times \Omega$  and a supersolution in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

**REMARK 5.1.0.2.** Owing to PROPOSITION 1.3.0.4, DEFINITION 5.1.0.1 can be expressed in terms of subdifferential and superdifferential, i.e.,

$$- p_1 + H(x, p_2) \le F(x, m(t)) \quad \forall (t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega, \ \forall (p_1, p_2) \in D^+ u(t, x), \\ - p_1 + H(x, p_2) \ge F(x, m(t)) \quad \forall (t, x) \in (0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}, \ \forall (p_1, p_2) \in D^- u(t, x).$$

A direct consequence of the definition of mild solution is the following result.

**PROPOSITION 5.1.0.3.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let H and F satisfy hypotheses (H0)-(H3) and (D1)-(D3), respectively. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Then, u is a constrained viscosity solution of (5.1.0.1) in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

**REMARK 5.1.0.4.** Given  $m \in \text{Lip}(0, T; \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega}))$ , it is known that u is the unique constrained viscosity solution of (5.1.0.1) in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

For simplicity, we set

$$Q_m = \{(t,x) \in (0,T) \times \Omega : x \in supp(m(t))\}, \quad \partial Q_m = \{(t,x) \in (0,T) \times \partial \Omega : x \in supp(m(t))\}.$$

**THEOREM 5.1.0.5.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let H and F satisfy hypotheses (H0)-(H3) and (D1)-(D3), respectively. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and let  $(t, x) \in Q_m$ . Then,

$$-p_1 + H(x, p_2) = F(x, m(t)), \quad \forall (p_1, p_2) \in D^+ u(t, x).$$
(5.1.0.2)

*Proof.* Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Since u is a constrained viscosity solution of (5.1.0.1) in  $\overline{\Omega}$ , we know that

$$-p_1 + H(x, p_2) \le F(x, m(t)) \quad \forall (t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega, \quad \forall (p_1, p_2) \in D^+ u(t, x).$$

So, it suffices to prove that the converse inequality also holds. Let us take  $(t, x) \in Q_m$  and  $(p_1, p_2) \in D^+u(t, x)$ . Since  $(t, x) \in Q_m$ , then there exists an optimal trajectory  $\gamma : [0, T] \to \overline{\Omega}$  such that  $\gamma(t) = x$ . Let  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  be small enough and such that  $0 \le t - r \le t$ . Since  $(p_1, p_2) \in D^+u(t, x)$  one has that

$$u(t-r,\gamma(t-r)) - u(t,x) \le -p_1r - \langle p_2, x - \gamma(t-r) \rangle + o(r)$$

Since

$$x - \gamma(t - r) = \int_{t-r}^{t} \dot{\gamma}(s) \, ds,$$

we get

$$\langle p_2, x - \gamma(t - r) \rangle = \int_{t-r}^t \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle \, ds.$$
(5.1.0.3)

By the dynamic programming principle and (5.1.0.3) one has that

$$\int_{t-r}^{t} \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m(s)) \right] ds = u(t-r, \gamma(t-r)) - u(t, x)$$
$$\leq -\int_{t-r}^{t} \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle \, ds - p_1 r + o(r).$$

By our assumptions on L and F and by THEOREM 2.3.0.1, one has that

$$L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) = L(x, \dot{\gamma}(t)) + o(r),$$
  

$$F(\gamma(s), m(s)) = F(x, m(t)) + o(r),$$
  

$$\langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle = \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle + o(r),$$
  
(5.1.0.4)

for all  $s \in [t - r, t]$ . Hence,

,

$$-p_1 - \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle - L(x, \dot{\gamma}(t)) \ge F(x, m(t)),$$

and so by the definition of H we conclude that

$$-p_1 + H(x, p_2) = -p_1 + \sup_{v \in \mathbb{R}^n} \{ -\langle p, v \rangle - L(x, v) \} \ge -p_1 - \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle - L(x, \dot{\gamma}(t)) \ge F(x, m(t)).$$

This completes the proof.

**PROPOSITION 5.1.0.6.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let H and F satisfy the hypotheses (H0)-(H3) and (D1)-(D3), respectively. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and let  $(t, x) \in Q_m$ . Then, u is differentiable at (t, x).

*Proof.* By THEOREM 5.1.0.5 one has that

$$-p_1 + H(x, p_2) = F(x, m(t)) \ \forall (t, x) \in Q_m, \ \forall (p_1, p_2) \in D^+ u(t, x).$$

Since  $H(x, \cdot)$  is strictly convex and  $D^+u(t, x)$  is a convex set, the above equality implies that  $D^+u(t, x)$  is a singleton. By COROLLARY 4.3.0.2, and by [24, Proposition 3.3.4] one has that u is differentiable at (t, x).

Let  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . We denote by  $H^{\tau} : \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  the tangential Hamiltonian

$$H^{\tau}(x,p) = \sup_{\substack{v \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ (v,\nu(x)) = 0}} \{-\langle p,v \rangle - L(x,v)\},$$
(5.1.0.5)

where  $\nu(x)$  is the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  in x.

**THEOREM 5.1.0.7.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let H and F satisfy hypotheses (H0)-(H3) and (D1)-(D3), respectively. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ . Then,

$$-p_1 + H^{\tau}(x, p_2) = F(x, m(t)), \quad \forall \ (p_1, p_2) \in D^+ u(t, x).$$
(5.1.0.6)

Before giving the proof, let us prove a technical lemma.

**LEMMA 5.1.0.8.** Let  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. Let  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $\langle v, \nu(x) \rangle = 0$ . Then, there exists  $\widehat{\gamma} \in \Gamma_t[x]$  such that  $\dot{\widehat{\gamma}}(t) = v$ .

*Proof.* Let  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \partial \Omega$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. Let  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $\langle v, \nu(x) \rangle = 0$ . Let R > 0 be small enough and let  $\gamma$  be the trajectory defined by

$$\gamma(s) = x + (s - t)v,$$

for all s such that |s - t| < R. We denote by  $\widehat{\gamma}$  the projection of  $\gamma$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , i.e.,

$$\widehat{\gamma}(s) = \gamma(s) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s))Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)),$$

for all s such that |s - t| < R. By construction we observe that  $\hat{\gamma} \in \Gamma_t[x]$ . We only have to prove that  $\dot{\hat{\gamma}}(t) = v$ . Hence, recalling that  $d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t)) = 0$  one has that

$$\frac{\widehat{\gamma}(s) - x}{s - t} = v - \frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s))Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s))}{s - t} = v - \left(\frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t))}{s - t}\right)Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(s))$$

By LEMMA 2.1.0.1, and by the definition of  $\gamma$  we have that

$$\left|\frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t))}{s - t}\right| = \left|\int_{t}^{s} \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(r)), \dot{\gamma}(r) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\Omega^{c}} dr\right| \leq \int_{t}^{s} |\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(r)), \dot{\gamma}(r) \rangle| dr.$$

Since  $r \mapsto \langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(r)), \gamma(r) \rangle$  is a continuous function, for  $r \to 0$  one has that

$$\int_t^s |\langle Db_{\Omega}(\gamma(r)), \gamma(r) \rangle| \, dr \to 0.$$

Hence,

$$\left|\frac{d_{\Omega}(\gamma(s)) - d_{\Omega}(\gamma(t))}{s - t}\right| \to 0,$$

and so  $\dot{\widehat{\gamma}}(t) = v$ . This completes the proof.

Proof of THEOREM 5.1.0.7. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Let us take  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$  and  $(p_1, p_2) \in D^+u(t, x)$ . Let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  in x. Let  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $\langle v, \nu(x) \rangle = 0$ . Let r > 0 be small enough and such that 0 < t < t + r < T. By LEMMA 5.1.0.8 there exists  $\gamma \in \Gamma_t[x]$  such that  $\dot{\gamma}(t) = v$ . Since  $(p_1, p_2) \in D^+u(t, x)$  one has that

$$u(t+r,\gamma(t+r)) - u(t,x) \le \langle p_2,\gamma(t+r) - x \rangle + rp_1 + o(r).$$
(5.1.0.7)

By the dynamic programming principle we have that

$$u(t+r,\gamma(t+r)) - u(t,x) \ge -\int_{t}^{t+r} \left[ L(\gamma(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s),m(s)) \right] ds.$$
(5.1.0.8)

Moreover,

$$\langle p_2, \gamma(t+r) - x \rangle = \int_t^{t+r} \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle \, ds.$$
(5.1.0.9)

Using (5.1.0.8) and (5.1.0.9) in (5.1.0.7), we deduce that

$$-\int_{t}^{t+r} \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m(s)) + \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle \right] ds - rp_1 \le o(r).$$

By our assumptions on L and F and by THEOREM 2.3.0.1, one has that

$$L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) = L(x, \dot{\gamma}(t)) + o(r),$$
  

$$F(\gamma(s), m(s)) = F(x, m(t)) + o(r),$$
  

$$\langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle = \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle + o(r),$$
  
(5.1.0.10)

for all  $s \in [t, t + r]$ . Using (5.1.0.10), dividing by r, and passing to the limit for  $r \to 0$  we obtain that

$$-p_1 - \langle p_2, v \rangle - L(x, v) - F(x, m(t)) \le 0.$$
(5.1.0.11)

By the arbitrariness of v, and by the definition of  $H^{\tau}$  (5.1.0.11) implies that

$$-p_1 + H^{\tau}(x, p_2) \le F(x, m(t)).$$

Now, we prove that the converse inequality also holds. Let  $\gamma : [0,T] \to \overline{\Omega}$  be an optimal trajectory and such that  $\gamma(t) = x$ . Since  $\gamma(t) \in \partial\Omega$ , and  $\gamma(s) \in \overline{\Omega}$  for all  $s \in [0,T]$  one has that  $\langle \dot{\gamma}(t), \nu(x) \rangle = 0$ . Let r > 0 be small enough and such that  $0 < t - r \leq t$ . Since  $(p_1, p_2) \in D^+u(t, x)$ , and by the dynamic programming principle one has that

$$\int_{t-r}^{t} \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m(s)) \right] ds = u(t-r, \gamma(t-r)) - u(t, \gamma(t))$$
  
$$\leq -\langle p_2, \gamma(t) - \gamma(t-r) \rangle - rp_1 + o(r).$$

Hence, we obtain that

$$\int_{t-r}^{t} \left[ L(\gamma(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)) + F(\gamma(s), m(s)) + \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle \right] ds + rp_1 \le o(r).$$

Arguing as above we deduce that

$$-p_1 - [\langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle + L(x, \dot{\gamma}(t))] \ge F(x, m(t)).$$

Since  $\langle \dot{\gamma}(t), \nu(x) \rangle = 0$ , and by the definition of  $H^{\tau}$  we conclude that

$$-p_1 + H^{\tau}(x, p_2) = -p_1 + \sup_{\substack{v \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \langle v, \nu(x) \rangle = 0}} \{-\langle p_2, v \rangle - L(x, v)\}$$
$$\geq -p_1 - \langle p_2, \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle - L(x, \dot{\gamma}(t)) \geq F(x, m(t)).$$

This completes the proof.

**REMARK 5.1.0.9.** Let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ . By the definition of  $H^{\tau}$  for all  $p \in D_x^+ u(t, x)$  one has that

$$H^{\tau}(x,p) = H^{\tau}(x,p^{\tau}), \qquad (5.1.0.12)$$

where  $p^{\tau}$  is the tangential component of p.

In the next result, we give a full description of  $D^+u(t, x)$  at  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ .

**PROPOSITION 5.1.0.10.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ . The following holds true.

(a) The partial derivative of u with respect to t, denoted by  $\partial_t u(t, x)$ , does exist and

$$D^+u(t,x) = \{\partial_t u(t,x)\} \times D^+_x u(t,x).$$

(b) All  $p \in D_x^+ u(t, x)$  have the same tangential component, which will be denoted by  $p^{\tau}(t, x)$ , that is,

$$\left\{ p^{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : p \in D_{x}^{+}u(t,x) \right\} = \left\{ p^{\tau}(t,x) \right\}.$$
(5.1.0.13)

(c) For all  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $|\theta| = 1$  and  $\langle \theta, \nu(x) \rangle = 0$  one has that

$$\partial_{\theta}^{+}u(t,x) = \langle p^{\tau}(t,x), \theta \rangle.$$
(5.1.0.14)

Moreover,

$$\partial_{-\nu}^{+}u(t,x) = -\lambda_{+}(t,x) := -\max\{\lambda_{p}(t,x) : p \in D_{x}^{+}u(t,x)\},$$
(5.1.0.15)

where

$$\lambda_p(t,x) = \max\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda\nu(x) \in D_x^+ u(t,x)\}, \ \forall p \in D_x^+ u(t,x).$$
(5.1.0.16)

(d) 
$$D_x^+ u(t,x) = \{ p \in \mathbb{R}^n : p = p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda \nu(x), \ \lambda \in (-\infty, \lambda_+(t,x)] \}.$$

*Proof.* Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ . By THEOREM 5.1.0.7, and by REMARK 5.1.0.9 we know that

$$-p_1 + H^{\tau}(x, p_2^{\tau}) = F(x, m(t)), \quad \forall (p_1, p_2) \in D^+ u(t, x).$$
(5.1.0.17)

We argue by contradiction. Let  $p = (p_1, p_2)$ ,  $q = (q_1, q_2) \in D^+u(t, x)$  be such that  $p_2^{\tau} \neq q_2^{\tau}$ . Let  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ . Since  $D^+u(t, x)$  is a convex set, we have that  $p_{\lambda} = (p_{1,\lambda}, p_{2,\lambda}) = (\lambda p_1 + (1 - \lambda)q_1, \lambda p_2 + (1 - \lambda)q_2) \in D^+u(t, x)$ . Moreover, we observe that

$$\begin{split} \lambda(p_2^{\tau} + p_2^{\nu}) &+ (1 - \lambda)(q_2^{\tau} + q_2^{\nu}) = [\lambda p_2^{\tau} + (1 - \lambda)q_2^{\tau}] \\ &+ [\lambda p_2^{\nu} + (1 - \lambda)q_2^{\nu}] = p_{2,\lambda}^{\tau} + p_{2,\lambda}^{\nu}. \end{split}$$

Since  $p_{\lambda} \in D^+u(t, x)$  then it satisfies (5.1.0.17) and

$$H^{\tau}(x, p_{2,\lambda}^{\tau}) = p_{1,\lambda} + F(x, m(t)) = \lambda p_1 + (1 - \lambda)q_1 + F(x, m(t))$$
$$= \lambda [p_1 + F(x, m(t))] + (1 - \lambda)[q_1 + F(x, m(t))].$$

Since  $H^{\tau}$  is strictly convex, and recalling that p and q satisfy (5.1.0.17) we have that

$$\lambda H^{\tau}(x, p_{2}^{\tau}) + (1 - \lambda) H^{\tau}(x, q_{2}^{\tau}) > H^{\tau}(x, p_{2,\lambda}^{\tau}) = \lambda H^{\tau}(x, p_{2}^{\tau}) + (1 - \lambda) H^{\tau}(x, q_{2}^{\tau}),$$

and so we conclude that  $p_1 = q_1$  and  $p_2^{\tau} = q_2^{\tau}$ . Thus, (a) and (b) hold true.

Let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  in x. Let  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $|\theta| = 1$  and  $\langle \theta, \nu(x) \rangle = 0$ . By LEMMA 1.3.1.4, and by (b) we deduce that

$$\partial_{\theta}^{+}u(t,x) = \min_{p \in D_{x}^{+}u(t,x)} \langle p, \theta \rangle = \min_{p \in D_{x}^{+}u(t,x)} \langle p^{\tau}(t,x), \theta \rangle = \langle p^{\tau}(t,x), \theta \rangle,$$

and so (5.1.0.14) holds. Since u is locally semiconcave in  $(0, T) \times \overline{\Omega}$ , and by PROPOSITION 1.3.1.6 we have that

 $-\partial^+_{-\nu}u(t,x) = \max\{\lambda_p(t,x) : p \in D^+_xu(t,x)\} =: \lambda_+(t,x),$ 

where

$$\lambda_p(t,x) = \max\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : p^\tau + \lambda\nu(x) \in D_x^+ u(t,x)\}\$$

Using **PROPOSITION 1.3.0.3**, and (c) we have that (d) holds. This completes the proof.

**THEOREM 5.1.0.11.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . The following holds true.

(i) Let  $(t, x) \in (0, T) \times \Omega$ . Then, one has that

$$\lim_{\substack{(s,y) \in (0,T) \times \Omega \\ (s,y) \to (t,x)}} D^+ u(s,y) \subset D^+ u(t,x).$$
(5.1.0.18)

In particular, for all  $(t, x) \in Q_m$  we have that

$$\lim_{\substack{(s,y) \in (0,T) \times \Omega \\ (s,y) \to (t,x)}} D^+ u(s,y) = \left\{ \left( \partial_t u(t,x), D_x u(t,x) \right) \right\}.$$
(5.1.0.19)

(ii) Let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ . Then,

$$\lim_{\substack{(s,y) \in Q_m \\ (s,y) \to (t,x)}} D^+ u(s,y) = \left\{ \left( \partial_t u(t,x), \ p^\tau(t,x) + \lambda_+(t,x)\nu(x) \right) \right\},$$
(5.1.0.20)

where  $p^{\tau}(t, x)$  and  $\lambda_{+}(t, x)$  are given in (5.1.0.13) and (5.1.0.15), respectively.

*Proof.* Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . By COROLLARY 4.3.0.2, by **PROPOSITION 5.1.0.6**, and by [24, Proposition 3.3.4] we deduce that (i) holds. Hence, we only need to analyze the point (ii).

Step 1

First, we prove that there exists a unique  $\lambda \in (-\infty, \lambda_+(t, x)]$  such that (5.1.0.20) holds. Let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. Let  $(t_k, x_k), (s_k, y_k) \in Q_m$  be such that

$$(t_k, x_k) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} (t, x), \quad Du(t_k, x_k) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_0 \nu(x), (s_k, y_k) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} (t, x), \quad Du(s_k, y_k) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_1 \nu(x),$$

where  $\lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_+(t, x)$ . By THEOREM 5.1.0.5, and PROPOSITION 5.1.0.6 we have that

$$-\partial_t u(t_k, x_k) + H(x_k, Du(t_k, x_k)) = F(x_k, m(t_k)),$$
(5.1.0.21)

$$-\partial_t u(s_k, y_k) + H(y_k, Du(s_k, y_k)) = F(y_k, m(s_k)).$$
(5.1.0.22)

Passing to the limit in (5.1.0.21) and (5.1.0.22) we obtain that

$$-\partial_t u(t,x) + H(x,p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda_0 \nu(x)) = F(x,m(t)),$$
  
$$-\partial_t u(t,x) + H(x,p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda_1 \nu(x)) = F(x,m(t)).$$

Recalling that  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ , and by THEOREM 5.1.0.7 one has that

$$H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_0 \nu(x)) = H^{\tau}(x, p^{\tau}(t, x)),$$
  
$$H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_1 \nu(x)) = H^{\tau}(x, p^{\tau}(t, x)).$$

Since H is strictly convex with respect to the second variable, then there exists  $\lambda \in (\lambda_0, \lambda_1)$  such that

$$H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda \nu(x)) < H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_i \nu(x)) \quad \text{for } i = 0, 1.$$
(5.1.0.23)

By the definition of H and  $H^{\tau}$ , and by (5.1.0.23) one has that

$$\begin{aligned} H^{\tau}(x,p^{\tau}(t,x)) &= H(x,p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda_{0}\nu(x)) > H(x,p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda\nu(x)) \\ &= \sup_{v \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \left\{ -\langle p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda\nu(x), v \rangle - L(x,v) \right\} \\ &\geq \sup_{v \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \atop \langle v,\nu(x) \rangle = 0} \left\{ -\langle p^{\tau}(t,x), v \rangle - L(x,v) \right\} = H^{\tau}(x,p^{\tau}(t,x)). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,  $\lambda_0 = \lambda_1$  and so there exists a unique  $\overline{\lambda} \in (-\infty, \lambda_+(t, x)]$  such that

$$\lim_{\substack{(s,y) \in Q_m \\ (s,y) \to (t,x)}} D^+ u(s,y) = \left\{ \left( \partial_t u(t,x), \ p^\tau(t,x) + \overline{\lambda}\nu(x) \right) \right\}.$$
 (5.1.0.24)

Step 2

Now, we want to show that  $\lambda_+(t,x) = \overline{\lambda}$ . Let  $\overline{p} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be such that  $\overline{p} = p^{\tau} + \overline{\lambda}\nu(x)$ . Suppose that there exists two sequences  $\{x_k\} \subset \Omega$ ,  $\{p_k\} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  such that:

(a) u is differentiable in  $(t, x_k)$ ;

- (b)  $\lim_{k \to +\infty} x_k = x$  and  $\lim_{k \to +\infty} \frac{x_k x}{|x_k x|} = -\nu(x);$
- (c)  $p_k \in D_x^+ u(t, x_k)$  and  $\lim_{k \to +\infty} p_k = \overline{p}$ .

We want to prove that

$$\overline{p} \in \{p \in D_x^+ u(t,x) : \langle p, -\nu(x) \rangle \le \langle q, -\nu(x) \rangle \,\forall \, q \in D_x^+ u(t,x)\}.$$
(5.1.0.25)

By PROPOSITION 1.3.0.7 we have that  $\overline{p} \in D_x^+ u(t, x)$ . Moreover, u is differentiable at  $(t, x_k)$  then  $\{p_k\} = Du(t, x_k)$ . Hence,

$$\frac{u(t,x_k)-u(t,x)}{|x_k-x|} \ge \langle Du(t,x_k), \frac{x_k-x}{|x_k-x|} \rangle + o(|x-x_k|), \quad \forall k \ge 1.$$

Thus we have that

$$\partial^+_{-\nu}u(t,x) \ge \limsup_{k \to +\infty} \frac{u(t,x_k) - u(t,x)}{|x_k - x|} \ge -\langle \overline{p}, \nu(x) \rangle.$$

By **PROPOSITION 1.3.0.4** we conclude that

$$\langle \overline{p}, -\nu(x) \rangle = \partial^+_{-\nu} u(t, x) = \min_{p \in D^+_u(t, x)} \langle p, -\nu(x) \rangle.$$
(5.1.0.26)

So  $\overline{p}$  satisfies (5.1.0.25). Moreover, by PROPOSITION 5.1.0.10, and by (5.1.0.26) one has that

$$-\lambda_{+}(t,x) = \partial^{+}_{-\nu}u(t,x) = \langle p^{\tau} + \overline{\lambda}\nu(x), -\nu(x) \rangle = -\overline{\lambda},$$

and this completes the proof.

A direct consequence of the results of this section is the following theorem.

**THEOREM 5.1.0.12.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let H, F and G satisfy hypotheses (H0)-(H3) and (D1)-(D3), respectively. Then, u is a constrained viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t u + H(x, Du) = F(x, m(t)) & \text{in } (0, T) \times \overline{\Omega} \\ u(x, T) = G(x, m(T)) & \text{in } \overline{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, u is solution in point-wise sense of

$$-\partial_t u + H(x, Du) = F(x, m(t)) \quad \text{in } Q_m,$$

and

$$-\partial_t u + H^{\tau}(x, p^{\tau}(t, x)) = F(x, m(t)) \quad \text{in } \partial Q_m.$$

## 5.2 THE CONTINUITY EQUATION

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Assume that H, F and G satisfy the assumptions in SECTION 4.1. The main result of this section is the following theorem.

**THEOREM 5.2.0.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  and let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Then, there exists  $V : [0, T] \times \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^n$ Borel measurable vector field such that m is a solution in the sense of distribution of the continuity equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t m + div(V m) = 0, & \text{in } [0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}, \\ m(0, x) = m_0(x), & \text{in } \overline{\Omega}, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.0.1)

that is, for all  $\phi \in C^1([0,T] \times \overline{\Omega})$  one has that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(0,x) m_0(dx) - \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(T,x) m(T,dx) = \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ \partial_t \phi(t,x) + \langle \nabla \phi(t,x), V(t,x) \rangle \right] m(t,dx) \, dt.$$

Moreover, V is continuous on  $Q_m$  and

$$V(t,x) = \begin{cases} -D_p H(x, Du(t,x)) & \text{if } (t,x) \in Q_m, \\ -D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda_+(t,x)\nu(x)) & \text{if } (t,x) \in \partial Q_m, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.0.2)

where  $\lambda_+(t, x)$  is given by (5.1.0.15) and  $\nu(x)$  is the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  in x.

It is convenient to divide the proof of **THEOREM 5.2.0.1** in several lemmas.

**LEMMA 5.2.0.2.** Let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  and let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  be a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$ . Let  $e_t : \Gamma \to \overline{\Omega}$  be the evaluation map defined in (3.1.2.1). Let  $\{\eta_x^t\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  be a unique Borel measurable family of probabilities on  $\Gamma$  which disintegrates  $\eta$  with respect to  $e_t$ . Then,  $\{\eta_x^t\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  is Borel measurable with respect to (t, x).

*Proof.* Let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$  and let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  be a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$ . Let  $e_t : \Gamma \to \overline{\Omega}$  be the evaluation map defined in (3.1.2.1) and let m be the probability measure on  $\overline{\Omega}$  defined by (3.1.2.2) for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . Let  $\mathcal{L}^1$  be Lebesgue measure and let  $\pi$  be a continuous map defined by

$$\pi := (I_d, e_t) : [0, T] \times \Gamma \to [0, T] \times \overline{\Omega},$$
$$(t, \gamma) \longmapsto (t, \gamma(t)),$$

where  $I_d: [0,T] \to [0,T]$ . Let  $\overline{\eta}$  be the product probability measure on  $[0,T] \times \Gamma$  defined by

$$\overline{\eta} = \frac{1}{T} \mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \eta.$$

$$w := \pi \sharp \overline{\eta}.$$

#### Step 1

We observe that  $dw(t,x) = m(t,dx)\frac{dt}{T}$ . Indeed, let  $[a,b] \subset [0,T]$  and  $B \in \mathcal{B}(\overline{\Omega})$ . By the definition of w and m one has that

$$w([a,b] \times B) = \overline{\eta} \Big( \pi^{-1} \big( [a,b] \times B \big) \Big) = \overline{\eta} \Big( \Big\{ (t,\gamma) : t \in [a,b], \gamma(t) \in B \Big\} \Big)$$
$$= \overline{\eta} \Big( \Big\{ (t,\gamma) : t \in [a,b], \gamma \in e_t^{-1}(B) \Big\} \Big) = \int_a^b \eta(e_t^{-1}(B)) \frac{dt}{T} = \int_a^b m(t,B) \frac{dt}{T}$$

Hence, passing to the sigma algebra on the product  $[0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}$ , we obtain that  $dw(t, x) = m(t, dx) \frac{dt}{T}$ . Step 2

Let  $\{\eta_x^t\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}} \subset \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  be the disintegration of  $\eta$  with respect to  $e_t$  and let  $\{\overline{\eta}_{t,x}\}_{(t,x)\in[0,T]\times\overline{\Omega}}$  be a unique Borel measurable family of probabilities on  $[0,T]\times\Gamma$  which disintegrates  $\overline{\eta}$ . Now, we show that for any  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{B}(\Gamma)$  one has that

$$\eta_x^t(\mathcal{B}) = \overline{\eta}_{t,x}(\{t\} \times \mathcal{B}) \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$
(5.2.0.3)

Let us take  $f \in C([0,T])$  and  $g \in C(\Gamma)$ . Let  $\phi \in C([0,T] \times \Gamma)$  be defined by  $\phi(t,\gamma) = f(t)g(\gamma)$ . Since  $\{\overline{\eta}_{t,x}\}_{(t,x)\in[0,T]\times\overline{\Omega}}$  disintegrates  $\overline{\eta}$ , and by the definition of w we have that

$$\int_{[0,T]\times\Gamma} f(t)g(\gamma)\,d\overline{\eta}(t,\gamma) = \int_{[0,T]\times\overline{\Omega}} \left( \int_{\pi^{-1}(t,x)} f(s)g(\gamma)\,d\overline{\eta}_{t,x}(s,\gamma) \right)\,dw(t,x).$$

Moreover, by the definition of  $\pi$  we have that  $\pi^{-1}(t, x) = \{t\} \times e_t^{-1}(x)$  and so

$$\int_{[0,T]\times\Gamma} f(t)g(\gamma)\,d\overline{\eta}(t,\gamma) = \int_{[0,T]\times\overline{\Omega}} \left( \int_{\{t\}\times e_t^{-1}(x)} f(s)g(\gamma)\,d\overline{\eta}_{t,x}(s,\gamma) \right)\,dw(t,x).$$
(5.2.0.4)

Recalling that  $m(t) := e_t \sharp \eta$  and  $\{\eta_x^t\}_{x \in \overline{\Omega}}$  disintegrates  $\eta$ , one has that

$$\int_{\Gamma} g(\gamma)\eta(d\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left( \int_{e_t^{-1}(x)} g(\gamma)\eta_x^t(d\gamma) \right) m(t,dx), \quad \forall t \in [0,T].$$
(5.2.0.5)

By the definition of  $\overline{\eta}$ , and (5.2.0.5) we deduce that

$$\int_{[0,T]\times\Gamma} f(t)g(\gamma) \,d\overline{\eta}(t,\gamma) = \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T f(t) \,dt \int_{\Gamma} g(\gamma)\eta(\,d\gamma)$$
$$= \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T f(t) \,dt \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left( \int_{e_t^{-1}(x)} g(\gamma)\eta_x^t(\,d\gamma) \right) m(t,dx)$$
$$= \int_{[0,T]\times\overline{\Omega}} f(t) \left( \int_{e_t^{-1}(x)} g(\gamma)\eta_x^t(\,d\gamma) \right) \frac{m(t,dx)}{T} \,dt.$$

By Step 1, and by (5.2.0.4) we conclude that (5.2.0.3) holds. Thus,  $\{\eta_x^t\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  is Borel measurable with respect to (t, x).

In the next lemma we show that there exists a measurable vector field such that m is a solution in the sense of distribution of (5.2.0.1).

LEMMA 5.2.0.3. Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with  $C^2$  boundary. Let  $m_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\overline{\Omega})$ . Let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  be a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$  and let  $\{\eta_x^t\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}} \subset \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  be the disintegration of  $\eta$  with respect to the evaluation map  $e_t$ . Let m be the probability measure on  $\overline{\Omega}$  defined in (3.1.2.2). Then, there exists a Borel measurable vector field

$$\begin{split} V: [0,T] \times \overline{\Omega} &\longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n \\ (t,x) &\longmapsto V(t,x) = \int_{e_t^{-1}(x)} \dot{\gamma}(t) \eta_x^t(\,d\gamma) \end{split}$$

such that m is a solution in the sense of distribution of the continuity equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t m + div(V m) = 0, & \text{in } [0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}, \\ m(0, x) = m_0(x), & \text{in } \overline{\Omega}, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.0.6)

that is, for all  $\phi \in C^1([0,T] \times \overline{\Omega})$  one has that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(0,x) m_0(dx) - \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(T,x) m(T,dx) = \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ \partial_t \phi(t,x) + \langle \nabla \phi(t,x), V(t,x) \rangle \right] m(t,dx) dt.$$

*Proof.* The idea of the proof is based on [33, Theorem 1]. Let  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_{m_0}^{\text{Lip}}(\Gamma)$  be a constrained MFG equilibrium for  $m_0$  and let  $\{\eta_x^t\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}} \subset \mathcal{P}_{m_0}(\Gamma)$  be the disintegration of  $\eta$  with respect to the evaluation map  $e_t$ . Set  $m(t) = e_t \sharp \eta$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . Let  $\phi \in C^1([0, T] \times \overline{\Omega})$ . By the definition of m we have that

$$\begin{split} &\frac{d}{dt} \left[ \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(t,x) m(t,dx) \right] = \frac{d}{dt} \left[ \int_{\Gamma} \phi(t,\gamma(t)) \eta(d\gamma) \right] = \int_{\Gamma} \partial_t \phi(t,\gamma(t)) \eta(d\gamma) \\ &+ \int_{\Gamma} \langle \nabla \phi(t,\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle \eta(d\gamma) = \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \partial_t \phi(t,x) m(t,dx) + \int_{\Gamma} \langle \nabla \phi(t,\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle \eta(d\gamma). \end{split}$$

Since  $\{\eta_x^t\}_{x\in\overline{\Omega}}$  is the disintegration of  $\eta$  one has that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma} \langle \nabla \phi(t,\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle \eta(\,d\gamma) &= \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left( \int_{e_t^{-1}(x)} \langle \nabla \phi(t,x), \dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle \eta_x^t(\,d\gamma) \right) m(t,dx) \\ &= \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left\langle \nabla \phi(t,x), \int_{e_t^{-1}(x)} \dot{\gamma}(t) \eta_x^t(\,d\gamma) \right\rangle m(t,dx). \end{split}$$

Integrating on [0, T] one has that

$$\int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(0, x) m(0, dx) - \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \phi(T, x) m(T, dx)$$
  
= 
$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \partial_{t} \phi(t, x) m(t, dx) dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left\langle \nabla \phi(t, x), \int_{e_{t}^{-1}(x)} \dot{\gamma}(t) \eta_{x}^{t}(d\gamma) \right\rangle m(t, dx) dt$$

$$= \int_0^T \int_{\overline{\Omega}} \left[ \partial_t \phi(t, x) + \langle \nabla \phi(t, x), V(t, x) \rangle \right] m(t, dx) \, dt$$

which implies that m is a solution in the sense of distribution of (5.2.0.6). Moreover, by LEMMA 5.2.0.2 we note that the vector field V defined by

$$V(t,x) = \int_{e_t^{-1}(x)} \dot{\gamma}(t) \eta_x^t(d\gamma), \quad \forall (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \overline{\Omega}$$

is measurable with respect to (t, x).

**REMARK 5.2.0.4.** By definition of V we observe that V(t, x) is tangential to  $\partial \Omega$  for all  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$ .

*Proof of* THEOREM 5.2.0.1. Let (u, m) be a mild solution of the constrained MFG problem in  $\Omega$ . By LEMMA 5.2.0.3 there exists a Borel measurable vector field

$$V: [0,T] \times \overline{\Omega} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$$
$$(t,x) \longmapsto V(t,x) = \int_{e_t^{-1}(x)} \dot{\gamma}(t) \eta_x^t(d\gamma)$$

such that m is a solution in the sense of distribution of (5.2.0.1). Let us take  $(t, x) \in Q_m$ . Recalling the definition of V(t, x), by THEOREM 2.3.0.1, and THEOREM 5.1.0.11 one has that

$$V(t,x) = -D_p H(x, Du(t,x)).$$

Let  $(t, x) \in \partial Q_m$  and let  $\nu(x)$  be the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial \Omega$  in x. We consider the set

$$\Lambda(t,x) = \Big\{\lambda \in (-\infty, \lambda_+(t,x)] : \dot{\gamma}(t) = -D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda \nu(x))\Big\}.$$

By THEOREM 2.3.0.1, and THEOREM 5.1.0.11 one has that

$$\dot{\gamma}(t) \in \Big\{ -D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda \nu(x)) : \lambda \in (-\infty, \lambda_+(t, x)] \Big\}.$$

Therefore, we have that  $\Lambda(t, x)$  is nonempty. Moreover, we observe that

$$\langle \dot{\gamma}(t), \nu(x) \rangle = 0, \tag{5.2.0.7}$$

for  $\eta^t_x$ -almost every  $\gamma \in e_t^{-1}(x)$ . Hence one has that

$$\Lambda(t,x) \subset \Big\{ \lambda \in (-\infty, \lambda_+(t,x)] : \langle -D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda \nu(x)), \nu(x) \rangle = 0 \Big\}.$$

Since H is strictly convex with respect to the second variable we have that

$$\langle D_{pp}H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda \nu(x))\nu(x), \nu(x) \rangle > 0,$$

and in particular  $\lambda \mapsto \langle D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda \nu(x)), \nu(x) \rangle$  is a nondecreasing map. Thus, there exists at most one  $\tilde{\lambda}$  belongs to  $\Lambda(t, x)$  and so

$$\Lambda(t,x) = \left\{\widetilde{\lambda}\right\}.$$
(5.2.0.8)

Before proving that  $\lambda_+(t, x) = \tilde{\lambda}$ , we show that  $\lambda_+(t, x)$  satisfies the following inequality

$$\langle D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_+(t, x)\nu(x)), \nu(x) \rangle \le 0.$$
 (5.2.0.9)

We argue by contradiction and we assume that

$$\langle D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_+(t, x)\nu(x)), \nu(x) \rangle > 0.$$

Since H is strictly convex with respect to the second variable, there exists  $\lambda_0 \in (-\infty, \lambda_+(t, x)]$  such that

$$H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_0 \nu(x)) < H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_+(t, x)\nu(x))$$

Recalling that

$$H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_+(t, x)\nu(x)) = \partial_t u(t, x) + F(x, m(t)),$$

one has that

$$\partial_t u(t,x) + F(x,m(t)) > H(x,p^{\tau}(t,x) + \lambda_0 \nu(x)) \ge \sup_{\substack{v \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \langle v, \nu(x) \rangle = 0}} \{-\langle p, v \rangle - L(x,v)\}$$
$$= H^{\tau}(x,p^{\tau}(t,x)) = \partial_t u(t,x) + F(x,m(t)).$$

Therefore, (5.2.0.9) holds.

Now we only have to prove that  $\tilde{\lambda} = \lambda_+(t, x)$ . We argue by contradiction and we suppose that  $\tilde{\lambda} \neq \lambda_+(t, x)$ . Since  $\lambda \mapsto \langle D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda \nu(x)), \nu(x) \rangle$  is a nondecreasing map, by (5.2.0.9), and by (5.2.0.8), we conclude that

$$0 = \langle D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \widetilde{\lambda}\nu(x)), \nu(x) \rangle < \langle D_p H(x, p^{\tau}(t, x) + \lambda_+(t, x)\nu(x)), \nu(x) \rangle \le 0.$$

Thus,  $\tilde{\lambda} = \lambda_+(t, x)$ . Therefore, (5.2.0.2) holds, and by our assumptions on H, V is continuous on  $Q_m$ . This completes the proof.
## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- [1] Achdou, Y., Mean field games: additional notes, CIME course, 2011.
- [2] Achdou, Y., Buera, F. J., Lasry, J.-M., Lions, P.-L., and Moll, B. Partial differential equation models in macroeconomics, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A, 372(2028):20130397, 2014.
- [3] Achdou, Y., Han, J., Lasry, J.-M., Lions, P.-L., and Moll, B., Heterogeneous agent models in continuous time, Preprint, 2014.
- [4] Aiyagari, S. R., Uninsured idiosyncratic risk and aggregate saving, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 109(3):659–684, 1994.
- [5] Adams, R. A., Sobolev Spaces, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- [6] Ambrosio, L., Gigli, N., Savare, G., *Gradient flows in metric spaces and in the space of probability measures. Second edition*, Lectures in Mathematics ETH Zürich, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2008.
- [7] Aubin, J. P., Frankowska, H., Set-Valued Analysis, Birkhäuser Boston, Basel, Berlin, 1990.
- [8] Benamou, J. D., Carlier, G., Santambrogio, F., Variational Mean Field Games, In: Bellomo N., Degond P., Tadmor E. (eds) Active Particles, Vol 1, Modeling and Simulation in Science, Engineering and Technology. Birkhäuser, 141-171, 2017.
- [9] Bensoussan, A., Frehse, J., and Yam, P., Mean field games and mean field type control theory, Vol 101, Springer, 2013.
- [10] Bettiol, P., Frankowska, H., Normality of the maximum principle for nonconvex constrained bolza problems, Journal of Differential Equations, 243(2):256–269, 2007.
- [11] Bettiol, P., and Frankowska, H., *Hölder continuity of adjoint states and optimal controls for state constrained problems*, Applied Mathematics and Optimization, 57(1):125–147, 2008.
- [12] Bettiol, P., Frankowska, H., and Vinter, R. B., Sensitivity interpretations of the co-state trajectory for opimal control problems with state constraints, Decision and Control (CDC), 2013 IEEE 52nd Annual Conference, 532–537, IEEE, 2013.
- [13] Bettiol, P., Frankowska, H., and Vinter, R. B., Improved sensitivity relations in state constrained optimal control, Applied Mathematics & amp; Optimization, 71(2):353–377, 2015.

- [14] Bettiol, P., Khalil, N., and Vinter, R. B., Normality of generalized euler-lagrange conditions for state constrained optimal control problems, Journal of Convex Analysis, 23(1):291–311, 2016.
- [15] Bettiol, P., and Vinter, R.B., Sensitivity interpretations of the costate variable for optimal control problems with state constraints, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 48(5):3297–3317, 2010.
- [16] Bewley, T., Stationary monetary equilibrium with a continuum of independently fluctuating consumers, Contributions to mathematical economics in honor of Gérard Debreu, 79, 1986.
- [17] Caines, P. E., Mean field games, Encyclopedia of Systems and Control, 1-6, 2013.
- [18] Camilli, F., and Silva, F. J., *A semi-discrete in time approximation for a model 1st order-finite horizon mean field game problem*, Networks and Heterogeneous Media, 7(2):263–277, 2012.
- [19] Cannarsa, P., and Frankowska, H., Some characterizations of optimal trajectories in control theory, SIAM Journal on Control and optimization, 29(6):1322–1347, 1991.
- [20] Cannarsa, P., Capuani, R., Existence and uniqueness for Mean Field Games with state constraints, http://arxiv.org/abs/1711.01063.
- [21] Cannarsa, P., Capuani, R., and Cardaliaguet, P., C<sup>1,1</sup>–smoothness of constrained solutions in the calculus of variations with application to mean field games. In preparation.
- [22] Cannarsa, P., Capuani, R., and Cardaliaguet, P., *Regularity of mild solutions to mean field game with state constraints.* In preparation.
- [23] Cannarsa, P., Castelpietra, M., and Cardaliaguet, P., Regularity properties of a attainable sets under state constraints, 120-135, Series on Advances in Mathematics for Applied Sciences, Vol 76, World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2008.
- [24] Cannarsa P. and Sinestari C. Semiconcave functions, Hamilton-Jacobi Equations and optimal control, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, 58. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 2004.
- [25] Cannarsa, P. & Soner, H. M., On the singularities of the viscosity solutions to Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equation, Indiana Univ. Math. JI 36, 501, 1987.
- [26] Cardaliaguet, P., Notes on mean feld games from P.-L. Lions' lectures at Collège de France, 2012, https://www.ceremade.dauphine.fr/~ cardalia/MFG100629.pdf.
- [27] Cardaliaguet, P., Marchi, C., Regularity of the Eikonal Equation with Neumann Boundary Conditions in the Plane: Application to Fronts with Nonlocal Terms, SIAM J. Control and Optimization, Vol 45, 1017-1038, 2006.

- [28] Cardaliaguet, P., and Hadikhanloo, S., *Learning in mean field games: The fictitious play*, ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations, 23(2):569–591, 2017.
- [29] Carlini, E., Festa, A., Silva, F. J., and Wolfram, M.-T., A semi-lagrangian scheme for a modified version of the hughes' model for pedestrian flow, Dynamic Games and Applications, 7(4):683–705, 2017.
- [30] Carlini, E., and Silva, F. J., A fully discrete semi-lagrangian scheme for a first order mean field game problem, SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 52(1):45–67, 2014.
- [31] Carmona, R., and Delarue, F., Probabilistic theory of mean field games with applications, Springer Verlag, 2017.
- [32] Cernea, A., and Frankowska, H., A connection between the maximum principle and dynamic programming for constrained control problems, SIAM journal on control and optimization, 44(2):673– 703, 2005.
- [33] Cavagnari G., Marigonda A., Piccoli B., Superposition Principle for Differential Inclusions, In: Lirkov I., Margenov S. (eds) Large-Scale Scientific Computing, LSSC 2017, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol 10665. Springer, Cham, pp. 201-209, 2018.
- [34] Cesari, L., Optimization-Theory and Applications. Problems with Ordinary Differential Equations, Applications of Mathematics, Vol 17, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983.
- [35] Evans, L.C., Gariepy, R.F., Measure Theory and Fine Properties of Functions, Studies in Adavance Mathematics, CRC Press, Ann Arbor, 1992.
- [36] Cristiani, E., Priuli, F. S., and Tosin, A., Modeling rationality to control self-organization of crowds: an environmental approach, SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics, 75(2):605–629, 2015.
- [37] Dubovitskii, A. Y., and Milyutin, A. A., *Extremum problems with certain constraints*, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Vol 149, 759–762, 1964.
- [38] Frankowska, H., *Regularity of minimizers and of adjoint states in optimal control under state constraints*, Journal of Convex Analysis, 13(2):299, 2006.
- [39] Frankowska, H., Normality of the maximum principle for absolutely continuous solutions to bolza problems under state constraints, Control and Cybernetics, 38:1327–1340, 2009.
- [40] Frankowska, H., Optimal control under state constraints, In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians 2010 (ICM 2010) (In 4 Volumes) Vol. I: Plenary Lectures and Ceremonies Vols. II–IV: Invited Lectures, 2915–2942. World Scientific, 2010.

- [41] Frankowska, H., and Mazzola, M., On relations of the adjoint state to the value function for optimal control problems with state constraints, Nonlinear Differential Equations and Applications NoDEA, 20(2):361–383, 2013.
- [42] Frankowska, H., and Plaskacz, S., Semicontinuous solutions of hamilton-jacobi-bellman equations with degenerate state constraints, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 251(2):818– 838, 2000.
- [43] Galbraith, G. N., and Vinter, R. B., Lipschitz continuity of optimal controls for state constrained problems, SIAM journal on control and optimization, 42(5):1727–1744, 2003.
- [44] Gomes, D. A., et al. *Mean field games models—a brief survey*, Dynamic Games and Applications, 4(2):110–154, 2014.
- [45] Gomes, D. A., Pimentel, E. A., and Voskanyan, V., Regularity theory for mean-field game systems, Springer, 2016.
- [46] Hager, W. W., Lipschitz continuity for constrained processes, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 17(3):321–338, 1979.
- [47] Huang, M., Caines, P. E., and Malhamé, R. P., Large-population cost-coupled LQG problems with nonuniform agents: Individual-mass behavior and decentralized ε-Nash equilibria, Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on 52, no. 9, 1560-1571, 2007.
- [48] Huang, M., Malhamé, R. P., Caines, P. E., Large population stochastic dynamic games: closed-loop McKean-Vlasov systems and the Nash certainly equivalence principle, Communication in information and systems Vol 6, no. 3, pp. 221-252, 2006.
- [49] Huggett, M., The risk-free rate in heterogeneous-agent incomplete-insurance economies, Journal of economic Dynamics and Control, 17(5-6):953–969, 1993.
- [50] Krusell, P. and Smith, A. A., Income and wealth heterogeneity in the macroeconomy, Journal of political Economy, 106(5):867–896, 1998.
- [51] Lasry, J.-M., Lions, P.-L., Jeux à champ moyen. I. Le cas stationnaire, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 343, no. 9, 619-625, 2006.
- [52] Lasry, J.-M., Lions, P.-L., Jeux à champ moyen. II. Horizon fini et contrôle optimal, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 343, no. 9, 679-684, 2006.
- [53] Lasry, J.-M., Lions, P.-L., Mean field games, Jpn. J. Math. 2, no.1, 229-260, 2007.
- [54] Nash, J., Non-cooperative games, Ann. Math. 54, 286-295, 1951.

- [55] Kakutani, S., A generalization of Brouwer's fixed point theorem, Duke Math J., Vol 8, no. 3, 457-459, 1941.
- [56] Malanowski, K., On regularity of solutions to optimal control problems for systems with control appearing linearly, Archiwum Automatyki i Telemechaniki, 23(3):227–242, 1978.
- [57] Mészáros, A. R., and Silva, F. J., A variational approach to second order mean field games with density constraints: the stationary case, Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 104(6):1135– 1159, 2015.
- [58] Milyutin, A. A., On a certain family of optimal control problems with phase constraint, Journal of Mathematical Sciences, 100(5):2564–2571, 2000.
- [59] Santambrogio, F., A modest proposal for MFG with density constraints, arXiv preprint arXiv:1111.0652, 2011.
- [60] Soner, H. M., Optimal control with state-space constraint i, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 24(3):552–561, 1986.
- [61] Vinter, R. B., Optimal control, Birkhäuser, Boston, Basel, Berlin, 2000.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Durante questi tre anni ho incontrato molte persone e tutte mi hanno aiutato e insegnato molto. In primis ringrazio il Prof. Piermarco Cannarsa per avermi seguito scrupolosamente e con molta pazienza. Lo ringrazio per tutto il tempo che mi ha dedicato, per le belle parole nella giornate buie e per tutto quello che mi ha insegnato...prima o poi la "costante Capuani" non esisterà più. Lo ringrazio anche per avermi dato l'opportunità di intraprendere il dottorato in co-tutela presso l'Università Paris-Dauphine. I wish to thank my French advisor Prof. Pierre Cardaliguet, it has been a pleasure working with you during these three years. I want to express my gratitude to Prof. Annalisa Cesaroni and Prof. Pierricola Bettiol for having accepted to be my referees and also for the suggests and the corrections they did me. Of course, I also would like to thank Prof. Sylvain Sorin and Prof. Francisco J. Silva Àlvarez for taking part of my Phd Committee.

Ringrazio i miei genitori per avermi lasciato libera di fare le mie scelte, di avermi supportato e sopportato in questi tre anni e non solo. Ringrazio Gabriella per essere stata una gran sorella e anche il mio medico personale! Ringrazio Ferdinando "a prescindere". Un grazie particolare va alla mia seconda famiglia: i colleghi della 1225! Un grazie di cuore per ogni momento passato insieme, per ogni sorriso, parola di conforto e per ogni caffè. Grazie Annapaola, Duccio, Giulia, Gianluca, Michele e ai nuovi arrivati Guido, Dario e Lorenzo. Grazie anche a tutti gli amici della 1225: Maurizia, Martina, Cristina e non solo. Inoltre ringrazio anche Anna e Nadia, le mie compagnie di viaggio, per avermi trattato come una sorella in questi anni e avermi fatto sentire spesso meno sola. Infine ringrazio Rossana per non aver mollato mai in questi anni nonostante tutto, nonostante i problemi e gli ostacoli che ha dovuto affrontare!